DNB Bank

A company in the DNB Group

2017

Annual report




Financial highlights

Income statement DNB Bank Group
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Net interest income 35914 34 517 35535 32 607 30 379
Net commissions and fees 5884 5634 5956 5891 5481
Net gains on financial instruments at fair value 4513 6 506 8704 5404 5009
Other operating income 2029 3176 2248 2827 2 666
Net other operating income, total 12 425 15 316 16 909 14122 13 156
Total income 48 339 49 833 52 444 46 729 43535
Operating expenses (20 801) (19 892) (20 275) (19 618) (19 157)
Restructuring costs and non-recurring effects (1128) (624) 1084 (218) (1613)
Pre-tax operating profit before impairment 26 410 29 317 33253 26 893 22 766
Net gains on fixed and intangible assets 735 (29) 45 52 150
Impairment of loans and guarantees (2 428) (7 424) (2 270) (1 639) (2 185)
Pre-tax operating profit 24718 21874 31028 25 306 20 730
Tax expense (4 903) (3964) (7 755) 6174 (5042)
Profit from operations held for sale, after taxes 1) 4 (51) (22) 4
Profit for the year 19 813 17 914 23 222 19 110 15 692
Balance sheet DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Total assets 2 359 860 2348 272 2315603 2361990 2130779
Loans to customers 1531 345 1492 268 1531932 1447 465 1350 656
Deposits from customers 980 374 945 694 957 322 951 049 891 256
Total equity 203 685 190 078 173 412 141 309 126 407
Average total assets 2537 681 2545 103 2662 039 2433599 2276 451
Key figures DNB Bank Group
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Return on equity, annualised (per cent) 10.5 10.3 15.1 14.5 13.1
Combined weighted total average spread for lending and deposits (per cent) H 1.30 1.32 1.33 1.31 1.31
Average spread for ordinary lending to customers (per cent) 2.07 2.04 2.17 2.33 2.35
Average spread for deposits to customers (per cent) H 0.17 0.21 0.01 (0.25) (0.31)
Cost/income ratio (per cent) ? 45.4 412 36.6 42.4 46.4
Ratio of customer deposits to net loans to customers at end of period ? 64.0 63.4 62.5 65.7 66.0
Net non-performing and net doubtful loans and guarantees, per cent of net loans 0.99 1.50 0.76 0.96 1.37
Impairment relative to average net loans to customers (per cent) b (0.16) (0.48) (0.15) (0.12) (0.16)
Individual impairment relative to average net loans to customers (per cent) b (0.24) (0.34) (0.13) (0.14) (0.17)
Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio, transitional rules, at year-end (per cent) 16.2 15.7 14.3 12.5 11.4
Tier 1 capital ratio, transitional rules, at year-end (per cent) 17.7 17.4 15.3 12.9 11.8
Capital ratio, transitional rules, at year-end (per cent) 20.6 20.0 17.9 15.2 13.9
Leverage ratio (per cent) 6.9 7.1 6.4 n/a n/a
Number of full-time positions at year-end 8544 10 366 10 608 10 854 11 186

1) Defined as alternative performance measure (APM). APMs are described on ir.dnb.no.
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Directors’ report

The DNB Bank Group is part of the DNB Group ). The DNB Group, hereinafter called DNB, is Norway's largest financial
services group and one of the largest in the Nordic region in terms of market capitalisation. DNB offers a full range of financial
services, including loans, savings, advisory services, real estate broking, insurance and pension products for retail and
corporate customers and the public sector. The banking group serves customers in Norway through its 24/7 telephone and
online banking service, branch offices and in-store postal outlets. Internationally, the banking group is among the world's leading
banks within its priority areas, especially the energy, shipping and seafood sectors.

Operations in 2017

The banking group delivered a strong performance in 2017. Profits
were NOK 19 813 million, an increase of NOK 1 899 million from
2016, driven by strong net interest income and lower impairment
losses on loans and guarantees.

The common equity Tier 1 capital ratio was 16.2 per cent at
end-December 2017, an increase from 15.7 per cent a year earlier.
The leverage ratio for the banking group was 6.9 per cent, a
slight reduction from 7.1 per cent a year earlier, but still well above

the minimum requirement of 6 per cent.

Return on equity was 10.5 per cent, compared with 10.3 per
cent in 2016.

Net interest income increased by NOK 1 396 million from 2016,
reflecting lower long-term funding costs, higher volumes and wider
lending spreads, excluding the Baltic portfolio. There were rising
volumes in the personal customers and small and medium-sized
enterprises segments, and a planned reduction in volumes to large
corporates and international customers.

Net other operating income was NOK 12 425 million, down
NOK 2 891 million compared with 2016. In 2016, income was
positively affected by the sale of Visa Norge’s holdings in Visa
Europe, providing a gain of NOK 1 128 million. Excluding this non-
recurring item, net operating income decreased by NOK 1 763

) DNB Bank ASA is a subsidiary of DNB ASA and part of the DNB Group.
The DNB Bank Group, hereinafter called "the banking group”, comprises
the bank and the bank's subsidiaries. Other companies owned by DNB
ASA, including DNB Livsforsikring, DNB Forsikring and DNB Asset
Management, are not part of the banking group. Operations in DNB ASA
and the total DNB Group are not covered in this report but described in a
separate report.

million, mainly due to a negative contribution from exchange rate
effects on additional Tier 1 capital and net gains on other financial
instruments due to reduced volatility in the financial markets.

Operating expenses were up NOK 1 412 million compared with
2016. The increase was mainly due to provisions for financial
activities tax, a higher level of digitalisation, IT projects and non-
recurring effects. Non-recurring items represented goodwill impair-
ment, value added tax on an IT system and changes in pension
schemes in 2016.

Impairment losses on loans and guarantees decreased by
NOK 4 996 million during the year due to lower individual and
collective impairment in the shipping, oil and offshore segments.
The reduction in collective impairment reflected more favourable
economic conditions and positive migration in some industries.
Excluding the sale of non-performing portfolios during 2016,
impairment losses decreased by NOK 5 664 million.

Important events

During the first quarter of 2017 DNB entered into an alliance with
105 Norwegian savings banks to win the battle for the mobile
wallet, by establishing Vipps as a separate company. Following the
establishment of Vipps AS, DNB recorded a gain which gave a
NOK 754 million rise in profits in the third quarter of 2017. DNB has
an ownership interest in the new legal entity (Vipps AS) of close to
52 per cent.

Towards the end of 2017 Vipps entered into cooperation
agreements on distribution with players across the Norwegian
market, and Vipps, BankAxept and BankID Norway signed a letter
of intent to merge the three companies. The transaction is subject
to approval by the Norwegian authorities, and the new company is
expected to start operations during the second half of 2018.

2 / DNB BANK - ANNUAL REPORT 2017



The demerger of DNB and Nordea'’s Baltic operations and the
establishment of Luminor Group AB as a separate company was
finalised in the fourth quarter of 2017. DNB’s ownership interest in
Luminor Group AB is approximately 44 per cent.

In June, DNB launched the app “Spare”, a new tool for saving
in accounts, equities or mutual funds.

The crowdfunding service “startskudd.no” was launched as part
of DNB’s initiatives to focus on start-up companies. As an extension
to the NXT Conference held in the autumn of 2016, DNB also
launched NXT Community, a new digital meeting place where
entrepreneurs and investors can meet and get access to expertise
and advice offered by DNB. The aim is that the meeting place will
help ensure that more good business ideas are realised and that
this will also result in sound projects for investors.

In December, DNB launched an option to apply digitally for new
home mortgages, with a processing time of less than two minutes.

During the year, DNB did well in a number of surveys carried
out by Prospera, Universum and the Norwegian ethical bank guide
(“Etisk bankguide”). As the only Nordic financial institution, DNB
achieved an A score from CDP (Carbon Disclosure Project) for its
reporting in 2016.

Standard & Poor's improved its long-term debt rating outlook for
DNB Bank, partly due to stronger capitalisation.

In the beginning of December, DNB’s group management team
was reorganised to meet changes in the market and reinforce the
Group’s strategic priorities.

New rules were introduced by the Norwegian authorities and
Finanstilsynet for the marketing of credit cards and consumer
loans. The new rules aim to protect consumers against irrespon-
sible borrowing.Towards the end of December, the Ministry of
Finance increased the counter-cyclical capital buffer requirement
for banks from 1.5 to 2 per cent with effect from 31 December
2017. In December, it was announced that an agreement had been
reached on the outstanding elements of the Basel Ill post-crisis
regulatory reforms. The regulations aim to limit differences in
capital requirements between countries, and thus enable com-
parisons of banks’ capital adequacy. The regulations will be intro-
duced in 2022 and phased in until 2027.

Strategy and targets
DNB'’s overarching goals are to create the best customer ex-
periences and to reach its financial targets.

Strong customer relationships are essential in order to retain
customers and ensure continued profitability. With a gradually more
open infrastructure and declining switching costs and customer
loyalty, it will be increasingly difficult to "own" the customer relation-
ship. Instead, DNB will have to earn it through each experience the
bank offers its customers. In order to succeed, DNB has formulated
a purpose in relation to its customers: We are here. So you can
stay ahead. The values — curious, bold and responsible — will
underpin the purpose.

The Board of Directors has identified four areas as critical to
DNB'’s success in creating the best customer experiences:

= Increase innovative power: To help its customers stay ahead,
DNB must also make sure to stay ahead of developments, and
this requires increased innovative power.

= Increase the use of customer insight: To meet the needs of its
customers, DNB must have insight into who they are and which
products they need.

= Drive skills enhancement: To meet the needs of the future,
DNB’s employees must ensure that they have relevant
expertise.

= Incorporate corporate responsibility in all processes: To
generate long-term and sustainable financial value creation for
its owners, DNB must contribute positively to society and be
honest and transparent about its operations.

Long-term profitability is the underlying premise for all of DNB'’s
activities and a prerequisite for being perceived as an attractive
market participant. Consequently, DNB’s long-term ambition to
achieve a return on equity above 12 per cent was retained as the
overriding target on the Capital Markets Day in November 2017.
Cost effectiveness is a prerequisite for achieving satisfactory
profitability, and DNB therefore aspires to have a cost/income ratio
below 40 per cent. At the same time, DNB must meet the
authorities’ capital requirements.

Due to strong growth in equity over several years as a result of
higher capital requirements as well as persistent low interest rates,
the long-term ambition of 12 per cent return on equity is not expec-
ted to be reached until towards the end of 2019. In 2017, the
banking group achieved a return on equity of 10.5 per cent. The
cost/income ratio of 45.4 per cent did not meet the target. The need
to invest in digital solutions to ensure future competitiveness and
meet development needs related to regulatory requirements,
resulted in increased costs.

Adequate capitalisation is a prerequisite for the banking group's
operations. In line with the authorities’ requirements, DNB raised
the target for its common equity Tier 1 capital ratio to approximately
16.1 per cent from year-end 2017. The target consists of a require-
ment of approximately 15.2 per cent and a recommended buffer of
around 1 per cent. The banking group achieved a common equity
Tier 1 capital ratio of 16.2 per cent at end-December 2017.

Review of the annual accounts

In accordance with the provisions of the Norwegian Accounting Act,
the Board of Directors confirms that the accounts have been pre-
pared on a going concern basis and that the going concern
assumption applies.

Pursuant to Section 3-9 of the Norwegian Accounting Act, the
banking group prepares consolidated annual accounts in accor-
dance with IFRS, International Financial Reporting Standards,
approved by the EU. The statutory accounts of DNB Bank ASA
have been prepared in accordance with Norwegian IFRS regula-
tions.

Net interest income

Amounts in NOK million 2017  Change 2016
Net interest income 35914 1396 34 517
Other net interest income 547
Long-term funding costs 485
Lending and deposit volumes, customer segments 386
Interest income on loans subject to impairment provisions 174
Guarantee fund fee 103
Lending and deposit spreads, customer segments 57
Amortisation effects and fees 49
Exchange rate movements (96)
Deconsolidation of Baltic operation (309)

Net interest income was up NOK 1 396 million from 2016. The in-
crease was mainly attributable to lower long-term funding costs and
higher volumes, excluding the Baltic portfolio.

Average lending spreads widened by 0.03 percentage points
from 2016, while deposit spreads contracted by 0.05 percentage
points. Average loans increased by NOK 13.5 billion, while average
deposits rose by NOK 37.1 billion compared with 2016.

Net other operating income

Amounts in NOK million 2017 Change 2016
Net other operating income 12 425 (2.891) 15316
Net commissions and fees 249
Other operating income 23
Profit from associated companies (172)
Exchange rate effects additional Tier 1 capital (811)
Net gains on other financial instruments (1052)
Sale of holdings in Visa (1.128)
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Net other operating income decreased by NOK 2 891 million from
2016. There was a strong increase in commissions and fees.
Profits from the sale of Visa Norway’s holding in Visa Europe gave
a NOK 1 128 million rise in income in 2016. Net gains on other
financial instruments had a negative effect of NOK 1 052 million
compared with the same period in 2016 due to volatility in the
currency, commodity and interest rate markets.

Operating expenses

Amounts in NOK million 2017 Change 2016
Operating expenses (21 928) (1412) (20 516)
Deconsolidation of Baltic operation 270
Travel expenses 47)
Pension expenses 97)
Other costs (157)
Provisions for financial activities tax (226)
Salaries and other personnel exp. (excl. restructuring costs) (246)
IT expenses (406)
Restructuring costs (non-recurring effects) 496
Other non-recurring effects (999)

Total operating expenses were up 6.9 per cent from 2016. Ex-
cluding non-recurring effects, there was a 4.6 per cent increase in
expenses. The increase was mainly due to the introduction of
financial activities tax in 2017, a higher level of digitalisation and
other IT projects. Non-recurring items represented impairment of
goodwill related to the external distribution of credit cards under the
Cresco brand, changes in pension schemes in 2016 and value
added tax on an IT system.

Impairment of loans and guarantees

Impairment losses on loans and guarantees totalled NOK 2 428
million in 2017, down NOK 4 996 million from 2016 and down
NOK 5 664 million excluding the sale of non-performing portfolios
in 2016.

Impairment losses for 2017 were mainly related to shipping,
offshore and energy in the large corporate and international
customers segment.

The reduction in collective impairment primarily reflected
positive migration in some industries and more favourable eco-
nomic conditions in the shipping, offshore and energy industries.
The other credit portfolios are still of high quality and the difficult
situation in the oil-related industries has had no material spillover
effects on these portfolios.

Net non-performing and doubtful loans and guarantees
amounted to NOK 17.3 billion at end-December 2017, down from
NOK 25.7 billion at year-end 2016. This represented 0.98 per cent
of the loan portfolio, a reduction of 0.51 percentage points from
end-December 2016. The decrease in non-performing and doubtful
loans and guarantees reflects more favorable conditions within
shipping, offshore and energy in the large corporate and inter-
national customers segment.

Taxes

The banking group's tax expense for 2017 was NOK 4 903 million,
representing 20 per cent of pre-tax operating profits. The tax rate
was lower than the anticipated rate of 22 per cent, mainly due to
equity sales under the tax exemption model and Norwegian taxa-
tion rules for the allocation of interest expenses between Norway
and the US.

Funding, liquidity and balance sheet

The short-term funding markets were generally sound throughout
the year. New regulatory reforms for US money market funds were
introduced, and the short-term funding market normalised during
2017 compared with 2016. Due to an increase in short-term interest
rates, prices rose somewhat during the year, which resulted in
slightly higher short-term funding costs for banks. As the markets
stabilised, investors regarded an increasing number of banks as

attractive. DNB had ample access to short-term funding throughout
2017.

The markets for long-term funding proved to be better than
many assumed at the start of 2017. The first quarter of the year
showed the highest level of activity in the market, as most issuers
wanted to enter the market before the political elections in Europe.
However, the long-term funding market generally functioned well
throughout 2017. The market for covered bonds was still dominated
by the asset purchase programme of the European Central Bank,
ECB. In November, the ECB announced a gradual reduction in its
asset purchases, which was well received in the market, as many
had feared a more aggressive de-escalation plan beforehand. Total
issue volumes of covered and senior bonds were somewhat lower
in 2017 than in 2016. In particular the latter have largely been re-
placed by so-called non-preferred senior bonds in order to adapt to
the coming MREL regulations (minimum requirement of own funds
and eligible liabilities). There was a considerably higher level of
activity in the market for subordinated loans than in 2016, partly
due to regulatory requirements and partly due to favourable prices
for the issuers. DNB had good access to long-term funding in 2017,
and funding costs on covered bonds and ordinary senior debt were
further reduced during the year.

The nominal value of long-term debt securities issued by the
banking group was NOK 598 billion at end-December 2017, com-
pared with NOK 581 billion a year earlier. The average remaining
term to maturity for these debt securities was 4.0 years at year-end
2017, up from 3.9 years at end-December 2016.

The short-term liquidity requirement, Liquidity Coverage Ratio,
LCR, remained stable at above 100 per cent throughout the year.
At end-December 2017, the LCR was 117 per cent.

Total assets in the banking group’s balance sheet were
NOK 2 360 billion at year-end 2017 and NOK 2 349 billion a year
earlier.

Loans to customers increased by NOK 39.1 billion or 2.6 per
cent from end-December 2016. Customer deposits were up
NOK 34.7 billion or 3.7 per cent during the same period. The
ratio of customer deposits to net loans to customers was up from
63.4 per cent at end-December 2016 to 64.0 per cent a year later.
The ambition is to have a ratio of customer deposits to net loans of
minimum 60 per cent.

Corporate governance

The management of DNB is based, inter alia, on the Norwegian
Accounting Act and the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance. Read more about DNB'’s corporate governance
principles and practice on page 76 in the DNB Group’s annual
report.

Risk and capital adequacy

Organisation and monitoring

The Board of Directors continually monitors the banking group's
capital situation.

DNB has established two policies within risk management, the
policy for risk management and the policy for compliance. The
policies are elaborated on in standards, which provide more de-
tailed governance principles in these two areas. The policies serve
as a guide for DNB’s overall risk management and compliance and
describe the ambitions for, attitudes to and work on risk. Read more
about risk aspects and the capitalisation on page 87 in the DNB
Group’s annual report and in the DNB Group’s Pillar 3 report at
ir.dnb.no.
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Risk developments in 2017

The banking group quantifies risk by measuring economic capital.
Changes were implemented in the model for measuring economic
capital in December 2017, which gave a reduction in economic
capital of approximately 20 per cent. Figures for previous periods
have been updated based on the new model. Net economic capital
was down NOK 1.6 billion from year-end 2016, to NOK 52.3 billion
at year-end 2017.

Economic capital for the banking group

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK billion 2017 2016
Credit risk 40.2 43.7
Market risk 7.6 57
Operational risk 6.6 6.7
Business risk 5.6 52
Gross economic capital 60.0 61.4
Diversification effect ) (7.7) (7.5)
Net economic capital 52.3 53.9
Diversification effect in per cent of
gross economic capital 1) 12.8 12.2

1)  The diversification effect refers to the risk-mitigating effect achieved by
the banking group by having operations which are affected by different
types of risk where unexpected losses are unlikely to occur at the same
time.

Economic capital for credit risk declined by NOK 3.5 billion through
2017. The reduction was a result of active rebalancing of the large
corporate portfolio throughout the year, whereby credit volume in
this portfolio was reduced by approximately NOK 107 billion in
terms of exposure at default, EAD.

Just under half of the reduction in EAD can be attributed to the
deconsolidation of the Baltic operation. The subsidiaries in the
Baltics were previously included in credit risk, operational risk and
business risk, while the ownership interest in Luminor is defined as
market risk.

The quality of banking group’s credit portfolio is generally
good and was stable throughout the year. There are still some
challenges in the offshore portfolio, but customers within this
segment are closely followed up.

Housing prices declined by 2.1 per cent in the course of the
year. Home mortgages represent approximately half of the banking
group's loan portfolio. This portfolio is of high quality, with very low
losses over several years, even in periods with strong lending
growth. There was a 5.7 per cent increase in the home mortgage
portfolio during the year.

In June, Finanstilsynet (the Financial Supervisory Authority of
Norway) published new guidelines for responsible lending practices
for consumer loans. DNB has initiated the necessary measures to
ensure that the bank complies with the guidelines. The banking
group's portfolio of unsecured consumer loans totalled NOK 1
billion at the end of 2017, while the credit card portfolio represented
just below NOK 19 billion in terms of the total amount drawn.

Economic capital for market risk rose by NOK 1.9 billion in the
course of the year. The ownership interest in Luminor is the main
factor behind the increase.

The transition from a defined-benefit to a defined-contribution
scheme for the bank’s employees has given a reduction in econo-
mic capital. DNB has chosen to establish a compensation scheme
for the employees whose pensions have been transferred to a
defined-contribution scheme. Consequently, there is still risk
associated with the banking group’s pension commitments.

The operational risk situation in 2017 was satisfactory. There
was a stable, low level of losses, which was well below the limit in
the risk appetite framework. In the banking industry, there is high
risk of data fraud, whereby confidential information goes astray or
the bank is exposed to digital attacks and data vandalism.
Measures to strengthen information security in DNB have been
identified in order to meet an ever-more serious threat scenario.

Within compliance, DNB’s main focus areas were anti-money
laundering, privacy protection, international tax reporting and
corruption. In the course of 2017, training programmes for all em-
ployees were implemented or planned in key compliance areas,
such as anti-money laundering (AML), the General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR), and anti-corruption. Clearly defined roles, a
high level of expertise and a strong compliance culture are key
elements in DNB’s compliance work.

Calculated according to transitional rules, risk-weighted assets
were NOK 1 015 billion, down from NOK 1 041 billion at end-
December 2016. The common equity Tier 1 capital ratio was 16.2
per cent, while the capital adequacy ratio was 20.6 per cent.

Segments

Financial governance in DNB is adapted to the different customer
segments. The follow-up of total customer relationships and seg-
ment profitability are important dimensions when making strategic
priorities and deciding where to allocate the banking group’s re-
sources. Reported figures reflect the banking group’s total sales of
products and services to the relevant segments.

Personal customers

This segment includes the banking group's more than 2 million
personal customers in Norway. The personal customer segment
showed strong profitability in 2017. Pre-tax operating profits were
up NOK 325 million compared with 2016, driven by a strong trend
in net interest income and reduced restructuring expenses. The
return on allocated capital increased by 0.5 percentage points to
18.1 per cent.

Income statement in NOK million 2017 2016
Net interest income 13 336 12758
Net other operating income 3716 3631
Total income 17 051 16 389
Operating expenses (7731) (7 980)
Pre-tax operating profit before impairment 9320 8 409
Impairment of loans and guarantees (207) 379
Pre-tax operating profit 9113 8788
Profit for the year 6 835 6 590

Average balance sheet items in NOK billion
Net loans to customers 725.6 689.4
Deposits from customers 402.2 400.5

Key figures in per cent
Return on allocated capital 18.1 17.6

Net interest income increased by 4.5 per cent from 2016, reflecting
rising volumes combined with a widening of the volume-weighted
spread of 0.01 percentage points. Net loans to customers showed a
satisfactory trend, rising by 5.3 per cent on average from 2016 to
2017. After adjusting for an internal transfer of deposits to the SME
segment in December 2016, deposits were up 2.3 per cent during
the same period.

Net other operating income increased by 2.3 per cent from
2016. Income from payment services declined as a consequence of
the regulation of interchange fees introduced in the fourth quarter of
2016, while other income from payment transfers were on a level
with 2016. Price adjustments on manual services during the year
compensated for rising costs related to the SAS Eurobonus agree-
ment and discounts on card usage. The level of income from real
estate broking was retained in spite of a small reduction in the
number of residential properties sold. Increased focus on savings
gave a boost in income from asset management and the sale of
pension products.

Expenses were reduced by 3.1 per cent from 2016. Adjusted
for a high level of restructuring expenses in 2016, however, ex-
penses were up 3.8 per cent. A high level of activity, increased IT
development and the financial activities tax contributed to the in-
crease, while implemented restructuring measures gave a reduc-
tion in salary costs during the period.
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Net impairment losses on loans were at a low level in both
2016 and 2017. There is low risk in the home mortgage portfolio.
The sale of portfolios of non-performing loans resulted in net
reversals on loans in 2016, while such sales had a more limited
effect in 2017. There was a stable level of impairment losses on
consumer loans during the year.

The market share of credit to households stood at 24.7 per
cent at end-December 2017, down from 25.0 per cent at end-
December 2016. The market share of total household savings was
31.2 per cent. DNB Eiendom increased its average market share to
19.7 per cent during the year.

The banking group aspires to achieve continued profitable
growth in the personal customer segment and is continuing its
efforts to adapt products, service concepts and cost levels to the
future competitive situation. Customers increasingly use self-
service options, not least on their mobile phones. The communi-
cation between the customer and the bank is also changing, and
fewer customers visit DNB in person while an increasing number
use the chat service.

The banking group is continuing its work to automate and digi-
tise products and services to meet customer needs and expecta-
tions. Automation of the home mortgage process is a ground-
breaking innovation for the bank. In 2017, customers were given
the opportunity to refinance their home mortgages automatically,
and in October, the banking group launched a fully automated
application process whereby customers who meet given criteria,
receive binding pre-qualification letters within two minutes. The
process to digitise the mortgage process will be continued in 2018,
when automated solutions for taking up home mortgages will be
introduced for new borrowers.

The banking group also took a strong position within savings in
2017. Important contributing factors were the launch of the ‘Spare’
(Save) app, which gives customers an overview of their total
savings in the bank, the Share Savings Account, an account for
trading in shares and mutual funds with deferred taxation, and a
new product for individual pension savings, IPS. Spare was down-
loaded more than 250 000 times in 2017 and contributed to strong
growth in the sale of savings agreements.

Small and medium-sized enterprises

This segment includes sales of products and advisory services to
the banking group’s small and medium-sized corporate customers
in Norway. Strong growth in both net interest income and other
operating income, combined with lower impairment losses, helped
raise pre-tax operating profits by as much as 25.9 per cent from
2016. The return on allocated capital in the segment was 16.4 per
cent, up from 12.7 per cent in 2016.

year-end 2016 to year-end 2017. Higher volumes and wider lending
and deposit spreads contributed to an 8.0 per cent rise in net
interest income compared with 2016.

Net other operating income rose by 4.7 per cent from 2016,
reflecting increased sales of pension products and higher income
from payment transfers. There was also a rise income from the sale
of foreign exchange products compared with 2016, while income
from interest rate hedging products and capital market activities
was somewhat reduced from the previous year.

Operating expenses were up 6.0 per cent from 2016, reflecting
higher IT development and restructuring costs. In addition, the
financial activities tax and higher pension costs due to transitional
schemes caused a higher cost level.

Net impairment losses on loans were significantly reduced
compared with 2016. Impairment losses represented 0.15 per cent
of average net loans in 2017, a reduction from 0.42 per cent the
previous year. The impairment losses in 2017 stemmed primarily
from a few exposures, and the quality of the loan portfolio is
considered to be satisfactory. Developments are closely monitored,
and preventive measures are continually considered and imple-
mented to retain the strong portfolio quality.

The banking group aspires to achieve profitable growth in the
SME segment in the coming period. It will become easier to be-
come a customer, and both large and small businesses will be
given even better advisory services. This means being present in
both physical and digital channels, offering a wide range of tradi-
tional banking services. There is a strong focus on automating and
digitising products and services to meet customer needs and ex-
pectations in the period ahead. Parallel to this, DNB is developing
new services to make customers' everyday lives easier, such as
accounting and invoice services.

Large corporates and international customers

This segment includes the banking group’s largest Norwegian
corporate customers and all international corporate customers. On
1 October 2017, DNB and Nordea combined its operations in the
Baltics and established Luminor Group AB. Operations in the Baltic
countries were part of this segment until the cooperation agreement
entered into force and are thus reflected in the figures up until this
date. Lower volumes gave a reduction in income, while a decline in
impairment losses on loans helped increase pre-tax operating
profits compared with 2016.

Income statement in NOK million 2017 2016
Net interest income 12 682 13182
Net other operating income 4 897 5255
Total income 17 579 18 437
Operating expenses (7 086) (6 828)
Pre-tax operating profit before impairment 10 493 11 609
Net gains on fixed and intangible assets 20 23
Impairment of loans and guarantees (1 800) (6 715)
Profit from repc d operations (19) 8
Pre-tax operating profit 8 694 4925
Profit for the year 6 260 3 599

Income statement in NOK million 2017 2016
Net interest income 8578 7941
Net other operating income 1549 1480
Total income 10127 9421
Operating expenses (4 106) (3 876)
Pre-tax operating profit before impairment 6021 5545
Net gains on fixed and intangible assets (1) 2
Impairment of loans and guarantees (413) (1088)
Profit from repo d operations 14 6
Pre-tax operating profit 5621 4 465
Profit for the year 4216 3348

Average balance sheet items in NOK billion
Net loans to customers 276.8 258.2
Deposits from customers 205.6 177.3

Key figures in per cent
Return on allocated capital 16.4 12.7

Average balance sheet items in NOK billion
Net loans to customers 478.8 530.5
Deposits from customers 375.2 375.8

Key figures in per cent
Return on allocated capital 7.7 4.3

Average net loans to customers rose by 7.2 per cent from 2016.
Deposits were up 11.7 per cent during the same period, adjusted
for a customer portfolio transferred from the personal customer
segment at the end of 2016. Lending growth was 9.5 per cent from

The trend in volumes over the past two years has been affected by
measures to rebalance operations, which includes restructuring the
portfolios and reducing exposure within shipping, oil and offshore-
related segments. In addition, the banking group sold some loans
and entered into guarantee contracts relating to other exposures
during the year to help strengthen the capital adequacy ratios.
Average loans to customers were down 9.7 per cent from 2016,
while there was a reduction of 21.3 per cent from year-end 2016 to
year-end 2017. Adjusted for the operations in the Baltics, there was
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a reduction of 13.9 per cent. Average deposits declined by 0.2 per
cent from 2016, while deposit volumes were down 14.2 per cent
from year-end 2016 to year-end 2017. After adjusting for the Baltic
operation, there was a 5.1 per cent decline in deposits.

Due to the reduction in volumes and lower fee income, there
was a decline in net interest income in spite of wider deposit
spreads. Volume-weighted spreads contracted by 0.02 percentage
points from 2016, to 1.2 per cent in 2017.

Net other operating income was reduced by 6.8 per cent com-
pared with 2016. A strong focus on using the entire product range
and a shift towards reducing final hold on the banking groups books
helped raise income from arranging debt capital issues. Costs re-
lated to measures to reduce risk-weighted assets had a negative
effect on income towards the end of the year.

Total operating expenses were up 3.8 per cent from 2016.

The number of full-time positions was reduced by 51 from end-
December 2016, adjusted for positions in the Baltic operation.

The reductions took place in both Norwegian and international
operations.

There was a reduction in net impairment losses on loans com-
pared with 2016, partly due to successful efforts to restructure the
portfolio. Net impairment represented 0.38 per cent of average
loans in 2017, down 0.89 percentage points from the previous year.
There was a 0.23 percentage point reduction in individual impair-
ment losses, to 0.63 per cent in 2017. More favourable economic
conditions combined with lower volumes of high-risk loans and
positive migration in the portfolios gave reversals on collective
impairment losses in 2017. Net non-performing and doubtful loans
and guarantees totaled NOK 11.9 billion at end-December 2017,
compared with NOK 20.0 billion a year earlier.

The banking group is operating in highly competitive markets,
and one of the challenges facing DNB is different capital require-
ments for banks. The main aim for the Large Corporates and
International business area is to strengthen profitability and
contribute to fulfilling the banking group’s long-term ambitions.
Active portfolio management in the large corporate segment will
continue in 2018 by channeling capital and resources to segments,
customers and transactions that will ensure higher profitability in
the longer term. An ‘originate and distribute’ approach, which gives
higher turnover in the portfolio, will ensure lower final hold on the
banking group’s books and increase ancillary income. The bank will
continue to focus on utilising in-depth industry expertise, offering a
wide product range and up-to-date technological solutions to
priority customers. Through close relations with leading companies,
the banking group is well-positioned to enter into dialogue with
customers to meet their extensive financial needs. This will form the
basis for increasing the contribution from non-lending products,
such as investment banking, trade finance, leasing, factoring and
defined-contribution pensions.

Trading

This segment comprises market making and other trading in foreign
exchange, fixed-income, equity and commodity products, including
the hedging of market risk inherent in customer transactions.
Customer activities are supported by trading activities, which are
undertaken by Markets.

Income statement in NOK million 2017 2016
Net interest income (76) 28
Net other operating income 2453 2976
Total income 2377 3004
Operating expenses (502) (548)
Pre-tax operating profit 1876 2455
Profit of the year 1444 1841

Key figures in per cent
Return on allocated capital 211 25.4

Low volatility in the markets contributed to the reduction in income
from money market activities and foreign exchange trading. A
weaker than expected Norwegian krone also had a more negative
impact on income from foreign exchange. There was a high level of
income from trading in Norwegian interest rate instruments. Income
from bonds was positively affected by narrower credit spreads.

Sound risk management ensured a continued high level of
income from market making and other trading.

Corporate responsibility

As Norway’s largest bank, DNB wants to promote sustainable value
creation by integrating ethical, environmental and social aspects
into its business operations. The principles for corporate responsi-
bility provide the main framework for the governance of DNB’s
operations. Corporate responsibility is an integral part of corporate
governance and is taken into account in decision-making pro-
cesses.

DNB meets the authorities’ requirements for reporting relating
to human rights, labour rights and social conditions, the external
environment and the fight against corruption in its business
strategies, daily operations and in the relationships with stake-
holders through integrated annual reporting and through reporting
according to the Global Reporting Initiative, GRI.

Read more about how DNB meets its corporate responsibility
commitments and the challenges DNB considers to be most impor-
tant to meet to ensure long-term value creation and responsible
operations in the DNB Group annual report on page 15 and 58, and
at dnb.no/en/csr.

Employees and competence

Adapting to the new banking reality, with rapid changes in customer
behaviour, digitalisation and stricter capital adequacy requirements,
characterised organisational and leadership development in 2017.
Systematic efforts were made to ensure that the banking group has
the right competencies and to promote change capacity and
employee engagement. The engagement index in the employee
survey remained high at 85 points. This paints a picture of a robust
organisation that has coped well through extensive restructuring.
Sickness absence in the banking group was 4.4 per cent in 2017,
down from 4.5 in 2016.

Read more about the priorities that are considered to be essen-
tial to ensuring the right competencies, and about the working en-
vironment, equality and discrimination in DNB Group’s annual re-
port on page 46 and a more detailed description in note 21 Salaries
and other personnel expenses in the annual accounts.

New regulatory framework
Over the last few years, a number of new regulations setting stricter
requirements for the financial services industry have been intro-
duced or announced. The Norwegian authorities have introduced
more stringent capital adequacy requirements and earlier imple-
mentation compared with the EU. Following the adoption of the
latest Basel regulations, the requirements now look set to be
harmonised.

Read more about the new regulations and the regulatory frame-
work on page 104 in the DNB Group’s annual report.

Macroeconomic developments

Global GDP growth is expected to be 3.5 per cent in 2017, up from
3.0 per cent in 2016, reflecting higher growth in both industrialised
countries and emerging economies. Persistent strong growth in
demand from China and widespread optimism have contributed to
a synchronous boost in growth across countries and sectors.
Global growth is expected to increase further in 2018 due to a
higher level of growth in emerging economies. In China, however,
growth is expected to slow down somewhat as a result of retrench-
ment measures implemented by the authorities. Economic growth
in industrialised countries is expected to remain at around 2 per
cent. This is higher than the normal growth rate and will contribute
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to a further decline in unemployment. Parallel to this, wage growth
is restrained by national and global factors in a number of coun-
tries. This puts a damper on inflation and limits the rise in interest
rates.

The upturn in the US economy has lasted for nine years, and
there are still no clear signs of a slowdown. GDP growth is
assumed to be 2.3 per cent in 2017 and 2.4 per cent in 2018. The
US tax reform is expected to have a limited effect on consumption,
as it primarily affects high-income groups. Although it will probably
contribute to a certain rise in corporate investment, the effect is
expected to be moderate. The unemployment rate dropped to 4.1
per cent and is expected to decline further in 2018. As a conse-
quence, the Federal Reserve is likely to raise interest rates an
additional three times in 2018, in spite of the fact that inflation is
somewhat lower than the 2 per cent target. In addition, the Federal
Reserve will probably start to scale down its balance sheet by
reducing reinvestments in Treasury bills and mortgage-backed
securities (MBS).

In the eurozone, GPD growth is estimated at 2.3 per cent in
2017 and is expected to remain a the same level in 2018. The
recovery is broad-based across countries and sectors, with strong
growth in large member countries such as Germany and Spain.
Confidence indexes for households and businesses indicate a
further recovery in the eurozone, but the cool-down in China is
expected to dampen the upturn from the second half of 2018.
Growth will nevertheless be higher than normal, which is expected
to lead to lower unemployment. Wage and price growth is also
assumed to increase somewhat, reflecting less slack in the econo-
my. In consequence of this, the European Central Bank will begin
to gradually depart from its expansionary policy by finalising its
asset purchases by the end of the year and gradually increasing
interest rates from the second quarter of 2019.

The British ‘No’ to further EU membership had fewer negative
consequences than expected in the short term. Growth slowed
down, however, from 1.8 per cent in 2016 to an estimated 1.5 per
cent in 2017, and is expected to decline to 1.1 per cent in 2018,
reflecting a reduction in consumption and investment due to the
uncertainty surrounding Brexit. A significant weakening of the
British pound has caused a temporary increase in inflation, which
made the Bank of England raise its key policy rate to 0.5 per cent in
November 2017. Inflation is expected to decline due to weaker
growth and higher unemployment, and the key policy rate is there-
fore expected to remain at 0.5 per cent over the coming years.
Uncertainty regarding the process around Brexit and the results
thereof makes future prospects more unpredictable than normal.

GDP for Mainland Norway was up 1.8 per cent in 2017, after
increasing by only 1.0 per cent in 2016. The rise was due to a less
negative effect of oil investments, higher consumption and a
marked increase in housing investment. Growth is anticipated to
rise further to 2 per cent in 2018, driven by corporate and petroleum
investment. Over the next few years, the upswing in the Norwegian
economy will probably be curbed by lower housing investment and
a more neutral contribution from fiscal policy. Higher manufacturing
growth has also been reflected in lower unemployment. The unem-
ployment rate has declined gradually since the summer of 2016,
mainly due to a lower labour force participation rate. Throughout
2017, employment growth also picked up and contributed to a
further drop in the unemployment rate. A slight rise in employment
is expected in the period ahead, resulting in a certain reduction in
the unemployment rate.

The seasonally adjusted housing price index fell after reaching
a peak in March, and annual growth rates in December 2017 were
negative at -1.1 per cent for Norway and -10.5 per cent for Oslo.
Low interest rates and a more positive situation in the Norwegian
economy, with falling unemployment and rising income growth, will
limit the downward trend in housing prices, which are expected to
show modest growth from 2019.

Inflation, in terms of annual growth in the consumer price index,
declined more than expected in 2017. The core inflation rate ended
at 1.4 per cent, while total inflation was 1.8 per cent. In 2018, core
inflation is expected to be 1.5 per cent, which is well below Norges
Bank’s inflation target. In light of continued low inflation and a weak
housing market, Norges Bank is not expected to raise its key policy
rate until September 2019. In its monetary policy report from
December 2017, the central bank indicated that the policy rate hike
may be implemented in December 2018.

Future prospects

DNB presented updated financial ambitions towards year-end 2019
at its Capital Markets Day in November 2017. The overriding
financial target is a return on equity above 12 per cent towards the
end of 2019. Several factors will contribute to reaching the return
on equity target, including strong growth in capital-light products,
increasing lending volumes, greater cost efficiency through the
automation of internal processes, and optimal use of capital.

DNB has set a target for its common equity Tier 1 capital
ratio of 16.1 per cent, and the common equity Tier 1 capital
ratio achieved at year-end 2017 was 16.4 per cent. DNB is well-
positioned for new regulatory requirements resulting from the imple-
mentation of IFRS 9 and the revised Basel regulations. The latter is
expected to have minimal effects for DNB. The implementation
effect of IFRS 9 is estimated at NOK 2 billion after tax and is ex-
pected to reduce the common equity Tier 1 capital ratio by approxi-
mately 28 basis points. For information on the implementation
effect of IFRS 9 for the banking group and Bank ASA, refer to note
49.

DNB’s ambition is to have a cost/income ratio below 40 per
cent towards 2019. Volume-weighted spreads are expected to be
stable, while the annual increase in lending volumes is anticipated
to be 3 to 4 per cent in 2018 and 2019. During this period, higher
growth in lending volumes is expected for personal customers and
small and medium-sized enterprises, while the banking group will
continue to actively reduce its lending volumes to large corporates
and international customers in cyclical industries.

For the full year 2018, impairment losses are expected to
represent approximately 17 basis points of exposure at default,
or around NOK 3 billion.

Allocation of profits
Profits for 2017 in DNB Bank ASA came to NOK 18 910 million,
compared with NOK 14 789 million in 2016.

The Board of Directors has proposed a dividend from DNB
Bank ASA to DNB ASA of NOK 14 933 million and a group
contribution of NOK 871 million after tax, totalling NOK 15 804
million. The Board of Directors also proposes allocating a group
contribution of NOK 16 800 million before tax to DNB Boligkreditt
AS, which represents NOK 12 600 million after tax. At the
same time, DNB Bank ASA will receive a group contribution of
NOK 14 900 million from DNB Boligkreditt AS. DNB Bank ASA will
thus receive net group contributions of NOK 2 300 million from DNB
Boligkreditt AS. In addition, a group contribution of NOK 19 million
will be allocated to | O S Tubular Management AS, representing
NOK 25 million before tax.

The banking group’s capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December
2017 was 20.6 per cent, while the common equity Tier 1 capital
ratio was 16.2 per cent. Correspondingly, the capital adequacy ratio
in DNB Bank ASA was 23.0 per cent and the common equity Tier 1
capital ratio 17.7 per cent.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, following the proposed
allocations, DNB Bank ASA will have adequate financial strength
and flexibility to provide sufficient support to operations in subsi-
diaries and meet the banking group's expansion requirements and
changes in external parameters.
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Oslo, 7 March 2018
The Board of Directors of DNB Bank ASA

foe Gorie T, 40/»(‘3

Anne Carine Tanum

(chairman) (vice-chairman)

Lillian Hattrem / Kim Wahl

Rune Bjerke
(group chief executive)
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Income statement

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million Note 2017 2016
35163 37 126 Total interest income 17 54 399 52 887
(11 555) (12 709) Total interest expenses 17 (18 485) (18 369)
23 608 24 416 Net interest income 17 35914 34 517
6739 7 340 Commission and fee income etc. 19 9228 8628
(2924) (3 296) Commission and fee expenses etc. 19 (3344) (2 994)
8834 5942 Net gains on financial instruments at fair value 20 4513 6 506
Profit from investments accounted for by the equity method 35 (112) 1189

Net gains on investment properties 143 (35)

5837 6 325 Other income 1997 2023
18 486 16 312 Net other operating income 12 425 15 316
42 094 40728 Total income 48 339 49 833
(9 248) (9 639) Salaries and other personnel expenses 21 (11 561) (11 206)
(6 118) (6 904) Other expenses 22 (7 899) (7 207)
(2 050) (2 318) Depreciation and impairment of fixed and intangible assets 23 (2 469) (2 103)
(17 417) (18 860) Total operating expenses (21 928) (20 516)
24 677 21867 Pre-tax operating profit before impairment 26 410 29 317
14 2047 Net gains on fixed and intangible assets 735 (19)

(4 679) (1937) Impairment of loans and guarantees 9,10 (2 428) (7 424)
20 012 21978 Pre-tax operating profit 24718 21874
(5 223) (3 068) Tax expense 25 (4 903) (3 964)
Profit from operations held for sale, after taxes 1) 4

14 789 18 910 Profit for the year 19 813 17914
14 193 17972 Portion attributes to shareholders 18 876 17 319
595 938 Portion attributable to additional Tier 1 capital holders 938 595

14 789 18 910 Profit for the year 19 813 17 914
80.75 103.34 Earnings/diluted earnings per share (NOK) 108.27 97.81
Earnings per share for operations held for sale (NOK) (0.01) 0.02

Earnings per share for continuing operations excluding
80.75 103.34 operations held for sale (NOK) 108.28 97.79

Comprehensive income statement

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
14 789 18 910 Profit for the year 19 813 17914
(166) (120) Actuarial gains and losses (107) (179)
(166) (120) Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement (107) (179)
(135) 53 Currency translation of foreign operations 1182 (6 478)
Currency translation reserve reclassified to the income statement H (1 303) (43)
Hedging of net investment (515) 4 346

Hedging reserve reclassified to the income statement 886
Investments according to the equity method ? 160 (25)
Investments according to the equity method reclassified to the income statement ? (855)
(135) 53 Items that may subsequently be reclassified to the income statement 410 (3 054)
(301) (67) Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 303 (3233)
14 487 18 843 Comprehensive income for the year 20 117 14 680

1) In the fourth quarter of 2017, currency translation reserves (accumulated gains) of NOK 1 307 million and hedging reserves (accumulated losses) of
NOK 1 224 million relating to the Baltics were reclassified to the income statement and recognised in "Net gains on fixed and intangible assets". Tax relating to
the Baltics hedging reserve amounted to NOK 338 million, which was reclassified to the income statement and recognised in "Tax expense".

2) DNB had indirect ownership interests in Visa Europe through its membership in Visa Norge. In connection with the valuation of the holdings in Visa Europe as at
31 March 2016 an accumulated gain of NOK 855 million was recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon the completion of the acquisition of Visa Europe
by Visa Inc in the second quarter of 2016, this amount was reclassified to profit and a total gain of NOK 1 128 million was recognised as "Profit from investments
accounted for by the equity method" in the income statement.
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Balance sheet

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million Note 2017 2016
Assets
207 934 151 147 Cash and deposits with central banks 26, 27, 28 151 595 208 263
549 093 580 973 Due from credit institutions 6,7, 26,27, 28 237 849 174 908
690 060 730782 Loans to customers 6,7, 26,27, 28 1531345 1492 268
223 360 261 994 Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 26, 28, 30 257 029 217 887
5178 6 310 Shareholdings 26, 28, 30, 31 7303 6 200
170 317 146 953 Financial derivatives 15, 26, 28 132 649 157 957
12 760 9613 Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 26, 27, 33 9613 12 760
Investment properties 34 990 1175
995 9 007 Investments accounted for by the equity method 35 11 176 3570
118 233 115 142 Investments in subsidiaries 36 0 0)
3598 3515 Intangible assets 37 3756 3981
1882 8415 Deferred tax assets 25 757 1392
7034 7842 Fixed assets 38 7911 7117
Assets held for sale 52 541
13 462 22 092 Other assets 40 7888 8 255
2003 906 2053 787 Total assets 2 359 860 2348 272

Liabilities and equity

338731 332798 Due to credit institutions 26, 27, 28 222 501 211 606
920 664 956 525 Deposits from customers 26, 27, 28, 41 980 374 945 694
181 794 179 534 Financial derivatives 15, 26, 28 112 020 130 990
336 941 326 171 Debt securities issued 26, 27, 28, 42 782 127 767 750
4 3765 Payable taxes 25 4702 8 847

56 74 Deferred taxes 25 847 2382
23893 51103 Other liabilities 26, 44 19 304 15781
Liabilities held for sale 41 243

1916 1652 Provisions 1766 2038
2454 2906 Pension commitments 24 2995 2516

29 347 29 538 Subordinated loan capital 26, 27, 28, 43 29 538 29 347
1835 802 1884 067 Total liabilities 2156 175 2158 194
18 314 18 256 Share capital 18 256 18 314

19 895 19 895 Share premium 20 611 20 611

15 952 16 159 Additional Tier 1 capital 16 159 15 952
113 942 115411 Other equity 148 660 135 200
168 104 169 720 Total equity 45 203 685 190 078
2 003 906 2 053 787 Total liabilities and equity 2 359 860 2348 272
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Statement of changes in equity

DNB Bank ASA

Actuarial Currency
Share Share Additional gains and translation Other Total
Amounts in NOK million capital premium  Tier 1 capital losses reserve equity equity
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 18 314 19 895 8353 (459) 652 104 777 151 533
Profit for the year 595 14 193 14 789
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (166) (135) (301)
Comprehensive income for the year 595 (166) (135) 14 193 14 487
Additional Tier 1 capital issued 7520 (43) 7477
Interest payments additional Tier 1 capital (505) (505)
Currency movements taken to income (11) 11
Defined-benefit pension scheme
discontinued 6 (6)
Transfer of lending portfolio to
subsidiary (continuity) 195 195
Group contribution for 2016 to DNB ASA (9 284) (9 284)
Group contribution for 2016 from DNB ASA 4 200 4 200
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 18 314 19 895 15 952 (619) 517 114 045 168 104
Profit for the year 938 17 972 18 910
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (120) 53 (67)
Comprehensive income for the year 938 (120) 53 17 972 18 843
Demerger Vipps AS (59) (641) (700)
Interest payments additional Tier 1 capital (724) (724)
Currency movements taken to income 7 7
Transfer of lending portfolio to
subsidiary (continuity) 2 2
Dividends and group contribution
for 2017 to DNB ASA (15 804) (15 804)
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 18 256 19 895 16 159 (739) 570 115 580 169 720
DNB Bank Group
Actuarial Currency Net invest-
Share Share Additional gains and translation ment hedge Other Total
Amounts in NOK million capital premium _ Tier 1 capital losses reserve V) reserve ¥ equity equity
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 18 314 20 611 8353 (479) 18 289 (11 848) 120171 173 412
Profit for the year 595 17 319 17 914
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (179) (6 521) 4346 (880) (3233)
Comprehensive income for the year 595 179) (6 521) 4346 16 438 14 680
Additional tier 1 capital issued 7520 (43) 7477
Interest payments additional Tier 1 capital (505) (505)
Currency movements taken to income (11) 11
Defined-benefit pension scheme discontinued 16 (16)
AGDL provision in Luxembourg
reclassified to equity 13 13
Group contribution to DNB ASA for 2015 (5 000) (5 000)
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 18 314 20 611 15 952 (641) 11 768 (7 502) 131 575 190 078
Profit for the year 938 18 876 19 813
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (107) (121) 371 160 303
Comprehensive income for the year 938 (107) (121) 371 19 036 20117
Demerger VIPPS AS (59) (641) (700)
Interest payments additional Tier 1 capital (724) (724)
Currency movements taken to income (@) 7
Group contribution to DNB ASA for 2016 (5 084) (5 084)
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 18 256 20 611 16 159 (748) 11 647 (7 131) 144 892 203 685
1) Of which OCI related to the Baltics:
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 1015 (712) 304
Other comprehensive income for the
period January - September 2017 291 (174) 117
Other comprehensive income reclassifiend
to the income statement (1307) 886 (421)
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 0 0 0
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Cash flow statement

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

Operating activities

(1193) (39 831) Net payments on loans to customers (36 193) (35 187)
26 974 27 604 Interest received from customers 47 789 47 420
37 498 36 940 Net receipts on deposits from customers 34723 40 724
(5 219) (5 346) Interest paid to customers (4 425) (3711)
144 571 (28 516) Net receipts/payments on loans to credit institutions (40 214) 163 235
3774 5074 Interest received from credit institutions 2449 1261
(1 975) (3 058) Interest paid to credit institutions (2 428) (1661)
(8 655) (21 783) Net receipts/payments on the sale of financial assets for investment or trading (20 381) 4076
4327 4521 Interest received on bonds and commercial paper 4394 4271
3998 3920 Net receipts on commissions and fees 6 035 5757
(15 995) (16 322) Payments to operations (19 505) (19 014)
(1 268) (1897) Taxes paid (10 004) (1 455)
8 563 5289 Other receipts 6 282 8 327
195 401 (33 406) Net cash flow from operating activities (31478) 214 042
Investment activities
(1627) (1 010) Net payments on the acquisition of fixed assets (2 274) (1529)
Net receipts/payments, investment properties 382 (605)
861 1210 Receipts on the sale of long-term investments in shares 90 861
(3 700) (3728) Payments on the acquisition of long-term investments in shares (675)
57 347 Dividends received on long-term investments in shares 7 66
(4 408) (3181) Net cash flow from investment activities (2 470) (1 206)
Funding activities
8943 961 1788 376 Receipts on issued bonds and commercial paper (see note 42) 1849 030 8995 908
(8 935 044) (1 804 568) Payments on redeemed bonds and commercial paper (see note 42) (1856 373) (9 000 786)
(6 238) (5 926) Interest payment on issued bonds and commercial paper (13 853) (16 016)
738 10 106 Receipts on the raising of subordinated loan capital (see note 43) 10 106 738
?3) (10 544) Redemptions of subordinated loan capital (see note 43) (10 544) 3)
(920) (780) Interest payments on subordinated loan capital (784) (923)
7520 Receipts on issued additional Tier 1 capital 7520
(516) (724) Interest payments on additional Tier 1 capital (724) (516)
(6 942) (4 018) Group contributions payments (5 318) (6 849)
2 555 (28 080) Net cash flow from funding activities (28 459) (20 928)
(1 663) 6 082 Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cashs equivalents 5 436 (312)
191 884 (58 584) Net cash flow (56 971) 191 596
19 884 211768 Cash as at 1 January 214 790 23194
Amount of cash in subsidiaries which control is lost (3768)
191 884 (58 584) Net payments of cash (56 971) 191 596
211768 153 184 Cash as at 31 December ’ 154 051 214 790
*)  Of which:
207 934 151 147 Cash and deposits with central banks 151 595 211 908
3835 2036 Deposits with credit institutions with no agreed period of notice H 2 456 2881

1) Recorded under "Due from credit institutions" in the balance sheet.

The cash flow statement shows receipts and payments of cash and cash equivalents during the year. The statement has been prepared in
accordance with the direct method. Cash flows are classified as operating activities, investment activities or funding activities. Balance sheet
items are adjusted for the effects of exchange rate movements. Cash is defined as cash and deposits with central banks, and deposits with
credit institutions with no agreed period of notice.
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Note 1 Accounting principles

1. Corporate information

N

Basis for preparation

3. Consolidation

4. Segment information

5. Recognition in the income statement and in
other comprehensive income

6. Financial instruments

7. Investment property and fixed assets

8. Intangible assets

9. Impairment of fixed and intangible assets

10. Pensions

11. Income tax

12.  Provisions

13. Leasing

14.  Cash flow statements

15. Dividends

16. Approved standards and interpretations that

have not entered into force

17. Important accounting estimates, judgments

and assumptions

1. Corporate information

DNB Bank ASA is a subsidiary of DNB ASA, which is a Norwegian
public limited company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange (Oslo
Bars). The consolidated financial statements for 2017 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2018.

The banking group offers banking services and securities and
investment services in the Norwegian and international retail and
corporate markets.

The visiting address to the banking group's head office is
Dronning Eufemias gate 30, Bjgrvika, Oslo, Norway.

2. Basis for preparation

DNB Bank group has prepared the consolidated financial state-
ments for 2017 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the
European Union (EU).

DNB Bank ASA has prepared its stand-alone financial
statements according to the Norwegian Ministry of Finance's
regulations on annual accounts, Section 1-6, on the use of IFRS,
hereinafter called the Norwegian IFRS regulations, which implies
that recognition and measurements are in accordance with IFRS.
The only exception is that the Norwegian IFRS regulations also
give permission to recognise provisions for dividends and group
contributions in subsidiaries as income and recognise the Board of
Directors' proposed dividends and group contributions as liabilities
on the balance sheet date. According to IFRS, dividends should be
presented as equity until approved by the general meeting.

DNB Bank ASA presents disclosure information in accordance with
IFRS.

The consolidated financial statements are based on the
historic cost principle, with the following exceptions: financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value and investment
properties. The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Norwegian kroner. Unless otherwise specified, all amounts are
rounded to the nearest million.

The banking group's consolidated balance sheets are primarily
based on an assessment of the liquidity of the assets and liabili-
ties.

3. Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements for DNB Bank ASA ("DNB
Bank" or "the banking group”) include DNB Bank and subsidiaries.
The accounting principles are applied consistently when con-
solidating ownership interests in subsidiaries and are based on the
same reporting periods as those used for the parent company.
When preparing the consolidated financial statements, intra-
group transactions and balances, along with gains and losses on
transactions between group units, are eliminated.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are defined as companies in which DNB Bank,
directly or indirectly, has control. Control over an entity is
evidenced by the banking group’s ability to exercise its power in
order to affect any variable returns that the banking group is
exposed to through its involvement with the entity. When
assessing whether to consolidate an entity the banking group
evaluates a range of control factors, including

= the purpose and design of the entity,
= the relevant activities and how these are determined,

= whether the Group’s rights result in the ability to direct the
relevant activities

= whether the Group has exposure or right to variable returns

= whether the Group has the ability to use its power to affect its
return
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Where voting rights are relevant, the banking group is deemed to
have control where it holds, directly or indirectly, more than half of
the voting rights in an entity, unless the banking group through
agreements does not have corresponding voting rights in relevant
decision-making bodies. With respect to companies where the
banking group's holding represent less than half of the rights, it
makes an assessment of whether other factors indicate de facto
control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is obtained and until control ceases.

Associated companies and joint arrangements

Associated companies are companies in which DNB Bank has a
significant influence, that is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the companies, but is not in con-
trol or joint control of the companies. DNB Bank assumes that
significant influence exists when the banking group holds between
20 and 50 per cent of the voting share capital or primary capital in
another entity. Associated companies are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements according to the equity method.

Joint arrangements are classified as either joint ventures or
joint operations. When accounting for joint ventures, the equity
method is applied. For joint operations, the parties recognise their
rights to assets and liabilities in their balance sheets and recognise
their share of income and costs incurred jointly in their income
statements. DNB’s joint arrangements are determined to be joint
ventures.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is
recognised at cost at the time of acquisition and is adjusted for
subsequent changes in the banking group's share of equity in the
associated company. Any goodwill is included in the acquisition
cost. The banking group's share of profits or losses is recognised
in the income statement and added to the cost price of the
investment along with other changes in equity which have not
been reflected in the income statement. The banking group's share
of losses is not reflected in the income statement if the carrying
amount of the investment will be negative, unless the banking
group has taken on commitments or issued guarantees for the
commitments of the associated company or joint venture.

At the end of each reporting period the banking group assess
whether any indication of impairment exists. If such indication
exists, the investment will be tested for impairment. The carrying
value of the investment will be compared with the recoverable
amount (the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use).
If necessary, the carrying value will be written down to the recover-
able amount.

The banking group's share of unrealised gains on transactions
between the banking group and its associated companies or joint
ventures is eliminated. The same applies to unrealised losses
unless the transaction indicates an impairment of the transferred
assets.

Conversion of transactions in foreign currency
The presentation currency in the banking group’s consolidated
financial statements is Norwegian kroner. The parent entity in the
banking group, DNB Bank ASA, has Norwegian kroner as its
functional currency. Balance sheet items of foreign branches and
subsidiaries in other functional currencies are translated into the
presentation currency, Norwegian kroner, according to the ex-
change rates prevailing on the balance sheet date, while profit or
loss items are translated according to exchange rates on the
transaction date. Changes in net assets resulting from exchange
rate movements are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are trans-
lated into the entities’ functional currency at the exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Changes in the carrying
amount of such assets due to exchange rate movements between
the transaction date and the balance sheet date, are recognised in
the income statement.

4. Segment information

Financial governance in DNB Bank is adapted to the different cus-
tomer segments. The follow-up of total customer relationships and
segment profitability are two important dimensions when making
strategic priorities and deciding where to allocate the banking
group’s resources. Reported figures for the various segments
reflect the banking group’s total sales of products and services to
the specific segment.

The segment information has been prepared on the basis of
internal financial reporting to the banking group management team
(chief operating decision-making body) for an assessment of deve-
lopments and the allocation of resources. Figures for the operating
segments are based on DNB Bank’s management model and the
banking group’s accounting principles. The figures are based on a
number of assumptions, estimates and judgmental distribution.

According to DNB Bank's management model, the operating
segments are independent profit centres that are fully responsible
for their profit after tax and for achieving the targeted returns on
allocated capital. All of the banking group's customer activities are
divided among the operating segments, along with the related
balance-sheet items, income and expenses.

Excess liquidity and liquidity deficits in the operating segments
are placed in or borrowed from the bank's Treasury at market
terms, where interest rates are based on duration and the banking
group's financial position.

When operating segments cooperate on the delivery of finan-
cial services to customers, internal deliveries are based on market
prices.

Services provided by group services and staff units are
charged to the operating segments in accordance with service
agreements. Joint expenses which are indirectly linked to activities
in the operating segments, are charged to the operating segments
on the basis of distribution formulas.

A number of key functions and profits from activities not re-
lated to the operating segments' strategic operations are presented
within Other operations. This item comprises income and ex-
penses relating to the banking group's liquidity management,
income from investments in equity instruments not included in the
trading portfolio, interest income assigned to the banking group's
unallocated capital, ownership-related expenses and income from
the management of the bank's real estate portfolio.

Net profits from repossessed operations which are fully con-
solidated in the banking group are presented as "Profit from re-
possessed operations” in the segment reporting. The effect of
consolidation of the repossessed companies is presented within
Other operations.

Return on capital is estimated on the basis of internal mea-
surement of risk-adjusted capital requirements. See note 2 Seg-
ments for further information about the principles for allocation of
capital.

5. Recognition in the income statement and in
other comprehensive income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

This implies that interest is recognised when incurred, with the

addition of amortised front-end fees and any other fees which are

regarded as an integral part of the effective interest rate.

The effective interest rate is set by discounting contractual
cash flows based on the expected life of the asset. Cash flows
include front-end fees and direct transaction costs which are not
paid directly by the customer.

Interest is recognised according to the effective interest
method with respect to both balance sheet items carried at
amortised cost and balance sheet items carried at fair value in the
income statement, with the exception of front-end fees on loans at
fair value, which are recognised when earned. Interest on impaired
loans corresponds to the effective interest rate on the book value,
net of impairment.
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"Net other operating income" includes, among others, fees and
commissions relating to money transfers, performance/success
fees, credit broking, real estate broking, corporate finance and
securities services. Credit broking commissions include syndi-
cation income in the form of fees and commissions from transact-
tions where DNB Bank arranges the loans without retaining parts
of the loan itself or participates in a loan syndicate and receives
compensation in excess of the effective interest received by the
other participants. Fees which are not included in effective interest
rate calculations, as well as commissions, are recognised during
the period when the services are rendered or the transactions are
completed.

Performance/success fees are recognised when the fees with
a high degree of certainty have been earned and can be measured
in a reliable manner.

Fees that are incurred when establishing financial guarantees
are recognised over the term of the contract within the line item
“Net gains on financial instruments at fair value”.

Dividends on investments are recognised from the date the
dividends are approved at the general meeting.

Income from financial instruments carried at fair value through
profit or loss is described under Financial instruments, while net
income from investment property is described under Investment
property and fixed assets.

Items of income and expense in other comprehensive income
are grouped based on whether or not they can be reclassified to
the income statement at a future date.

6. Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Recognition of assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. Settlement date accounting is applied for financial
assets classified as loans and receivables, while trade date
accounting is applied for the other classification categories.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive and
retain cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred.
The banking group enters into certain transactions where it trans-
fers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains either all or
parts the risks and rewards of the transferred asset. If all or sub-
stantially all of the risks and rewards are retained, the transferred
financial asset is not derecognised from the balance sheet, but
reclassified to separate assets or liabilities reflecting the rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Such transactions
could entail the transfer of a loan portfolio where the banking group
retains the risks and returns associated with the transferred port-
folio by guaranteeing for all risks in the portfolio or entering into a
total return swap.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obliga-
tions have been discharged, cancelled or have expired.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities purchased under agreements to resell are generally not
recognised in the financial statements as the risk and returns are
normally not taken over by the banking group. This is done irre-
spective of whether the banking group has the right to sell or re-
pledge the securities. Upon the sale of securities received, the
banking group recognises an obligation in the balance sheet. For
more information, see note 32 Securities received which can be
sold or repledged.

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are generally
not derecognised as the risk and returns are normally not trans-
ferred. This is done irrespective of whether the recipient is entitled
to sell or repledge the securities. These securities are presented

as securities in the Group's balance sheet and are specified in
note 31 Transferred assets or assets with other restrictions.

Securities borrowing and lending agreements

Transactions mainly include equity borrowing or lending. Agree-
ments on securities borrowing and lending are generally based on
collateral in the form of cash or securities.

Equities which have been received or transferred in such tran-
sactions, are generally not recognised or derecognised, as risks
and returns associated with ownership of the assets are normally
not taken over or transferred.

Equities received, including equities received as collateral, are
registered off the balance sheet irrespective of whether the
banking group has the right to sell or repledge the securities. Upon
the sale of securities received, the banking group will recognise an
obligation in the balance sheet. For more information, see note 32
Securities received which can be sold or repledged.

Transferred equities and collateral which the recipient is en-
titled to sell or repledge, are presented as equities or securities in
the banking group's balance sheet and are specified in note 31
Transferred assets or assets with other restrictions.

Classification and presentation

On initial recognition financial assets are classified in one of the
following categories according to the type of instrument and the
purpose of the investment:

= financial assets held for trading and derivatives carried at fair
value with changes in value recognised in profit or loss
(trading portfolio)

= financial assets designated as at fair value with changes in
value recognised in profit or loss

= financial derivatives designated as hedging instruments
. loans and receivables, carried at amortised cost
= held-to-maturity investments, carried at amortised cost

= financial assets available for sale carried at fair value with
changes in value recognised in other comprehensive income

On initial recognition financial liabilities are classified in one of the
following categories:

= financial liabilities held for trading and derivatives carried at
fair value with changes in value recognised in profit or loss
(trading portfolio)

= financial liabilities designated as at fair value with changes in
value recognised in profit or loss

= financial derivatives designated as hedging instruments
. other financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

Guidelines for classification in the various portfolios of the banking
group are given below.

Financial assets and liabilities in the trading portfolio

Financial instruments in the trading portfolio are initially recognised
at fair value. The fair value corresponds to the transaction price,
unless another value can be justified based on observable market
transactions. See the paragraph below on determining fair value at
subsequent valuation. See the paragraph below on determining
fair value at subsequent valuation.

Changes in the fair value of the financial instruments are
presented within "Net gains on financial instruments at fair value"
in the income statement. Interest income and interest expenses
from interest bearing securities are presented within "Net interest
income".

Financial derivatives are presented as an asset if the fair value
is positive and as a liability if the fair value is negative.

The trading portfolio mainly includes financial assets and lia-
bilities in Markets and financial derivatives not used for hedge
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accounting purposes. In addition, the portfolio includes securities
borrowing and deposits that are used actively in interest rate and
liquidity management and have a short remaining maturity.

Financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair value with
changes in value recognised in profit or loss

Financial instruments in the portfolio are recognised at fair value.
See the paragraph below on determining fair value at subsequent
valuation. Financial instruments are classified in this category if
one of the following criteria is fulfilled:

. The classification eliminates or significantly reduces measure-
ment or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring financial assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases

= The financial instruments are part of a portfolio that is
managed and evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management or investment strategy

Changes in fair value of the financial instruments are presented
within "Net gains on financial instruments at fair value" in the in-
come statement. Interest income and interest expenses on loans
designated as at fair value and other fixed-income securities are
presented within "Net interest income".

The portfolios include commercial paper, bonds, equities,
fixed-rate loans in Norwegian kroner, fixed-rate securities issued in
Norwegian kroner, such as index-linked bonds and equity-linked
bank deposits and other fixed-rate deposits in Norwegian kroner.

Financial derivatives designated as hedging instruments

The banking group enters into hedging transactions to manage
interest rate risk on long-term borrowings and deposits in foreign
currencies. These transactions are recognised as fair value
hedges. See item Hedge accounting.

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost are recognised at
the transaction price plus direct transaction expenses. Subsequent
measurement follows the effective interest method, less any im-
pairment charges. The effective interest method is described under
Recognition in the income statement and in other comprehensive
income.

Interest income on financial instruments classified as lending is
presented within "Net interest income" using the effective interest
method.

A decrease in value on the balance sheet date based on
objective indications of impairment for loans valued at amortised
cost and in the portfolios of fixed-rate loans measured at fair value,
are presented within "Impairment of loans and guarantees".

Held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost and
recognised at the transaction price plus direct transaction ex-
penses. Subsequent measurement follows the effective interest
method, less any impairment charges. The effective interest
method is described under Recognition in the income statement
and in other comprehensive income.

Interest income relating to the instruments is presented within
"Net interest income". This category mainly comprises the inter-
national bond portfolio in DNB Markets.

Financial assets available for sale carried at fair value with
changes in value recognised in other comprehensive income
Financial assets in the available for sale category are recognised
at fair value with the subsequent change in fair value presented in
other comprehensive income. See below about the determination
of fair value. At the time of realisation the change in fair value shall
be included as a part of the gain that is presented in the income
statement. Financial assets are classified in this category if they do

not meet the criteria for being classified in any of the other cate-
gories presented above.

Other financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are recognised at the
transaction price plus direct transaction expenses. Interest ex-
penses on such instruments are presented within "Net interest
income" using the effective interest method. This category includes
deposits from customers and credit institutions, commercial paper
issued, bonds, subordinated loan capital and perpetual subordi-
nated loan capital securities.

Issued financial guarantees
Contracts resulting in the banking group having to reimburse the
holder for a loss incurred because a specific debtor fails to make
payment when due, are classified as issued financial guarantees.
On initial recognition, issued financial guarantees are recog-
nised at the consideration received for the guarantee. Issued
financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of
the consideration received for the guarantee excluding any
amortised amounts recognised in the income statement and the
best estimate of the payment due if the guarantee is honoured.
When issuing financial guarantees, the consideration for the
guarantee is presented within the line item "Provisions" in the
balance sheet. Changes in the carrying amount of financial
guarantees are recognised within the line item "Net gains on
financial instruments at fair value", except for changes related to
guarantees which are part of loans which are individually impaired.
Changes in the value of such guarantee contracts are recognised
within the line item "Impairment of loans and guarantees".

Financial instruments with the characteristics of equity
Issued additional Tier 1 capital instruments are instruments where
DNB Bank has a unilateral right not to repay interest or the princi-
pal to the investors. As a consequence of these terms, the instru-
ments do not meet the requirements for a liability and are therefore
presented on the line Additional Tier 1 capital within the banking
group’s equity. Transaction expenses and accrued interest are
presented as a reduction in Other equity, while the advantage of
the tax deduction for the interest will give an increase in Other
equity.

Equity in foreign currency shall be converted to Norwegian
kroner based on the exchange rate on the transaction date and is
not subject to subsequent revaluation.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and presented
net in the balance sheet when the banking group has a legally
enforceable right to offset recognised amounts and has agreed to
settle the balances on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. Master netting agreements or similar
agreements give the right to offset in the event of default. Such
agreements reduce the banking group’s exposure in the event of
default, but do not on their own qualify for offsetting in accordance
with IFRS, as there also needs, to be an intention to settle the
contractual cash flows net on an ongoing basis. See note 29
Offsetting for details about the financial assets and financial
liabilities subject to offsetting agreements.

Determination of fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received by selling an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Financial assets and liabili-
ties in active markets are measured at the price within the bid-ask
spread that is most representative of the fair value at the measure-
ment date. In most cases bid or asking prices for these instru-
ments are the most representative price for assets and liabilities
respectively. Derivatives which are carried net are recognised at
midmarket prices at the balance sheet date.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value are valued on a
daily basis with the exception of a few financial instruments that
are valued on a monthly or quarterly basis. As far as possible,
directly observable market prices are used. Valuations of the
various types of financial instruments are based on well-
acknowledged techniques and models. The prices and input
parameters used are controlled and assessed based on
established routines and control procedures.

The control environment for fair value measurement of
financial instruments is an integrated part of the company’s
financial reporting. A number of controls are carried out on a daily
basis, including controls of the day-one results on traded positions
and controls of the key input parameters in the valuation. At the
end of each month and quarter, extended controls are carried out
to ensure that the valuations are consistent with the accounting
policy for fair value including variation analyses. Special emphasis
is placed on valuations in the level 3 in the valuation hierarchy,
where the effects may be significant or particularly challenging.

Instruments traded in an active market

With respect to instruments traded in an active market, quoted
prices are used, obtained from a stock exchange, a broker or a
price-setting agency.

A market is considered active if it is possible to obtain external,
observable prices, exchange rates or interest rates and these
prices represent actual and frequent market transactions.

Some investments in equities and commercial paper and
bonds are traded in active markets.

Instruments not traded in an active market

Financial instruments not traded in an active market are valued
according to different valuation techniques and are divided into two
categories:

Valuation based on observable market data:

. recently observed transactions in the relevant instrument
between informed, willing and independent parties

. instruments traded in an active market which are substantially
similar to the instrument that is valued

. other valuation techniques where key parameters are based
on observable market data.

Valuation based on other factors than observable market data:
. estimated cash flows
= valuation of assets and liabilities in companies

. models where key parameters are not based on observable
market data

. possible industry standards

In the valuation of OTC derivatives, a fair value adjustment is
made for the counterparty’s credit risk (CVA) and for the banking
group’s own credit risk (DVA). In addition, an adjustment is made
for expected funding costs (FVA).

The banking group estimates CVA as a function of a simulated
expected positive exposure, the counterparty’s probability of de-
fault and loss given default. The majority of the banking group’s
derivative counterparties have no market-implied credit spread and
no external rating. Internal ratings are therefore combined with
historical credit default swap (CDS) spreads as well as current
CDS index prices to arrive at the counterparty’s estimated CDS
spreads. This means that the banking group uses its own credit
models and their discriminatory power, but calibrates against
pricing levels for similar credit risk in the market. The DVA is based
on the same approach, using an assessment of the banking
group’s credit spread.

FVA reflects the estimated present value of the future funding
costs associated with funding uncollateralised derivative ex-
posures. It is calculated by applying a funding spread above the
expected exposure. Funding benefits are not estimated for posi-
tions for which DNB calculates DVA.

For financial instruments measured by using valuation
techniques, a gain or loss might from time to time occur at initial
recognition when the estimated fair value is different from the
actual transaction price. When the measurement is based on non-
observable input parameters (level 3), the gain or loss is deferred
and therefore not recognised at day one. Fair value changes in
later period are only recognised to the extent the change is caused
by factors that market participants would take into account.

Impairment of financial assets

At end of each reporting period, the banking group consider
whether any objective evidence of impairment exist as a result of
one or more events have taken place after initial recognition (loss
event) and the loss event has impact on the estimated future cash
flows . A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired if
there is any objective evidence of impairment. Objective indica-
tions of impairment include an assessment of the following loss
events:

. serious financial problems on the part of the debtor,
. non-payment or other serious breaches of contract,

= the probability that the debtor will enter into debt negotiations
or

= other special circumstances that have occurred.

Renegotiation of loan terms to ease the position of the borrower
qualifies as a loss event.

Individual impairment of loans

If objective evidence of impairment exists, impairment of loans is
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the
net present value of estimated future cash flows discounted by the
original effective interest rate.

The business areas calculate estimated future cash flows
based on developments in the exposure, past experience with the
debtor, the probable outcome of negotiations and expected macro-
economic trends that will influence the customer’s cash flow. In
addition, the probability of debt settlement proceedings and bank-
ruptcies is taken into consideration, including the probability that
assets provided as collateral will be foreclosed. When measuring
collaterals, recognised methods for measuring underlying assets
are used.

Individual impairment of loans reduces the carrying amount of
loans and guarantees. Impairment during the period is recognised
as "Impairment of loans and guarantees" in profit or loss.

Collective impairment of loans

Loans which are not individually impaired are assessed collectively
for impairment. The assessment is based on whether objective
evidence of impairment exists that can be related to a group of
financial assets.

Loans are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk charac-
teristics and in accordance with the division of customers into
sectors or industries and risk categories. Impairment is estimated
per group of financial assets based on estimates of the general
economic situation and loss experience for the respective groups.

Collective impairment reduces the carrying amount of the line
item “Loans to customers” in the balance sheet. Changes during
the period are recognised within the line item "Impairment of loans
and guarantees" in the income statement. Like individual impair-
ment, collective impairment is discounted. The discount factor is
based on statistics derived from individual impairment.
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Repossession of assets

Assets which are repossessed as part of the management of non-
performing and impaired loans are recognised at fair value at the
time of acquisition. Such assets are recognised in the balance
sheet according to the nature of the asset. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the loan and the fair value of the asset is
presented within the line item “Impairment of loans and guaran-
tees” in the income statement. Subsequent valuations and presen-
tation of the impact to the income statement follow the principles
for the relevant balance sheet item.

Hedge accounting

When instruments are individually hedged, there is a clear, direct
and documented correlation between changes in the value of the
hedged item resulting from the hedged risk and changes in the
value of the financial derivative (hedging instrument).

Upon entering into the hedging relationship, the correlation
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument is docu-
mented. In addition, the underlying risk management objective and
strategy are documented. Changes in fair value related to the
hedged risk of the hedged item and instrument are evaluated
periodically to ensure the necessary hedge effectiveness. Hedging
instruments are recognised at fair value in the financial statements
and changes in the fair value are presented within "Net gains on
financial instruments at fair value" in the income statement.

For fair value hedging, the changes in the fair value of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk will be recognised as
an addition to or deduction from the balance sheet value of finan-
cial liabilities and assets and presented within "Net gains on
financial instruments at fair value" in the income statement.

If the hedge relationship ceases or adequate hedge effec-
tiveness cannot be verified, the accumulated change in fair value
of the hedged item is amortised over the remaining maturity.

The banking group undertakes hedging of investments in
foreign subsidiaries to eliminate the currency risk on the invested
amount. Hedging transactions are in the form of currency swaps or
long-term borrowings in foreign currency. In the consolidated
financial statement, the hedge relationships are presented as
hedging of net investments in international operations.

7. Investment property and fixed assets
Properties held to generate profits through rental income or for an
increase in value, are presented in the balance sheet as invest-
ment property. Other tangible assets are presented as fixed assets
in the balance sheet.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
cost including acquisition costs.

In subsequent periods, investment properties are measured at
fair value. Therefore, no annual depreciation is made on an invest-
ment property. Fair value is determined by using well-acknow-
ledged valuation techniques. Internal and external expertise is
used for valuations. A selection of external appraisals are obtained
and compared with internal valuations for control purposes.
Providers of valuations are also followed up on an ongoing basis
through dialogue and enquiries concerning the valuation of indi-
vidual properties. Changes in fair value of investment property are
recognised within the line item "Net gains on investment property"
in the income statement.

Other tangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenses
directly related to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent ex-
penses are capitalised on the relevant assets when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will
flow to DNB Bank and can be measured reliably. Expenses for
repairs and maintenance are recognised in the income statement
as they occur.

The residual values and useful lives of the assets are reviewed
annually and adjusted if required. Gains and losses on the sale of

fixed assets are recognised within the line item "Net gain on fixed
and intangible assets" in the income statement.

8. Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at the acquisition date, as the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for any non-controlling interest over the fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination. Goodwill acquired is allocated to each cash gene-
rating unit, or group of units, expected to benefit from the combina-
ion's synergies. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Development of IT systems and software

Acquired software is recognised at cost with the addition of ex-
penses incurred to make the software ready for use. Identifiable
costs for internally developed software controlled by the banking
group where it is probable that economic benefits will cover deve-
lopment expenses at the balance sheet date, are recognised as
intangible assets. When assessing balance sheet values, the
economic benefits are evaluated on the basis of profitability ana-
lyses. Development expenses include expenses covering pay to
employees directly involved in the project, materials and a share of
directly related overhead expenses. Expenses relating to main-
tenance of software and IT systems are charged to the income
statement as they occur. Software expenses recognised in the
balance sheet are depreciated according to a straight line principle
over their expected useful life, usually five years. The assessment
for whether there is a need for impairment is considered according
to the principles described below.

9. Impairment of fixed and intangible assets

At end of each reporting period the banking group considers
whether any indication of impairment of fixed or intangible assets
exists. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is calculated to estimate possible impairment. Goodwill and
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impair-
ment minimum once a year even if no indication of impairment
exists. DNB has chosen to perform this annual test in the fourth
quarter.

The recoverable amount represents the higher of an asset's
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. If the asset's
carrying amount exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the
asset is written down to its recoverable amount. See note 37 Intan-
gible assets for description of impairment testing.

The following relevant criteria are considered when assessing
whether indications of impairment exists:

= a decline in the asset's market value

. changes in the long-term return requirement which may affect
the discount rate used in the calculation of the asset's value
in use

= plans to restructure or liquidate the asset
=  the asset generates less income than anticipated.

Calculations of value in use are based on historical results and
plan figures approved by management. On the basis of plan
figures for the cash-generating units, a future cash flow is esti-
mated, defined as the potential return to the owner. The return
includes profits from the cash-generating unit adjusted for the need
to build sufficient capital to meet expected future capital adequacy
requirements. Higher capital requirements due to expanded opera-
tions could make it necessary to retain part of the profits or to
inject more capital from the owner, if profits from the cash-genera-
ting unit are not adequate to build the necessary capital. Beyond
the plan period, which is three years, cash flow trends are
assumed to reflect market expectations for the type of operations
carried out by the cash-generating unit. Future expected cash
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flows are established for a ten year period where the Gordons
growth formula is used to estimate the terminal value to be in-
cluded.

The required rate of return is based on an assessment of the
market's required rate of return for the type of operations carried
out by the cash-generating unit. The required rate of return reflects
the risk of the operations.

10. Pensions

DNB has country-specific pension schemes for its employees. In
Norway, DNB has a defined-contribution pension scheme. In 2015
and 2016, the pension scheme was by and large converted from a
defined-benefit pension scheme to defined-contribution pension
scheme. In that connection, an unfunded compensation scheme
was established. See note 24 Pensions for more information.

Defined-contribution pension schemes

Under defined-contribution pension schemes, the banking group
does not commit itself to paying specified future pension benefits,
but makes annual contributions to the employees' pension savings.
Future pensions will depend on the size of annual contributions
and the annual return on pension savings. After paying annual
contributions, the banking group has no further commitments
linked to employees' work performance. The expenses following
from the defined-contribution pension schemes are recognised in
the income statement

Defined-benefit pension schemes

Pension expenses are calculated based on a linear distribution of
pension entitlements measured against estimated accumulated
commitments at the time of retirement. Pension commitments are
matched against the pension funds in the schemes. Pension
commitments are estimated based on the present value of esti-
mated future pension payments at the balance sheet date. The
calculation of the pension commitments is based on actuarial and
economic assumptions about life expectancy, rise in salaries and
early retirement. The discount rate used is determined by refe-
rence to the yield on covered bonds at the balance sheet date,
plus an add-on that reflects the relevant duration of the pension
commitments.

11. Income tax

Taxes for the year comprise payable taxes for the financial year,
any payable taxes for previous years and changes in deferred
taxes on temporary differences. Temporary differences are differ-
rences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability and the
taxable value of the asset or liability. The most significant tempo-
rary differences refer to changes in the fair value of financial
assets and liabilities, pension obligations, depreciation of fixed
assets and properties and impairment losses for goodwill. Deferred
taxes are calculated on the basis of tax rates and tax rules that are
applied on the balance sheet date or are highly likely to be app-
roved and are expected to be applicable when the deferred tax
asset is realised or the deferred tax liability settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised in the balance sheet to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be avail-
able against which they can be utilised. Deferred taxes and de-
ferred tax assets within the same tax group are presented net in
the balance sheet.

Taxes payable and deferred taxes relating to elements of other
comprehensive income are presented net along with the related
income or cost in the comprehensive income statement.

12. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when it is probable that the DNB Bank
will need to settle a present obligation in connection with a past
event, and it can be reliably estimated.

If restructuring plans that change the scope of the banking
group’s operation or the way the banking group carries out its
operation are approved and communicated to the affected
employees, the need for restructuring provisions is considered.
This includes provisions for agreements on severance packages
with employees when used as part of the restructuring. The provi-
sions are reviewed on each reporting date and are reversed as
expenses are incurred.

Provisions are measured at best estimate, reviewed on each
reporting date and adjusted as necessary.

13. Leasing

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Other leases are
classified as operating leases.

DNB Bank as lessor

Operating leases

Operating leases are leases where not an insignificant share of the
risk and rewards relating to the investment in the leased object
accrues to DNB Bank at the end of the lease period. Operating
assets are recognised as fixed assets in the balance sheet. In-
come from operating leases is recognised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. Depreciation of the fixed assets is presented as
ordinary depreciation in the income statement.

Financial leases

Financial leases are presented as lending in the balance sheet,
and at inception the lease is measured at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease. The net investment represents mini-
mum lease payments, unguaranteed residual values and any
direct expenses incurred by the lessor in negotiating the lease,
discounted by the implicit interest rate (internal rate of return).
Leasing income is recognised in the income statement according
to the annuity method, where the interest component is recognised
within the line item "Net interest income" while instalments reduce
the balance sheet value of the loan.

DNB Bank as lessee

Operating leases

Lease payments are recognised in the income statement as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
of DNB Bank's use of the asset.

14. Cash flow statements

The cash flow statements show cash flows grouped according to
source and use. The cash flows are presented as operating active-
ties, investment activities or funding activities. Cash is defined as
cash, deposits with central banks and deposits with credit insti-
tutions with no agreed period of notice. The cash flow statement
has been prepared in accordance with the direct method.

15. Dividends

Proposed dividends are part of equity until approved by the
general meeting. At that time, the dividend is presented as liability
in the financial statement. Proposed dividends are not included in
capital adequacy calculations.
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16. Approved standards and interpretations

that have not entered into force
By the end of 2017 the IASB had published a number of amend-
ments to current regulations which have not entered into force.
Below is a description of the amendments which may have impact
on the banking group’s future reporting.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the new standard for financial

instruments IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The new standard is

effective from 1 January 2018 and replaces the current IAS 39.
The IFRS 9 accounting principles and disclosures on transition

are presented in note 49.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 was published by the IASB in May 2014 and establishes
a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from con-
tracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach to measuring and recognising revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRS. Contracts with customers that will be accounted for in accor-
dance with the IFRS 9 Financial instruments shall however follow
the requirements in IFRS 9 as they are scoped out of IFRS 15.

IFRS 15 will be effective as of 1 January 2018 and the
standard was endorsed by the EU in September 2016. The
banking group has analysed the impact of the new rules. No
significant changes have been identified in the way the banking
group recognises revenues. The banking group will apply the
standard from 2018.

IFRS 16 Leases

In January 2016, the IASB issued the new standard IFRS 16
“Leases”. The new standard will have large implications for
lessees, as all leases (with the exception of short-term leases and
small asset leases) will be recognised in the balance sheet as a
right-of-use asset with a corresponding liability. At initial recog-
nition, the lease liability and the right-of-use asset are measured
at the present value of future lease payments. Lease payments
shall be recognised as interest expenses and amortisations. The
accounting requirements for lessors are unchanged.

IFRS 16 was endorsed by the EU in October 2017 and will be
effective from 1 January 2019. The banking group has started to
analyse the consequences of the new standard. The major part of
the banking group’s lease liabilities arises from leases on comer-
cial real estate and IT equipment. It is too early to give a reliable
estimate of the effects on the banking group’s financial statements
when the banking group acts as lessee. The banking group will
apply the standard from 2019.

17. Important accounting estimates, judgments
and assumptions

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, manage-
ment makes estimates, judgment and assumptions that affect the
application of the accounting principles and the carrying amount of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates and assump-
tions are subject to continual evaluation and are based on histori-
cal experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be probable on the balance sheet date.

Impairment of loans

Estimates of future cash flows are based on empirical data and
management’s judgment of future macroeconomic developments
and developments in the performance of the actual loans and on
the situation at the balance sheet date. The estimates are the

result of a process which involves the business areas and central
credit units and represents management's best estimate.

When considering impairment of loans, there will be several
elements of uncertainty with respect to the identification of objec-
tive evidence of impairment, the estimation of amounts and the
timing of future cash flows, including the valuation of collateral.
See note 5 Credit risk for information about management and
follow-up of credit risk.

Individual impairment

When estimating impairment of individual loans and guarantees,
both the current and the future financial positions of the customer
are considered. For corporate customers, the prevailing market
situation is also reviewed, along with market conditions within the
relevant industry and general market conditions which could affect
the customers’ ability to repay the loans. In addition, the probability
and outcome of restructuring, refinancing and re-capitalisation are
taken into account, as well as the probability of bankruptcies and
the possible foreclosure of assets provided as collateral. There is
uncertainty related to the valuation of collateral for which no obser-
vable market data are available. An overall assessment of these
factors forms the basis for estimating the future cash flow. In the
event of a prolonged weak economic trend in certain industries
and/or geographical areas, the application of judgement and esti-
mations are more demanding. The discount period is estimated on
an individual basis or based on empirical data about the period it
normally takes to reach a solution to the problems that caused the
objective indication of impairment.

Collective impairment

The expected future cash flow is estimated on the basis of ex-
pected losses and the anticipated economic situation for the
respective groups. Expected losses are based on historical loss
experience for the relevant groups. The economic situation is
assessed by means of economic indicators for each group based
on external information about the markets. Various parameters are
used depending on the group in question. Key parameters are
production gaps, which give an indication of capacity utilisation in
the economy, housing prices, oil prices, salmon prices and
shipping freight rates. The economic indicators that are used show
a high degree of correlation with historical impairment. To estimate
the net present value of expected future cash flows for loans sub-
ject to collective impairment, a discount factor based on observed
empirical data from individually evaluated loans is used.

Fair value of financial derivatives and other financial
instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market is determined by using different valuation techni-
ques. The banking group considers and chooses techniques and
assumptions that as far as possible are based on observable
market data representing the market conditions on the balance
sheet date. When measuring financial instruments for which
observable market data are not available, the banking group
makes assumptions regarding what market participants would use
as the basis for valuing similar financial instruments. The value-
tions require application of significant judgment when calculating
liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility among others. Changes in
these factors would affect the estimated fair value of the banking
group's financial instruments. For more information see note 28
Financial instruments at fair value.
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Income taxes, including deferred tax assets and uncertain
tax liabilities

The banking group is subject to income taxes in a number of juris-
dictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the income
tax in the consolidated financial statements, including assess-
ments of recognised deferred tax assets and uncertain tax lia-
bilities.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable
that the banking group will have future taxable income against
which they can be utilised. Extensive assessments must be made
to determine the amount which can be recognised, included the
expected time of utilisation, the level of profits computed for tax

purposes as well as strategies for tax planning and the existence
of taxable temporary differences.

There will be uncertainty related to the final tax liability for
many transactions and calculations. The banking group recognises
liabilities related to the future outcome of tax disputes based on
estimates of changed income taxes. When assessing the uncertain
tax liabilities to be recognised in the balance sheet, the probability
of the liability arising is considered. If the final outcome of the tax
disputes deviates from the amounts recognised in the balance
sheet, the deviations will impact the income tax expense in the
income statement for the applicable period.
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Note 2 Segments

Financial governance in DNB is geared to the different customer segments. The follow-up of total customer relationships and segment
profitability are two important dimensions when making strategic priorities and deciding where to allocate the banking group’s resources. Special
product areas are responsible for production and development for parts of the product range and for ensuring that the banking group meets the
needs of the various customer segments. Reported figures for the different segments will reflect the banking group’s total sales of products and
services to the relevant customer segments. DNB’s Baltic operation became part of a joint venture with Nordea from 1 October 2017. The Baltic
operation was part of the Large corporates and international customers segment up until this date. Following the reorganisation announced in
September 2016, the DNB Bank Group has changed its distribution of the profit from DNB Finans’ operations between the three customer
segments. As of 1 January 2017, profit from DNB Finans’ operations in Sweden are divided between the personal customer segment, the small
and medium-sized enterprises segment and the large corporates and international customers segment. Profit from DNB Finans’ operations in
Denmark are divided between the small and medium-sized enterprises segment and the large corporates and international customers segment.
Previously, profits from these operations were included in the large corporates and international customers segment. The distribution of profit
from DNB Finans’ operations in Norway on the various segments has also been changed. Figures for 2016 have been adjusted
correspondingly.

Personal customers - includes the banking group’s total products and activities to private customers in all channels, both digital and
physical. DNB offers a wide range of products through Norway’s largest distribution network, comprising
branches, telephone banking (24/7), digital banking, real estate broking as well as external channels (post
offices and in-store postal and banking outlets). Credit cards and consumer financing in Sweden are also
included in this business area.

Small and medium-sized - s responsible for product sales and advisory services to small and medium-sized enterprises in Norway.

enterprises Customers in this segment range from small businesses and start-up companies to relatively large corporate
customers, and the product offerings are adapted to the customers’ different needs. Small and medium-sized
enterprises are served through the banking group’s physical distribution network throughout Norway as well as
digital and telephone banking (24/7). Factoring, leasing and asset financing for small and medium-sized
enterprises in Sweden and Denmark are also included in this business area.

Large corporates and - includes large Norwegian and international corporate customers. Operations are based on sound industry
international customers expertise and long-term customer relationships.
Trading - includes market making and other trading activities in fixed income, currencies and commaodities (FICC) as well

as equities, including risk management of the risk inherent in customer transactions. Markets’ trading activities
support the customer activities.

The income statement and balance sheet for the segments have been prepared on the basis of internal financial reporting for the functional
organisation of the DNB Bank Group into segments, as reported to group management (chief operating decision maker) for an assessment of
current developments and the allocation of resources. Figures for segments are based on the banking group’s accounting principles and DNB’s
management model. Allocation of costs and capital between segments involves a number of assumptions, estimates and discretionary
distributions.

Capital allocated to the segments is calculated on the basis of the DNB bank group’s common equity Tier 1 capital and long-term capitalisation
ambition. The allocation of capital to all units is based on the banking group’s adaptation to Basel Ill with capital requirement related to credit
risk, market risk and operational risk. The allocation of capital for credit risk is based on the DNB bank group’s internal measurement of risk-
adjusted capital requirements for credit. Capital requirements for market risk are allocated directly in accordance with risk-weighted volume, and
operational risk is allocated based on the respective units’ total income.

Income statement DNB Bank Group
Small and Large corporates Other

Personal medium-sized and international operations/ DNB Bank

customers enterprises customers Trading eliminiations * Group
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Net interest income 13 336 12 758 8578 7941 12 682 13182 (76) 28 1394 609 35914 34 517
Net other operating income 3716 3631 1549 1480 4897 5 255 2453 2976 (190) 1974 12425 15316
Total income 17 051 16 389 10 127 9421 17 579 18 437 2377 3004 1204 2582 48 339 49 833
Operating expenses (7626) (7910) (3420) (3152) (6360) (6103) (501) (547) (1554) (699) (19460) (18413)
Depreciation and impairment of fixed and intangible assets (106) (70) (686) (724) (727) (724) (1) (1) (949) (583) (2469) (2103)
Total operating expenses (7731) (7980) (4106) (3876) (7086) (6828) (502) (548) (2503) (1283) (21928) (20516)
Pre-tax operating profit before impairment 9320 8 409 6 021 5545 10 493 11 609 1876 2455  (1299) 1300 26 410 29 317
Net gains on fixed and intangible assets (0) 0 (1) 2 20 23 716 (44) 735 (19)
Impairment of loans and guarantees 2 (207) 379 (413) (1088) (1800) (6715) (8) (0) (2428) (7424
Profit from repc d operations 14 6 (19) 8 4 (14)
Pre-tax operating profit 9113 8788 5621 4 465 8 694 4925 1876 2455 (587) 1241 24718 21874
Tax expense (2278) (2197) (1405) (1116) (2434) (1330) (431) (614) 1646 1293 (4903) (3964)
Profit from operations held for sale, after taxes (1) (0) 3 (1) 2 (1) 4
Profit for the year 6 835 6 590 4216 3348 6 260 3599 1444 1841 1059 2536 19 813 17 914

1) See the tables below for more information about other Operations/eliminations.
2) See note 10 Impairment of loans and guarantees for principal customer groups for an analysis of the gross change in impairment for the banking group.
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Note 2 Segments (continued)

Balance sheets DNB Bank Group
Small and Large corporates Other

Personal medium-sized and international operations/ DNB Bank

customers enterprises customers Trading eliminations Group
Amounts in NOK billion 311217 31.12.16 311217 31.12.16 31.12.17 31.12.16 31.12.17 31.12.16 31.12.17 31.12.16 31.12.17 31.12.16
Loans to customers ¥ ? 747 706 291 266 410 500 39 30 45 9) 1531 1492
Assets held for sale 0 52 53
Other assets 21 26 12 10 82 135 1269 1240 (556) (608) 829 803
Total assets 768 732 303 276 492 635 1308 1270 (512) (565) 2 360 2348
Deposits from customers ¥ ? 403 397 207 190 326 379 a4 14 0 (34) 980 946
Liabilities held for sale 41 41
Other liabilities 327 298 71 60 94 172 1257 1249 (573) (608) 1176 1171
Total liabilities 730 696 277 249 419 551 1302 1263 (572) (601) 2156 2158
Allocated capital ¥ 38 37 26 26 73 84 6 7 61 36 204 190
Total liabilities and equity 768 732 303 276 492 635 1308 1270 (512) (565) 2360 2348

1) DNB's Baltic operation became part of a joint venture with Nordea from 1 October 2017. The Baltic operation was part of the Large corporates and international
customers segment up until this date. Loans to and deposits from customers in the Baltics were included under Large corporates and international customers as
at 31 December 2016 in spite of being reclassified as assets and liabilities held for sale in August 2016. The reclassification as at 31 December 2016 was
reflected under Other operations/elimination.

2) Loans to customers include accrued interest, impairment and value adjustments. Correspondingly, deposits from customers include accrued interest and value
adjustments. In November 2016, a portfolio of home mortgages amounting to approximately NOK 5 billion was sold from DNB Boligkreditt to DNB
Livsforsikring.. In the fourth quarter of 2016, commercial mortgages amounting to NOK 2.6 billion and 4.5 billion, respectively, were sold from DNB
Neeringskreditt and DNB Bank to DNB Livsforsikring, the lifeinsurance company owned by DNB ASA.

3) Allocated capital for the segments is calculated based on the external capital adequacy requirement (Basel Ill/Solvency Il) which must be met by the banking
group. The capital allocated in 2017 corresponds to a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 16.0 per cent compared to 17.2 per cent in 2016. Recorded capital is
used for the banking group.

Key figures DNB Bank Group
Small and Large corporates Other
Personal medium-sized and international operations/ DNB Bank
customers enterprises customers Trading eliminations Group
Per cent 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Cost/income ratio 453 48.7 40.5 41.1 40.3 37.0 21.1 18.3 454 41.2
Ratio of deposits to loans as at 31 December 2 54.0 56.3 70.9 713 79.5 75.9 64.0 63.4
Return on allocated capital 3 18.1 17.6 16.4 12.7 7.7 4.3 21.1 25.4 10.5 10.3

1) Total operating expenses relative to total income.

2) Deposits from customers relative to loans to customers.

3) Allocated capital for the segments is calculated based on the external capital adequacy requirement (Basel Ill/Solvency Il) which must be met by the banking
group. Recorded capital is used for the banking group.

Other operations/eliminations

Other operations/eliminations include IT, People & Operations, Group Finance including Group Treasury, Risk Management, Media &
Marketing, Compliance, New Business, the partially owned company Eksportfinans and investments in IT infrastructure. In addition, Other
operations/eliminations include that part of the banking group’s equity that is not allocated to the segments. Profits from repossessed operations
which are fully consolidated in the DNB Bank Group are presented net under "Profit from repossessed operations” in the internal reporting of
segments. The acquired companies and all intra-group eliminations are included in Other operations/eliminations.

In the third quarter of 2017 NOK 754 million was recognised as Net gains on fixed and intangible assets and presented within the Other
operations/eliminations following the establishment of Vipps AS and the agreement DNB entered into with 105 other Norwegian banks. DNB will
have an ownership interest in the new legal entity (Vipps AS) of close to 52 per cent. However, due to the terms and conditions in the
shareholder agreement, it has been decided to define Vipps AS as an associated company and the company is consolidated in DNB according
to the equity method. DNB can vote for 49.9 per cent at the General Meeting, and has three of seven board members.

Pre-tax operating profit DNB Bank Group
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Unallocated interest income 671 190
Guarantee fun levy (78) )
Income from equity investments (see note 20) 81 61
Gains on fixed and intangible assets 716 (44)
Mark-to-market adjustments on financial instruments (see note 20) (366) 436
Basis swaps (see note 20) (672) (542)
Profit from associated companies (112) 1190
Net gains on investment properties 185 34
Profit from repossessed operations 4 (14)
Unallocated personnel expenses (see note 21) (281) (136)
Unallocated It and Operations expenses 74 205
Impairment losses for goodwill relting to Cresco (502)

Other (307) (137)
Pre-tax operating profit (587) 1241
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Note 2 Segments (continued)

Geographic areas

Income statement DNB Bank Group
International DNB Bank
operations Norway Group
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Net interest income 6 095 7863 29818 26 654 35914 34517
Net other operating income 2 408 2687 10017 12629 12425 15316
Total income 8 504 10 550 39 835 39 283 48 339 49 833
Balance sheet items DNB Bank Group
International DNB Bank
operations Norway Group
Amounts in NOK billion 311217 311216 311217 311216 311217  31.12.16
Loans to customers 207 224 1325 1268 1531 1492
Total assets 243 314 2117 2034 2360 2348
Guarantees 32 35 66 63 98 99

Product information
See note 17 Net interest income, note 18 Interest rates on selected balance sheet items, note 19 Net commission and fee for further information
on products.

Note 3 Capitalisation policy and capital adequacy

The DNB Group aims to maintain a management buffer of approximately 1.0 percentage point in addition to the total regulatory common equity
Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio. The object of the management buffer is to cushion against fluctuations in risk-weighted assets and earnings that can
occur as a result of, for example, exchange rate movements or changes in credit spreads, and thereby enable the Group to maintain normal
growth in lending and a predictable dividend policy. At year-end 2017, the total regulatory CET1 capital ratio requirement was 15.2 per cent.
DNB'’s internal target was 16.1 per cent. The capitalisation targets relate to the Group’s risk-weighted assets at any given time. Norwegian
banks are subject to a transitional rule for capital adequacy calculations, which stipulates that total risk-weighted assets cannot be reduced
below 80 per cent of the corresponding figure calculated according to the Basel | regulations.

At year-end 2017, the DNB Bank Group had a CET1 capital ratio of 16.2 per cent and a capital adequacy ratio of 20.6 per cent, compared with
15.7 per cent and 20.0 per cent, respectively, a year earlier. Risk-weighted assets came to NOK 1 015 billion at year-end 2017, compared with
NOK 1 041 billion the year before.

DNB Bank ASA had a CET1 capital ratio of 17.7 per cent at year-end 2017, compared with 19.1 per cent a year earlier. The capital adequacy
ratio was 23.0 per cent at year-end 2017, compared with 24.8 per cent a year earlier.

At year-end 2017, DNB Boligkreditt AS had a CET1 capital ratio of 16.6 per cent and a capital adequacy ratio of 18.5 per cent, calculated
according to the transitional rules for risk-weighted assets. If the transitional rules were not applied, DNB Boligkreditt's CET1 capital ratio and
capital adequacy ratio would have been 21.4 and 24.0 per cent, respectively, at year-end 2017.

As a supplement to the risk-weighted capital adequacy regime, the Basel Committee introduced a new capital measure, "leverage ratio”

or non-risk based CET1 capital ratio. The Norwegian Ministry of Finance has set a minimum requirement for the leverage ratio in credit
institutions and investment firms in Norway that entered into effect as of 30 June 2017, calculated on the basis of CET1 capital including
additional Tier 1 capital. The basis of calculation consists of assets and off-balance sheet items converted by means of the conversion factors
used in the standardised approach for calculating ordinary capital adequacy. In addition, some special adjustments are made for derivatives
and repo transactions. Insurance operations are not included. The definitions of capital and the basis of calculation are in conformity with
international rules. The Norwegian leverage ratio requirement consists of a minimum requirement of 3 per cent that will apply to all financial
institutions, a mandatory 2 per cent buffer for banks and an additional mandatory buffer of 1 per cent for systematically important banks. DNB
is the only institution in Norway that will be required to have a leverage ratio of 6 per cent.

The DNB Bank Group calculates its leverage ratio in accordance with the revised article 429 of the CRR, and the European Commission
Regulation that entered into force on 18 January 2015. At year-end 2017, the Bank Group’s leverage ratio was 6.9 per cent, compared with 7.1
per cent a year earlier. DNB meets the minimum requirement of 6 per cent by a wide margin.
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Note 3

Capitalisation policy and capital adequacy (continued)

Capital adequacy
Capital adequacy is calculated and reported in accordance with Norwegian regulations, which are broadly in line with the EU capital require-
ments regulations for credit institutions and investment firms (CRD IV/CRR). The regulatory consolidation deviates from consolidation in the
accounts and comprises the parent company, subsidiaries and associated companies within the financial sector. Associated companies are
consolidated pro rata.

DNB Bank ASA

Primary capital

DNB Bank Group

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
168 104 169 720 Total equity 203 685 190 078
Effect from regulatory consolidation 183 (181)
(15 574) (15 574) Additional Tier 1 capital instruments included in total equity (15 574) (15 574)
(284) (439) Net accrued interest on additional Tier 1 capital instruments (439) (284)
152 246 153 708 Common equity Tier 1 capital instruments 187 856 174 039
Deductions
Pension funds above pension commitments

(2 900) (2 404) Goodwill (2 559) (2 951)
(224) (584) Deferred tax assets that are not due to temporary differences (454) (482)
(699) (1110) Other intangible assets (1984) (946)
Group contribution, payable (15 804) (5 084)
(6) (951) Expected losses exceeding actual losses, IRB portfolios (1 915) (153)
(479) (449) Value adjustments due to the requirements for prudent valuation (AVA) (720) (786)
107 123 Adjustments for unrealised losses/(gains) on debt recorded at fair value 123 (90)

Adjustments for unrealised losses/(gains) arising from the institution's own
(580) (481) credit risk related to derivative liabilities (DVA) (113) (159)
147 467 147 851 Common equity Tier 1 capital 164 431 163 388
17 471 15574 Additional Tier 1 capital instruments 15574 17 471
164 938 163 425 Tier 1 capital 180 005 180 860
5602 5361 Perpetual subordinated loan capital 5361 5602
21 249 23 897 Term subordinated loan capital 23 897 21249
26 851 29 258 Tier 2 capital 29 258 26 851
191 789 192 683 Total eligible capital 209 263 207 711
773 244 835 986 Risk-weighted volume, transitional rules 1014 683 1040 888
61 860 66 879 Minimum capital requirement, transitional rules 81175 83 271
19.1 17.7 Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio, transitional rules (%) 16.2 15.7
21.3 19.5 Tier 1 capital ratio, transitional rules (%) 17.7 17.4
24.8 23.0 Capital ratio, transitional rules (%) 20.6 20.0
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Note 3 Capitalisation policy and capital adequacy (continued)

Basel IlI
The majority of the credit portfolios are reported according to the IRB approach. However, one portfolio, banks and financial institutions
(DNB Bank) is still subject to final IRB approval from Finanstilsynet.

Specification of risk-weighted volume and capital requirements DNB Bank ASA
Average
Nominal risk weights Risk-weighted Capital Capital
exposure EAD Y in per cent volume requirements requirements
Amounts in NOK million 31Dec.2017 31 Dec.2017 31 Dec.2017  31Dec.2017  31Dec.2017 31 Dec. 2016
IRB approach
Corporate 716 183 581 120 54.9 319 273 25542 23 407
Specialised Lending (SL) 10 551 9615 51.5 4948 396 311
Retail - mortgage loans 100 735 100 735 24.5 24 677 1974 1593
Retail - other exposures 99 660 85 663 25.5 21812 1745 1901
Securitisation 9613 9613 81.4 7827 626 937
Total credit risk, IRB approach 936 742 786 746 48.1 378 536 30283 28 150
Standardised approach
Central government 84 822 53137 0.1 74 6 6
Institutions 596 082 412 768 22.9 94 629 7570 6194
Corporate 102 578 81 346 93.1 75735 6 059 6 009
Retail - mortgage loans 8187 7661 39.2 3004 240 210
Retail - other exposures 102 158 35 316 74.5 26 300 2104 2018
Equity positions 124 991 124 991 100.2 125 224 10 018 9639
Other assets 16 076 16 076 147.6 23725 1898 820
Total credit risk, standardised approach 1034 894 731294 47.7 348 692 27 895 24 896
Total credit risk 1971 636 1518 040 47.9 727 228 58 178 53 045
Market risk
Position risk, debt instruments 20 253 1620 1855
Position risk, equity instruments 262 21 25
Currency risk
Commodity risk 23 2 6
Credit value adjustment risk (CVA) 11 098 888 974
Total market risk 31637 2531 2860
Operational risk 77122 6170 5 955
Total risk-weighted volume and capital requirements before transitional rule 835 986 66 879 61 860

Additional capital requirements according to transitional rules

Total risk-weighted volume and capital requirements 835 986 66 879 61 860

1) EAD, exposure at default.
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Note 3 Capitalisation policy and capital adequacy (continued)

Specification of risk-weighted volume and capital requirements

DNB Bank Group

Average
Nominal risk weights Risk-weighted Capital Capital
exposure EAD Y in per cent volume requirements requirements
Amounts in NOK million 31Dec.2017 31 Dec.2017 31 Dec.2017  31Dec.2017  31Dec.2017 31 Dec. 2016
IRB approach
Corporate 964 724 790 118 55.7 439 960 35197 32619
Specialised Lending (SL) 11582 10 645 53.3 5676 454 356
Retail - mortgage loans 748 668 748 668 22.1 165 245 13 220 12 465
Retalil - other exposures 99 660 85 663 25.5 21812 1745 1901
Securitisation 9613 9613 81.4 7827 626 937
Total credit risk, IRB approach 1834 246 1644 706 38.9 640 519 51 241 48 279
Standardised approach
Central government 107 116 76 481 0.1 74 6 7
Institutions 286 838 142 630 29.0 41 400 3312 2243
Corporate 174 572 141 048 87.0 122 703 9816 8 799
Retail - mortgage loans 58 925 56 340 49.0 27 588 2207 1805
Retalil - other exposures 117 871 47 773 77.0 36 765 2941 2939
Equity positions 8049 8048 102.9 8281 662 703
Securitisation 41
Other assets 10 880 10 880 58.9 6410 513 859
Total credit risk, standardised approach 764 251 483 198 50.3 243 221 19 458 17 395
Total credit risk 2 598 497 2127 905 41.5 883 739 70 699 65 674
Market risk
Position risk, debt instruments 13997 1120 1169
Position risk, equity instruments 262 21 25
Currency risk
Commodity risk 23 2 6
Credit value adjustment risk (CVA) 5867 469 493
Total market risk 20 150 1612 1692
Operational risk 89 234 7139 6 675
Total risk-weighted volume and capital requirements before transitional rule 993 123 79 450 74042
Additional capital requirements according to transitional rules ? 21 560 1725 9229
Total risk-weighted volume and capital requirements 1014 683 81175 83271

1) EAD, exposure at default

2) Due to transitional rules, the minimum capital adequacy requirements cannot be reduced below 80 per cent of the corresponding figure calculated according to

the Basel | regulations.
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Note 4 Risk management

Risk management in DNB

The Board of Directors of DNB ASA has a clearly stated goal to maintain a low overall risk profile and to maintain an AA level rating for ordinary
long-term debt. The profitability of DNB will depend on the ability to identify, manage and accurately price risk arising in connection with financial
services.

Organisation and authorisation structure

= Board of Directors. The Board of Directors of DNB ASA sets long-term targets for the Group’s risk profile. The risk profile is operationalised
through the risk management framework, including the establishment of authorisations. Risk-taking should take place within established
limits.

= Authorisations. Authorisations must be in place for the extension of credit and for position and trading limits in all critical financial areas.

= All authorisations are personal. Authorisations and group limits are determined by the Board of Directors and can be delegated in the
organisation, though any further delegation requires approval by an immediate superior.

= Annual review of limits. Risk limits are reviewed at least annually in connection with budget and planning processes.

= Independent risk management functions. Risk management functions and the development of risk management tools are undertaken by
units that are independent of operations in the individual business areas.

Roles and responsibilities
Risk management in DNB is based on a model with three lines of defence:

= The first line of defence is the operational management’s governance and internal control, including processes and activities to reach
defined goals relating to operational efficiency, reliable financial reporting and compliance with laws and regulations. The operational
management is responsible for all risk associated with the unit's activities and processes.

=  The second line of defence is an independent function which monitors and follows up the operational management’s governance and
internal control. The second line of defence is responsible for setting the premises for risk management, coordination across organisational
units and risk reporting.

. The third line of defence is Group Audit, which reviews and evaluates group management’s overall governance and internal control. Group
Audit is independent of the Group’s executive management and reports to the Board of Directors of DNB ASA

Monitoring and use

= Accountability. All executives are responsible for risk within their own area of responsibility and must consequently be fully updated on the
risk situation at all times.

= Risk reporting. Risk reporting in the Group ensures that all executives have the necessary information about current risk levels and future
developments. To ensure high-quality, independent risk reports, responsibility for reporting is assigned to units that are independent of the
operative units.

= Capital assessment. A summary and analysis of the Group's capital and risk situation is presented in a quarterly risk report to DNB ASA's
Board of Directors.

= Use of risk information. Risk is an integral part of the management and monitoring of business areas. Risk-adjusted return is reflected in
product pricing, profit calculations and in monitoring performance in the business areas.

Relevant risk measures

= Risk appetite. DNB monitors risk through defined targets and limits. The risk appetite framework consists of 16 statements covering the risk
dimensions which are considered to be significant for the DNB Group, and which added up give a good view of the total risk. Developments
in the target figures are monitored and reported monthly to the group management team and quarterly to DNB’s Board of Directors. See
separate paragraph on risk appetite.

= A common risk measure for the Group. The Group's risk is measured in the form of economic capital, calculated for all of the Group's
business areas and main risk categories, with the exception of liquidity risk. See separate paragraph on economic capital.

= Supplementary risk measure. In addition, risk is followed up through supplementary risk measures adapted to operations in the various
business areas, for example monitoring of positions relative to limits, key figures and portfolio risk targets.

Risk categories
In DNB, risk is divided into six main categories which are subject to special measurement and monitoring.

= Credit risk is the risk of financial losses due to failure on the part of the Group’s customers to meet their payment obligations. Credit risk
refers to all claims against customers, principally loans, but also obligations related to other approved credits, guarantees, fixed-income
securities, undrawn credits and interbank deposits. Credit risk also includes residual value risk and concentration risk. Residual value risk is
the risk that the value of collateral securing the exposure is lower than expected. Concentration risk includes risk associated with large
exposures to a single customer and clusters of loans in geographical areas or industries, or with homogeneous customer groups.
Counterparty risk is also a type of credit risk and arises through derivative trading. There are significant elements of counterparty risk
relating to payment transfers and the settlement of contracts, but these are not included in the definition of credit risk.
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Note 4 Risk management (continued)

= Market risk is the risk of losses due to unhedged positions in the foreign exchange, interest rate, commodity and equity markets. The risk
arises in consequence of fluctuations in profits due to changes in market prices or exchange rates. Market risk includes both risk that arises
through ordinary trading activities and risk that arises as part of banking activities and other business operations. In addition, market risk
arises in DNB Livsforsikring AS, reflecting the risk that the return on financial assets will not be sufficient to meet the obligations specified in
insurance policies.

= Operational risk is the risk of losses due to deficiencies or errors in internal processes and systems, human errors or external events.
Operational risk also includes compliance risk, legal risk, conduct risk and IT risk, including information security. It does not include strategic
risk or reputational risk. Operational risk applies to the entire organisation, and an operational risk event can affect different parts of the
organisation in various ways. Compliance risk is the risk of losses in consequence of the violation of laws and regulations. Legal risk is
related to the documentation and interpretation of contracts and different legal practices in countries where the bank has operations.
Conduct risk is defined as the existing or potential risk of losses related to improper deliveries of financial services or losses resulting from
generally reprehensible conduct.

. Insurance risk is incurred by DNB Livsforsikring AS and DNB Forsikring AS and is related to changes in future insurance obligations. Within
life insurance, such risk reflects changes in policyholders’ life expectancy and disability rates. Within non-life insurance, insurance risk is
related to the frequency and size of future claims payments.

. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations as they fall due, and the risk that the Group will be unable to
meet its liquidity obligations without a substantial rise in appurtenant costs. Liquidity is vital to financial operations. This risk category will
often be conditional in the respect that it will not materialise until other events give rise to concern regarding the Group’s ability to meet its
obligations.

= Business risk relates to fluctuations in profits due to changes in external factors such as the market situation, government regulations or the
loss of income due to a weakened reputation. Reputational risk is often a consequence of other risk categories. The Group’s business risk is
primarily handled through the strategy process and ongoing efforts to safeguard and improve the Group’s reputation. When determining and
following up the Group’s risk appetite, reputational risk is defined as a separate risk dimension. Reputational risk is followed up by
monitoring media coverage, while the competitive situation is followed up by analysing market trends and developments in market shares.

In addition to the above-mentioned risk categories the Group is exposed to strategic risk, which can be defined as the risk of a decline in profits
if the Group fails to exploit existing strategic opportunities. The Group’s strategic risk is not measured or reported individually, but is discussed
as part of the annual strategy process.

Risk appetite

The Board of Directors of DNB ASA sets long-term targets for the risk profile through the risk appetite framework. The risk appetite framework
aims to ensure that risk is managed and integrated with the Group’s governance processes. The risk appetite framework should provide

a holistic and balanced view of the risk in the business. In 2017, the framework consisted of 16 statements. To support the framework a set of
governance principles and operational procedures and responsibilities within the

DNB Group have been defined. The targeted risk profile will also be reflected in other parts of the risk management, including the establishment
of authorisations and business limits. The risk appetite framework will be reviewed at least annually. The Board of Directors also regularly
reviews risk levels, the framework structure and the reporting of relevant risk categories.

The limits in the risk appetite framework are operationalised in the business areas and support units. In the Group’s governance system, the risk
appetite framework is implemented in the form of target figures for selected risk indicators. The risk indicators will typically take the form of limits
(for quantifiable risk) or qualitative assessments of the risk level. They do not need to be based on the same measurement parameters as the
ones used at group level, though they must support the same risk types and show the same trend. Continual monitoring of these target figures
will ensure that the risks that are considered to be the most significant are also subject to monitoring and discussion in operative units in the
organisation.

Economic capital for the DNB Bank Group

DNB quantifies economic capital for all main risk categories. A simulation model, the total risk model, is used to calculate unexpected losses for
both the various risk categories and in total for the Group. Calculations are made for all significant profit centres, customers and products. The
quantification is based on statistical probability calculations for the various risk categories on the basis of historical data. In cases where
historical data is of inadequate quality, discretionary assessments are also made. The model initially simulates the risk of losses associated with
the various risk categories separately, whereafter the total risk is estimated. A diversification effect arises when the various risks are considered
together, as it is unlikely that all losses will occur at the same time. The diversification effect between risk categories and business areas implies
that the Group's economic capital will be much lower than if the business areas had been independent companies.

DNB has stipulated that economic capital shall cover 99.9 per cent of potential unexpected losses with a one-year horizon. The confidence level
has been adjusted down from 99.97 per cent in 2017 to be more comparable with regulatory capital.
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Note 5 Credit risk

Credit risk or counterparty risk is the risk of financial losses due to failure on the part of the banking group's customers/counterparties to meet
their payment obligations towards the banking group. Credit risk refers to all claims against customers/counterparties, mainly loans, but also
commitments in the form of other extended credits, guarantees, interest-bearing securities, unutilised credit lines, derivative trading and
interbank deposits. Credit risk also includes residual value risk and concentration risk. Residual value risk is the risk that the value of collateral
securing exposure is lower than expected. Concentration risk includes risk associated with large exposures to a single customer and clusters of
commitments in geographical areas or industries, or with homogeneous customer groups.

Credit risk management and measurement is described in further detail in the Risk and Capital Management (Pillar 3) report. The banking group
guidelines for credit activity are approved by the Boards of Directors of DNB Bank ASA. The principal objective of credit activity is to ensure that
the quality and composition of the loan portfolio provide a good basis for the banking group’s short and long-term profitability. The quality of the
portfolio should be consistent with DNB’s aim of maintaining a low risk profile. See also note 4 Risk management, in which credit risk for the
banking group is quantified in the form of risk-adjusted economic capital.

The maximum credit risk exposure will be the carrying amount of financial assets plus unrecorded exposure, which mainly includes guarantees,
unutilised credit lines and loan offers. Guarantees, unutilised credit lines and loan offers are specified in note 48 Off-balance sheet transactions
and contingencies. The maximum credit risk exposure and related collateral are shown below.

Credit risk exposure and collateral as at 31 December 2017 DNB Bank ASA
Maximum
exposure to Secured by Collateralised Other
Amounts in NOK million credit risk real estate by securities collateral
Deposits with central banks 150 157
Due from credit institutions 580 973 192 707 39
Loans to customers 730 782 264 653 62 769 219991
Commercial paper and bonds 271 607
Financial derivatives 146 953 1753 95 973
Other assets 21 630
Total maximum exposure to credit risk reflected on the balance sheet 1902 102 264 653 257 229 316 003
Guarantees 83 291 9995 185 36 808
Unutilised credit lines and loan offers 488 943 18 444 218 50 764
Other commitments 4103
Total maximum exposure to credit risk not reflected on the balance sheet 576 338 28 439 403 87572
Total 2 478 440 293 092 257 631 403 575
Credit risk exposure and collateral as at 31 December 2016 DNB Bank ASA
Maximum
exposure to Secured by Collateralised Other
Amounts in NOK million credit risk real estate by securities collateral
Deposits with central banks 206 982
Due from credit institutions 549 093 153938 23
Loans to customers 690 060 240 109 49 187 217 055
Commercial paper and bonds 236 120
Financial derivatives 170 317 919 123991
Other assets 12 726
Total maximum exposure to credit risk reflected on the balance sheet 1865 298 240 109 204 044 341 069
Guarantees 88 679 8543 162 33410
Unutilised credit lines and loan offers 479792 16 278 92 51777
Other commitments 3861
Total maximum exposure to credit risk not reflected on the balance sheet 572 332 24 821 255 85 187
Total 2 437 630 264 930 204 299 426 256
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Note 5 Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk exposure and collateral as at 31 December 2017 DNB Bank Group
Maximum
exposure to Secured by Collateralised Other
Amounts in NOK million credit risk real estate by securities collateral
Deposits with central banks 150 569
Due from credit institutions 237 849 192 707 39
Loans to customers 1531 345 925 151 63 698 297 158
Commercial paper and bonds 266 642
Financial derivatives 132 649 1753 95 368
Other assets 7361
Total maximum exposure to credit risk reflected on the balance sheet 2 326 415 925 151 258 158 392 565
Guarantees 86 832 9999 185 36 952
Unutilised credit lines and loan offers 589 623 85 699 218 76 721
Other commitments 4170
Total maximum exposure to credit risk not reflected on the balance sheet 680 625 95 697 403 113673
Total 3007 040 1020 848 258 560 506 238
Credit risk exposure and collateral as at 31 December 2016 DNB Bank Group
Maximum
exposure to Secured by Collateralised Other
Amounts in NOK million credit risk real estate by securities collateral
Deposits with central banks 207 279
Due from credit institutions 174 908 153938 23
Loans to customers 1492 268 885 859 50 295 330 159
Commercial paper and bonds 230 647
Financial derivatives 157 957 919 123972
Other assets 7414
Total maximum exposure to credit risk reflected on the balance sheet 2270472 885 859 205 152 454 153
Guarantees 92 012 8 753 162 33708
Unutilised credit lines and loan offers 606 122 79 219 92 78 869
Other commitments 3985 18
Total maximum exposure to credit risk not reflected on the balance sheet 702 119 87 972 255 112 595
Total 2972591 973 831 205 407 566 748

1) Other collateral includes the assessed fair value of movables, sureties, ships and cash as well as other credit enhancements, such as netting agreements and
guarantees received.

The table above includes on and off-balance sheet items which entail credit risk and the assessed value of related collateral. If available, fair
values are used. In general, fair values are estimated according to different techniques depending on the type of collateral. With respect to
properties, models estimating the value of collateral based on market parameters for similar properties, are used. Corresponding technigques are
used for other non-financial collateral. In order to reflect the effective available collateral value, the fair value of collateral included in the table is
limited to the maximum credit exposure of the individual loan or exposure.

Comments to the main items as at 31 December 2017:

. Deposits with central banks: Deposits with Norges Bank totalled NOK 3 251 million. DNB engages only in short-term transactions with
central banks outside Norway, mainly in OECD countries.

. Loans to customers: See further description under "Guidelines for credit activity".
. Commercial paper and bonds: See further description under "Credit exposure of other financial assets".

] Financial derivatives: Other collateral represents netting opportunities against other outstanding balances with customers and cash
collateral received.

= Guarantees: See further description under "Guidelines for credit activity".

Ll Unutilised credit lines and loan offers: Offers of loans, credits and credit lines totalling NOK 111 669 million for the DNB Bank Group and
for the DNB Bank ASA were included in the maximum credit exposure. No formal collateral has been established for such exposure, and
the assessed value is not included in the table. Collateral is established once the offers are accepted by the customers. The assessment of
the value of any collateral established in connection with such offers follows the procedure and criteria described under "Guidelines for
credit activity".
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Note 5 Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk exposure of loans and commitments
Notes 6 and 7 show the banking group’s credit risk exposure for principal customer groups and according to geographic location. Notes 8
through 11 show impaired loans and guarantees and impairment of loans and guarantees.

Classification of loans and commitments

DNB's internal models for risk classification of customers are subject to continual improvement and testing. The models are adapted to different
industries and segments and are updated if calibrations show that their explanatory power has diminished over time. DNB has been granted
permission to use IRBA models in capital adequacy calculations for the corporate portfolio, for other portfolios IRB is being used. The same
models are used in calculations of capital requirements and in risk management.

All corporate customers granted credit must be classified according to risk in connection with every significant credit approval and, unless
otherwise decided, at least once a year. In the personal banking market, where there is a large number of customers, the majority of credit
decisions should be made on the basis of automated scoring and decision support systems. Risk classification should reflect long-term risk
associated with each customer and the customer’s credit commitment.

The risk classification systems are used as decision support, monitoring and reporting. The risk parameters used in the classification systems
are an integrated part of the credit process and ongoing risk monitoring, including the follow-up of credit strategies.

Probability of default, PD, is used to measure quality. The bank divides its portfolio into ten risk classes based on the probability of default for
each credit commitment.

DNB's risk classification
Probability of default

(per cent) External rating
Risk class As from Up to Moody's Standard & Poor's
1 0.01 0.10 Aaa— A3 AAA - A-
2 0.10 0.25 Baal — Baa2 BBB+ — BBB
3 0.25 0.50 Baa3 BBB-
4 0.50 0.75 Bal BB+
5 0.75 1.25 Ba2 BB
6 1.25 2.00
7 2.00 3.00 Ba3 BB-
8 3.00 5.00 B1 B+
9 5.00 8.00 B2 B
10 8.00 impaired B3, Caa/C B-, CCC/C

1) DNB's risk classification system, where 1 represents the lowest risk and 10 the highest risk.

Loans and commitments according to risk classification DNB Bank ASA
Total

Gross loans Guarantee Unutilised loans and

Amounts in NOK million to customers _commitments credit lines commitments

Risk category based on probability of default

1-4 418 622 57 110 321435 797 167

5-7 193 767 12 899 50 734 257 400

8- 10 64 129 9015 12 021 85 164
Non-performing and impaired loans and commitments 22 048 1885 1514 25 447
Total loans and commitments as at 31 December 2016 698 565 80 909 385 703 1165178
Risk category based on probability of default

1-4 471799 50 560 316 374 838734

5-7 195 270 17 877 51 057 264 204

8-10 52 415 6291 8333 67 039
Non-performing and impaired loans and commitments 18 691 1582 1382 21 655
Total loans and commitments as at 31 December 2017 738175 76 309 377 146 1191631

1) Based on nominal amounts.

Loan-loss level ¥ 2017 2016

Normalised losses including loss of interest income in per cent of net loans 0.28 0.33

1) The calculation of the loan-loss level is based on an evaluation of the probability of future losses (default frequency), exposure at default and the size of the
estimated loss (loss ratio). Calculations are based on a certain level of discretion and estimation.
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Note 5 Credit risk (continued)

Loans and commitments according to risk classification DNB Bank Group
Total

Gross loans Guarantee Unutilised loans and

Amounts in NOK million to customers commitments credit lines commitments

Risk category based on probability of default

1-4 1016 937 58 948 469 223 1545 108

5-7 367 157 14 091 70 838 452 086

8-10 88 700 9 946 29 563 128 209
Non-performing and impaired loans and commitments 30551 1903 1702 34 156
Total loans and commitments as at 31 December 2016 1503 345 84 889 571 326 2 159 559
Risk category based on probability of default

1-4 1088 520 51 680 456 684 1596 884

5-7 356 199 18 830 68 609 443 637

8-10 71687 6903 24 784 103 374
Non-performing and impaired loans and commitments 24 454 1586 1523 27 564
Total loans and commitments as at 31 December 2017 » 1540 860 78 998 551 600 2171 458

1) Based on nominal amounts.

Loan-loss level ¥ 2017 2016

Normalised losses including loss of interest income in per cent of net loans 0.23 0.27

1) The calculation of the loan-loss level is based on an evaluation of the probability of future losses (default frequency), exposure at default and the size of the
estimated loss (loss ratio). Calculations are based on a certain level of discretion and estimation.

Guidelines for credit activity

DNB'’s guidelines and processes for approving credits are described in the group guidelines for credit activity. The guidelines describe how DNB
shall grant and follow up credit exposures in the various segments. Detailed descriptions are given of the assessment of new customers, follow-
up of healthy credit exposures, follow-up of customers in financial difficulty and procedures for handling doubtful and non-performing loans.

The granting of credit in DNB is based on authorisation and approval matrices. As a fundamental principle, one person makes a recommend-
dation and another one approves it, which takes place through the authorisation and approval matrices. The matrices are differentiated on the
basis of volume, risk and, if relevant, industry. While only two persons may be involved in (recommending and approving) a low-risk exposure in
the form of a home mortgage, recommendations for large/complex exposures must be endorsed by a senior credit officer. In addition, advice will
be sought from credit committees, and the involvement of industry specialists may be required.

A decisive element when granting credit is the customers’ debt servicing capacity in the form of ongoing future cash flows, such as earned
income or income from the business operations which are being financed. The bank seeks to further mitigate the risk of losses in connection
with a possible future reduction in cash flows or default by requiring that collateral be furnished.

Collateral can be in the form of physical assets, guarantees, cash deposits or netting agreements. As a rule, physical collateral shall be insured.
Negative pledges, whereby customers undertake to keep their assets free from encumbrances vis-a-vis other lenders, are also used as a risk-
mitigating measure.

In addition to collateral, most corporate credit agreements will include financial covenants, which represent an additional risk-mitigating element
to ensure that DNB becomes aware of and involved in any financial challenges at an early stage. Examples of financial covenants are minimum
net cash flow and equity ratio requirements.

Monitoring credit risk

Performing customers

According to the guidelines for credit activity for corporate customers, a credit assessment shall be made of all customers at least once a year.
This is a complete review of all risks identified by DNB relating to the customer. A new evaluation of all collateral (provided) is an integral part of
the annual review. The decision-making and authorisation matrices shall also be used in connection with the renewal of all existing credits and
thus ensure that persons with relevant expertise are always involved when considering large and complicated exposures.

Personal customers are followed up through a systematic portfolio management system. Exposures are followed up individually if heightened
risk has been identified.

Watchlist

The watchlist is the Group’s primary tool for following up corporate customers when a risk has arisen which requires special monitoring. If
customers breach financial covenants or a loss event requiring special monitoring has occurred, it will be considered whether to place the
exposure on the watchlist. Loss events include serious financial problems or major changes in market conditions. In addition, all customers in
the high-risk segment (risk grades 8-10) will be watchlist candidates. It is an integral part of credit activity to consider whether to place high-risk
customers on the watchlist. Watchlisted customers are subject to special monitoring. More frequent, often quarterly risk assessments are
required, including an updated valuation of collateral. In addition, an action plan must be prepared to get out of the risk situation that has arisen.
The patrticularly close follow-up of customers facing greater challenges is based on the bank’s experience that special monitoring both reduces
the risk that losses will occur and minimises the losses that actually materialise. Each time watchlisted exposures are reviewed, the need for
impairment losses will be considered.
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Note 5 Credit risk (continued)

Granting concessionary treatment of customers

If a customer gets into financial difficulties, DNB may in some cases grant voluntary concessions in the form of less stringent financial covenants
or reduced/deferred interest and instalment payments. Such measures are offered in accordance with the Group’s credit guidelines, thus aiming
to help customers through a tough financial period when it is expected that they will meet their obligations on a later date. This is part of DNB'’s
strategy to reduce losses. DNB Bank ASA's total forbearance exposures, in accordance with the definition of forbearance in CRD IV, totalled
approximately NOK 37 billion at year-end 2017.

Loss and non-performing portfolio

In the event of losses or non-performance, customers are closely monitored. In the bank’s experience, other supplementary resources are
required during this stage than for performing customers. Customer exposures which fall into this category will either be transferred in their
entirety to a separate unit with special expertise in this field, or persons from this unit will join the customer team.

Repossessed companies and assets

In connection with the follow-up of impaired and non-performing exposures, DNB will in some cases take over assets provided as collateral for
loans and guarantees. All acquired companies are followed up by the Group Investment unit, whose main target is to secure/recover values for
DNB'’s shareholders through financial restructuring when companies and properties are repossessed due to default. See separate paragraph
below for details on repossessed assets.

Past due loans not subject to impairment

The table below shows overdue amounts on loans and overdrafts on credits/deposits and the total residual debt for these loans broken

down on the number of days after the due date, assuming a deterioration of customer solvency or unwillingness to pay. Past due loans and
overdrafts on credits/deposits are subject to continual monitoring. Loans and guarantees where any objective evidence of impairment exists are
reviewed for impairment. Such reviews have also been carried out for the loans included in the table for which no need for impairment has been
identified. Past due loans subject to impairment are not included in the table but are included in tables showing impaired loans and guarantees,
see note 8 Impaired loans and guarantees for principal customer groups.

DNB Bank ASA

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Outstanding Outstanding
balance on balance on
Past due/ past due Past due/ past due
Amounts in NOK million overdrawn loans overdrawn loans
10-29 days 694 2410 723 1933
30-59 days 470 452 442 423
60-89 days 23 173 11 159
> 90 days 113 2747 213 1474
Total 1300 5782 1389 3989

DNB Bank Group

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Outstanding Outstanding
balance on balance on
Past due/ past due Past due/ past due
Amounts in NOK million overdrawn loans overdrawn loans
10-29 days 765 8579 753 7210
30-59 days 496 1121 467 1149
60-89 days 34 349 14 430
> 90 days 130 3503 222 3265
Total 1425 13 552 1456 12 054
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Note 5 Credit risk (continued)

Credit exposure of other financial assets
The Group’s investments in other financial assets, including commercial paper and bonds, are within market risk limits approved by the Board of
Directors. See note 33 Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity, for a description of Markets’ international bond portfolio.

Counterparty risk for derivatives

DNB enters into derivative transactions on the basis of customer demand and to hedge positions resulting from such activity. In addition,
derivatives are used to hedge positions in the trading portfolio and take positions in the interest rate, currency, commodity and equity markets. In
addition, derivatives are used to hedge currency and interest rate risk arising in connection with funding and lending. Derivatives are generally
traded “over the counter” (OTC), which means that individual contracts are agreed upon by the parties. The credit risk that arises in connection
with derivative trading is included in the DNB Group’s overall credit risk measurement.

In order to minimise counterparty risk for individual counterparties, netting agreements and bilateral guarantee agreements have been entered
into. Such agreements make it possible to net all positive and negative market values related to contracts entered into against one single
counterparty. CSA (Credit Support Annex) agreements are another type of risk-mitigating measure. CSA agreements have been entered into
with most major bank counterparties and other financial counterparties, as well as a steadily increasing number of non-financial counterparties.
Under these agreements, the market value of all derivative contracts between DNB and the counterparty is settled either daily or weekly, which
largely eliminates counterparty risk. These transactions are mostly settled in cash, though government bonds and covered bonds are used as
well.

The different interest rate products (interest rate swaps and Forward Rate Agreements (FRASs) in different currencies) are cleared through
clearing houses like LCH Clearnet. DNB’s counterparty risk on an individual counterparty is thus transferred to the clearing house. Equity
forward contracts, securities loans and currency trading for personal customers are monitored and increases/decreases in value are settled
daily.

Repossessed properties and other assets — carrying amount

Repossessed assets are assets acquired by units within the banking group as part of the management of non-performing and impaired loans
and guarantees. At the time of acquisition, such assets are valued at their estimated realisable value. Any deviation from the carrying amount of
non-performing and impaired loans and guarantees at the time of acquisition is classified as impairment on loans. Repossessed assets are
recorded in the balance sheet according to the type of asset. When acquiring shares or mutual fund holdings, the assets are evaluated
according to the principles described in note 1 Accounting principles. Upon final sale, the difference relative to carrying amount is recognised in
the income statement according to the type of asset.

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

50 28 Repossessed properties and other repossessed assets as at 1 January 1122 2330

1 0 Property additions 3 217

Other asset additions 1

Reclassified as held for sale ) (1087)

(23) (11) Property disposals (382) (335)

Other asset disposals 3)

Net gains/losses resulting from adjustment to fair value (investment properties) 168 1)

28 18 Repossessed properties and other repossessed assets as at 31 December 911 1122

1) Includes assets in the Baltics, reclassified as held for sale in August 2016.
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Note 5 Credit risk (continued)

Loans and deposits designated as at fair value

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

20 959 17 185 Loans and deposits designated as at fair value 55 373 69 487

20 959 17 185 Total exposure to credit risk 55 373 69 487

91 56 Value adjustment from credit risk 88 121

(94) (35) Value adjustment from change in credit risk (33) (111)

1) Creditrisk reflected in fair value measurement is based on normalised losses and changes in normalised losses in the relevant portfolio.

Effects of changes in credit margins
Changes in credit margins affected a number of items in the DNB Bank Group’s balance sheet:

The DNB Bank Group'’s fixed-rate loans in Norwegian kroner and parts of the portfolio of margin loans in Norwegian kroner are carried at fair
value through profit or loss. Unrealised gains, measured relative to swap rates on these loans, came to NOK 65 million at year-end 2017,
compared with unrealised losses of NOK 144 million at end-December 2016 reflecting reduced margin requirements. The unrealised gains will
be reversed over the remaining term to maturity, provided that there are no changes in the credit status of the loans.

As part of ongoing liquidity management, Markets invests in an international bond portfolio. The holding of such bonds totaled to NOK 80 billion
end-December 2017. Unrealised gains in this portfolio amounted to NOK 281 million at end-December 2017, compared with unrealised gains of
NOK 45 million at year-end 2016. There was considerable turnover in the portfolio in 2017.

Unrealised gain on the portfolio of Norwegian bonds used for liquidity management came to NOK 410 million at year-end 2017 compared with
an unrealised gain of NOK 310 million at end-December 2016.

The DNB Bank Group’s long-term borrowings in Norwegian kroner are carried at fair value through profit or loss. Margin requirements were
reduced in 2017: At end-December 2017, there were unrealised losses of NOK 600 million on long-term borrowings, compared with unrealised
losses of NOK 317 million at year-end 2016. Unrealised losses on the DNB Bank Group’s liabilities will be reversed over the remaining term to
maturity.
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Note 6 Loans and commitments for principal customer groups

Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2017

DNB Bank ASA

Loans and Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million receivables Guarantees credit lines commitments
Private individuals 165 452 196 157 486 323134
Transportation by sea and pipelines and vessel construction 44 617 10 075 14 546 69 238
Real estate 159 381 4387 33835 197 604
Manufacturing 45 837 18 169 29473 93479
Services 64 787 5758 33 588 104 133
Trade 33111 4 443 20 538 58 092
Oil and gas 16 080 5027 8517 29 624
Transportation and communication 36 629 8429 13 206 58 263
Building and construction 56 904 10 110 32737 99 751
Power and water supply 20 137 7 545 15941 43623
Seafood 17 238 139 5032 22 409
Hotels and restaurants 5787 365 887 7039
Agriculture and forestry 4632 43 876 5551
Central and local government 13 439 168 5677 19 284
Other sectors 48 847 947 4 808 54 602
Total customers, nominal amount after individual impairment 732 878 75 801 377 146 1185 826
— Collective impairment, customers (2 096) (2 096)
+ Other adjustments (404) (404)
Loans to customers 730782 75 398 377 146 1183 326
Credit institutions, nominal amount after individual impairment 580 973 7 490 111 797 700 261
+ Other adjustments
Loans to and due from credit institutions 580 973 7 490 111 797 700 261
Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2016 DNB Bank ASA

Loans and Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million receivables Guarantees credit lines commitments
Private individuals 137 962 225 178 953 317 140
Transportation by sea and pipelines and vessel construction 50 542 9623 14 768 74 934
Real estate 148 661 2860 26 599 178120
Manufacturing 46 439 22 897 32292 101 628
Services 64 094 5471 21176 90 741
Trade 32 238 4 484 21 965 58 687
Oil and gas 20 763 3964 9161 33 888
Transportation and communication 38927 9703 15 419 64 049
Building and construction 47 964 12 724 28932 89 619
Power and water supply 26 726 6 709 17 179 50 614
Seafood 15323 199 5835 21358
Hotels and restaurants 5713 409 1853 7975
Agriculture and forestry 4616 58 1067 5741
Central and local government 12 051 159 5875 18 085
Other sectors 40 829 898 4628 46 354
Total customers, nominal amount after individual impairment 692 848 80 383 385 703 1158 934
— Collective impairment, customers (2787) (2787)
+ Other adjustments (446) (446)
Loans to customers 690 060 79 937 385703 1155701
Credit institutions, nominal amount after individual impairment 549 089 8 296 94 089 651 474
+ Other adjustments 4 4
Loans to and due from credit institutions 549 093 8 296 94 089 651 478

The breakdown into principal customer groups corresponds to the EU's standard industrial classification, NACE Rev.2.
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Note 6 Loans and commitments for principal customer groups (continued)

Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2017 DNB Bank Group
Loans and Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million receivables Guarantees credit lines commitments
Private individuals 778 167 216 224 399 1002 781
Transportation by sea and pipelines and vessel construction 78 314 10 135 28 454 116 902
Real estate 198 453 4 387 33775 236 616
Manufacturing 76 051 18 596 59 998 154 645
Services 90 512 5946 44 396 140 855
Trade 39 521 4667 26 055 70 242
Oil and gas 22599 5792 28 927 57 319
Transportation and communication 59 740 8741 28 454 96 935
Building and construction 60 573 10 482 34 068 105 123
Power and water supply 25601 7 859 22058 55518
Seafood 20 390 139 5546 26 074
Hotels and restaurants 7 389 365 1219 8973
Agriculture and forestry 4 867 43 1912 6 822
Central and local government 15 895 168 8 759 24 822
Other sectors 56 428 952 3581 60 961
Total customers, nominal amount after individual impairment 1534 502 78 488 551 600 2164 589
— Collective impairment, customers (3157) (3157)
+ Other adjustments (408) (408)
Loans to customers 1531 345 78 079 551 600 2161 024
Credit institutions, nominal amount after individual impairment 237 849 8 344 38 023 284 216
+ Other adjustments
Loans to and due from credit institutions 237 849 8 344 38 023 284 216

1)

Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2016 DNB Bank Group

Loans and Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million receivables Guarantees credit lines commitments
Private individuals 731134 272 241 774 973179
Transportation by sea and pipelines and vessel construction 106 148 9871 34 523 150 542
Real estate 189 796 2888 26 910 219 594
Manufacturing 77 520 23413 68 529 169 462
Services 87 293 5688 31 325 124 305
Trade 38 442 4928 28 283 71 652
Oil and gas 29 074 5034 33219 67 327
Transportation and communication 62 638 9885 27711 100 234
Building and construction 52 221 13332 31553 97 105
Power and water supply 31179 7186 24014 62 378
Seafood 16 979 202 6484 23 664
Hotels and restaurants 7 451 420 2178 10 049
Agriculture and forestry 4 869 60 2212 7141
Central and local government 14 213 279 9732 24 224
Other sectors 47 795 903 2879 51577
Total customers, nominal amount after individual impairment 1496 749 84 360 571 326 2152 434
— Collective impairment, customers (4 481) (4 481)
+ Other adjustments (455) (455)
Loans to customers 1492 268 83 904 571 326 2 147 498
Credit institutions, nominal amount after individual impairment 174 897 7 653 34 796 217 347
+ Other adjustments 11 11
Loans to and due from credit institutions 174 908 7 653 34 796 217 357

1) Loans and receivables in the Baltics are reclassified to assets and liabilities held for sale. Guarantees and unutilised credit lines include the Baltics.

The breakdown into principal customer groups corresponds to the EU's standard industrial classification, NACE Rev.2.
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Note 7

Loans and commitments according to geographical location

Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2017

Loans to and

DNB Bank ASA

Loansto receivables from Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million customers _ credit institutions Guarantees credit lines commitments
Oslo 149 675 207 458 11 560 269 732 638 425
Eastern and southern Norway 203 123 2 16 767 87 550 307 443
Western Norway 104 520 76 8042 38 137 150 775
Northern and central Norway 116 334 95 7 390 36 077 159 896
Total Norway 573 652 207 631 43 760 431 497 1256 539
Sweden 61 503 67 696 6 610 21898 157 707
United Kingdom 1150 125681 3299 2099 132 229
Other Western European countries 56 423 100 389 5427 23549 185 788
Poland 738 10 169 292 57 11 256
Other Eastern European countries 860 920 1002 86 2 866
Total Europe outside Norway 120 674 304 855 16 629 47 689 489 847
USA and Canada 1163 41776 13 066 3023 59 028
Bermuda and Panama 14 557 1 4103 3323 21984
Other South and Central American countries 10543 1448 1865 1432 15 288
Total America 26 263 43 225 19 035 7778 96 300
Singapore 771 11 555 675 82 13 083
Hong Kong 1060 62 2 1124
Other Asian countries 5122 13 391 1194 818 20 526
Total Asia 6 953 25 008 1870 902 34 733
Other African countries 732 241 1708 103 2785
Oceania ¥ 4604 13 290 975 5883
Commitments 732878 580 973 83291 488 943 1886 086
— Collective impairment (2 096) (2 096)
+ Other adjustments (404) (404)
Net loans and commitments 730 782 580 973 82 888 488 943 1883 587

1) Represents shipping loans and commitments.

Based on the customer's address.
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Note 7 Loans and commitments according to geographical location (continued)

Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2016
Loans to and

DNB Bank ASA

Loansto receivables from Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million customers credit institutions Guarantees credit lines commitments
Oslo 140910 201 607 11519 256 544 610 580
Eastern and southern Norway 183 345 484 18 864 94 431 297 123
Western Norway 96 868 4 8583 43 525 148 980
Northern and central Norway 108 627 107 6984 34 925 150 645
Total Norway 529 750 202 202 45 950 429 425 1207 328
Sweden 53188 38473 6 354 11 097 109 112
United Kingdom 3278 112 999 2485 2817 121 579
Other Western European countries 55 244 89 269 5260 22 491 172 264
Poland 721 10 101 208 68 11 098
Other Eastern European countries 703 15 631 1090 44 17 469
Total Europe outside Norway 113134 266 473 15397 36 517 431 520
USA and Canada 2790 53 551 14 959 6 077 77 377
Bermuda and Panama 17 149 86 3904 2 364 23503
Other South and Central American countries 14 526 1565 2288 1815 20194
Total America 34 465 55 202 21 151 10 256 121 074
Singapore ¥ 1742 17 686 1021 592 21041
Hong Kong 1609 37 2 1648
Other Asian countries 5833 6 674 2765 1575 16 847
Total Asia 9184 24 397 3785 2169 39 535
Other African countries 854 500 2002 35 3391
Oceania ” 4532 27 393 1391 6343
Commitments 691 919 548 801 88679 479 792 1809 191
— Collective impairment (2787) (2787)
+ Other adjustments 929 292 (446) 775
Net loans and commitments 690 060 549 093 88 233 479 792 1807 179

1) Represents shipping loans and commitments.

Based on the customer's address.
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Note 7

Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2017

Loans to and

Loans and commitments according to geographical location (continued)

DNB Bank Group

Loansto receivables from Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million customers credit institutions Guarantees credit lines commitments
Oslo 312 107 8 240 11 554 209 690 541 590
Eastern and southern Norway 504 438 2 16 767 120 203 641 411
Western Norway 198 797 0 8 059 49 110 255 966
Northern and central Norway 209 590 95 7 390 44 501 261577
Total Norway 1224932 8 337 43770 423 505 1700 544
Sweden 91 342 27 478 6611 49 932 175 364
United Kingdom 18 766 87 287 4127 15762 125942
Other Western European countries 80 423 97 592 5793 34 223 218 030
Poland 17 593 29 1535 2468 21 625
Other Eastern European countries 1201 922 1002 253 3378
Total Europe outside Norway 209 325 213 308 19 069 102 637 544 340
USA and Canada 32625 963 14138 48 770 96 496
Bermuda and Panama 20 968 1 4104 4878 29 950
Other South and Central American countries 13582 1448 1868 3731 20 629
Total America 67 175 2411 20 110 57 379 147 075
Singapore ¥ 4243 85 675 184 5187
Hong Kong 1588 62 3 1653
Other Asian countries 5888 13 391 1196 1205 21 680
Total Asia 11719 13538 1871 1391 28 520
Other African countries 5910 241 1708 982 8841
Oceania ¥ 15441 13 303 3728 19 485
Commitments 1534 502 237 849 86 832 589 623 2 448 805
— Collective impairment (3157) (3157)
+ Other adjustments (408) (408)
Net loans and commitments 1531 345 237 849 86 423 589 623 2 445 240

1) Represents shipping loans and commitments.

Based on the customer's address.
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Note 7 Loans and commitments according to geographical location (continued)

Loans and commitments as at 31 December 2016 ¥

Loans to and

DNB Bank Group

Loansto receivables from Unutilised  Total loans and
Amounts in NOK million customers credit institutions Guarantees credit lines commitments
Oslo 288 216 6935 11 494 211 067 517 712
Eastern and southern Norway 477 693 484 18 864 124 944 621 985
Western Norway 191 155 10 8588 53872 253 625
Northern and central Norway 201 374 107 6984 42 930 251 396
Total Norway 1158 437 7536 45 932 432814 1644719
Sweden 82 005 5173 6 355 34 497 128 030
United Kingdom 17 936 68 518 2519 16 360 105 334
Other Western European countries 84 426 82 333 5635 31 587 203 981
Poland 16 444 323 813 2 355 19 935
Other Eastern European countries 968 885 1425 5483 8 760
Total Europe outside Norway 201 779 157 232 16 747 90 282 466 040
USA and Canada 43 688 1090 16 953 67 207 128938
Bermuda and Panama ? 26 269 86 3904 3629 33887
Other South and Central American countries 18 128 1569 2291 4697 26 685
Total America 88 085 2745 23 148 75 533 189 510
Singapore ? 8 680 39 1021 217 9957
Hong Kong 2525 37 180 2742
Other Asian countries 6 674 6614 2 766 1988 18 042
Total Asia 17 880 6 690 3787 2 386 30 742
Other African countries 9964 500 2002 552 13018
Oceania ? 18 634 27 397 4556 23614
Commitments 1494779 174 729 92 012 606 122 2 367 643
— Collective impairment (4 481) (4 481)
+ Other adjustments 1970 179 (455) 1694
Net loans and commitments 1492 268 174 908 91 557 606 122 2 364 855

1) Loans and receivables in the Baltics are reclassified to assets and liabilities held for sale. Guarantees and unutilised credit lines include the Baltics.

2) Represents shipping loans and commitments.

Based on the customer's address.
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Note 8 Impaired loans and guarantees for principal customer groups 2
DNB Bank ASA
Gross impaired Total individual Net impaired
loans and guarantees impairment loans and guarantees
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Private individuals 1937 1871 (578) (797) 1358 1074
Transportation by sea and pipelines and
vessel construction 1848 3517 (946) (1 436) 902 2081
Real estate 1206 1787 (518) (564) 688 1223
Manufacturing 1972 3586 (862) (1181) 1110 2 405
Services 936 1453 (469) (682) 467 771
Trade 2158 1098 (761) (370) 1397 728
Oil and gas 3805 4368 (1 038) (744) 2767 3625
Transportation and communication 2166 3341 (554) (1 203) 1612 2138
Building and construction 952 1178 (400) (488) 552 691
Power and water supply 1596 23 (867) (13) 730 10
Seafood 27 61 (16) (16) 11 44
Hotels and restaurants 48 49 (24) (22) 24 27
Agriculture and forestry 68 50 (30) (28) 37 22
Central and local government 0 0 0 0
Other sectors 2 6 1) (2) 1 4
Total customers 18 721 22 389 (7 064) (7 547) 11 657 14 843
Credit institutions
Total impaired loans and guarantees 18 721 22 389 (7 064) (7 547) 11 657 14 843
Non-performing loans and guarantees
not subject to impairment 1920 1953 1920 1953
Total non-performing and impaired
loans and guarantees 20 640 24 342 (7 064) (7 547) 13576 16 796

DNB Bank Group

Gross impaired Total individual Net impaired
loans and guarantees impairment loans and guarantees
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Private individuals 2724 3898 (695) (1 617) 2029 2281
Transportation by sea and pipelines and

vessel construction 2787 4995 (1 407) (2 247) 1381 2748
Real estate 1220 2760 (531) (934) 689 1826
Manufacturing 2892 5800 (1112) (1 814) 1780 3986
Services 947 1508 (477) (712) 469 797
Trade 2177 1255 (779) (465) 1398 790
Oil and gas 3805 4368 (1 038) (744) 2767 3625
Transportation and communication 3334 5528 (1391) (1 623) 1943 3905
Building and construction 1049 1446 (494) (697) 556 749
Power and water supply 2571 539 (1 228) (154) 1343 386
Seafood 27 61 (16) (16) 11 44
Hotels and restaurants 48 104 (24) (43) 24 61
Agriculture and forestry 68 157 (31) (50) 38 107
Central and local government 0 0 0) 0 0
Other sectors 2 29 1) (10) 1 19
Total customers 23 652 32 450 (9 224) (11 126) 14 427 21323
Credit institutions
Total impaired loans and guarantees 23 652 32 450 (9 224) (11 126) 14 427 21323
Non-performing loans and guarantees

not subject to impairment 2840 4320 2840 4320
Total non-performing and impaired

loans and guarantees 26 491 36 770 (9 224) (11 126) 17 267 25 644

1) Includes loans and guarantees subject to individual impairment and total non-performing loans and guarantees not subject to impairment. The breakdown into

principal customer groups corresponds to the EU's standard industrial classification, NACE Rev.2.

2) The DNB Bank Group figures for 2016 includes volumes in the Baltics, reclassified as assets held for sale in August 2016, of which net non-performing and net
doubtful loans and guarantees totalled NOK 2 256 million at end-December 2016.
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Note 9 Impairment of loans and guarantees

DNB Bank ASA

2017 2016
Amounts in NOK million Loans”  Guarantees Total Loans”  Guarantees Total
Write-offs (1312) (1312) (873) (873)
Newl/increased individual impairment (2 964) (218) (3182) (3.839) (420) (4 260)
Total new/increased individual impairment (4 276) (218) (4 494) (4 713) (420) (5133)
Reassessed individual impairment previous years 1515 212 1727 540 74 614
Recoveries on loans and guarantees previously written off 2 155 155 957 957
Net individual impairment (2 606) (6) (2612) (3 216) (346) (3562)
Changes in collective impairment of loans 675 675 (1117) (1117)
Impairment of loans and guarantees (1931) (6) (1937) (4 333) (346) (4 679)
Write-offs covered by individual impairment made
in previous years 2371 54 2425 1278 1278
DNB Bank Group
2017 2016
Amounts in NOK million Loans”  Guarantees Total Loans”  Guarantees Total
Write-offs (1 662) (1 662) (1 359) (1 359)
Newl/increased individual impairment (4 227) (218) (4 445) (5 490) (420) (5910)
Total new/increased individual impairment (5 889) (218) (6 106) (6 849) (420) (7 269)
Reassessed individual impairment 1950 212 2162 913 76 990
Recoveries on loans and guarantees previously written off 2 249 249 999 999
Net individual impairment (3 690) (6) (3696) (4 937) (344) (5 280)
Changes in collective impairment of loans 1268 1268 (2 144) (2 144)
Impairment of loans and guarantees (2 422) (6) (2 428) (7 080) (344) (7 424)
Write-offs covered by individual impairment made
in previous years 3232 54 3286 2803 2803

1) Including impairment of loans at fair value.
2) Recoveries in 2016 largely reflected the effects of the agreement with Lindorff Capital AS on the sale of portfolios of non-performing loans in Norway.
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Note 10 Impairment of loans and guarantees for principal customer groups

DNB Bank ASA

2017 2016
Recoveries on Recoveries on
loans and loans and
New Reassessed guarantees New Reassessed guarantees
individual individual previously Net individual individual previously Net
Amounts in NOK million impairment impairment written off impairment impairment impairment written off » impairment
Private individuals (560) 269 106 (185) (581) 32 910 361
Transportation by sea and pipelines
and vessel construction (582) 164 12 (406) (1 000) 52 12 (936)
Real estate (152) 187 13 49 (144) 74 12 (57)
Manufacturing (274) 362 5 94 (891) 123 1 (768)
Services (373) 228 2 (143) (338) 149 1 (187)
Trade (885) 114 1 (769) (128) 42 8 (78)
Oil and gas (435) 84 (352) (716) 0 (716)
Transportation and communication (355) 209 6 (139) (1 011) 16 3 (992)
Building and construction (125) 99 3 (23) (297) 42 2 (253)
Power and water supply (738) 0 5 (733) ) 52 6 56
Seafood ) 3 0 2 (10) 1 0 9)
Hotels and restaurants 9) 4 1 4) 1) 5 1 5
Agriculture and forestry 4 1 0 ?3) (13) 24 0 11
Central and local government 0) (0) 0) 0 (0)
Other sectors 1) 1 0 0 1) 0 0 1)
Total customers (4 494) 1727 155 (2612) (5133) 614 957 (3562)
Credit institutions
Changes in collective impairment of loans 675 (1117)
Impairment of loans and guarantees (4 494) 1727 155 (1937) (5 133) 614 957 (4 679)
Of which individual impairment
of guarantees (218) 212 (6) (420) 74 (346)
DNB Bank Group
2017 2016
Recoveries on Recoveries on
loans and loans and
New Reassessed guarantees New Reassessed guarantees
individual individual previously Net individual individual previously Net
Amounts in NOK million impairment impairment written off impairment impairment impairment written off » impairment
Private individuals (715) 401 174 (140) (845) 210 942 308
Transportation by sea and pipelines
and vessel construction (782) 294 12 (476) (1 555) 52 12 (1 491)
Real estate (176) 203 23 50 (227) 180 14 (33)
Manufacturing (308) 487 6 186 (1 258) 153 2 (1 104)
Services (387) 233 11 (143) (344) 158 5 (181)
Trade (896) 122 2 (772) (145) 53 10 (82)
Oil and gas (435) 84 (352) (819) 0 (819)
Transportation and communication (1331) 216 11 (1104) (1 554) 38 4 (1512)
Building and construction (132) 102 4 (26) (325) 55 4 (266)
Power and water supply (926) 2 5 (920) (148) 52 6 (90)
Seafood 2 3 0 2 (10) 1 0 9)
Hotels and restaurants 9) 5 1 4) (@) 7 1 1
Agriculture and forestry (@) 8 1 1 (30) 27 0 ?3)
Central and local government 0) 0) 0) 0 0)
Other sectors (1) 2 0 0 2) 2 0 1
Total customers (6 106) 2162 249 (3 696) (7 269) 990 999 (5 280)
Credit institutions
Changes in collective impairment of loans 1268 (2 144)
Impairment of loans and guarantees (6 106) 2162 249 (2 428) (7 269) 990 999 (7 424)
Of which individual impairment
of guarantees (218) 212 (6) (420) 76 (344)

1) Recoveries in 2016 largely reflected the effects of the agreement with Lindorff Capital AS on the sale of portfolios of non-performing loans in Norway.

The breakdown into principal customer groups corresponds to the EU's standard industrial classification, NACE Rev.2.
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Note 11 Developments in impairment of loans and guarantees

DNB Bank ASA

2017 2016
Loans to Loans to
credit Loans to credit Loans to

Amounts in NOK million institutions customers  Guarantees Total institutions customers  Guarantees Total

Impairment as at 1 January (9 808) (526) (10 334) (6 779) (176) (6 955)

New impairment (1 620) (105) (1 726) (2 833) (403) (3 236)

Increased impairment (1 344) (112) (1 456) (1 006) 17) (1 023)

Reassessed impairment 1515 212 1727 540 74 614

Write-offs covered by previous impairment 2371 54 2425 1278 1278

Changes in individual impairment of
accrued interest and amortisation

Changes in collective impairment 675 675 (1117) (1117)

Changes due to exchange rate movement (441) (30) (470) 111 (4) 107

Impairment as at 31 December (8 652) (508) (9 160) (9 808) (526) (10 334)

Of which: Individual impairment (6 151) (508) (6 658) (6 646) (526) (7 173)
Individual impairment of accrued

interest and amortisation (406) (406) (374) (374)

Collective impairment (2 096) (2 096) (2787) (2 787)

DNB Bank Group

2017 2016
Loans to Loans to
credit Loans to credit Loans to

Amounts in NOK million institutions customers  Guarantees Total institutions customers  Guarantees Total

Impairment as at 1 January (13 541) (529) (14 070) (11 664) (181) (11 845)

New impairment (1 855) (105) (1 960) (4 012) (403) (4 415)

Increased impairment (2173) (112) (2 285) (1 478) 17) (1 495)

Reassessed impairment 1765 212 1977 913 76 990

Write-offs covered by previous impairment 3232 54 3286 2803 2803

Changes in individual impairment of
accrued interest and amortisation

Changes in collective impairment 1271 1271 (2 144) (2 144)

Baltics, reclassified as assets held for sale 1649 1649

Changes due to exchange rate movement (568) (30) (598) 392 (4) 388

Impairment as at 31 December (11 870) (511) (12 381) (13 541) (529) (14 070)

Of which: Individual impairment (8 234) (511) (8 745) (8 566) (529) (9 095)
Individual impairment of accrued

interest and amortisation (480) (480) (494) (494)

Collective impairment (3157) (3157) (4 481) (4 481)
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Note 12 Market risk

Market risk is the risk of losses or reduced future income due to fluctuations in market prices or exchange rates. The risk arises as a conse-
quence of the banking groups unhedged transactions and exposure in the foreign exchange, property, interest rate, commodity, credit and

equity markets. The risk level reflects market price volatility and the positions taken.

DNB quantifies risk by calculating economic capital for individual risk categories and for the banking group's overall risk, see note 4 Risk

management. Economic capital for market risk should, at a confidence level of 99.9 per cent, cover all potential losses related to market risk.

The model has a one-year time horizon. Exposure included in the model could be either actual exposure or limits.

Calculations of economic capital for market risk in the banking group represent an assessment of the risk associated with financial instruments.
Economic capital for total market risk in the banking group at year-end 2017 was NOK 7.6 billion, compared with NOK 5.7 billion in 2016. The
increase was mainly due to the fact that the investment in Luminor Group AB is treated as market risk, while economic capital for DNB'’s former

activities in the Baltics was divided between market risk, credit risk, business risk and operational risk. Most of the market risk stems from

banking activities and counts for 85 per cent of total market risk. Market risk for operational activities and pension commitments count for 14 per

cent and 1 per cent respectively.

Note 13 Interest rate sensitivity

Interest rate sensitivity for different time intervals

The value of items on and off the balance sheet is affected by interest rate movements. The table shows potential losses for the

DNB Bank Group excluding Baltics and Poland resulting from parallel one percentage point changes in all interest rates. The calculations
are based on a hypothetical situation where interest rate movements in all currencies are unfavourable for the DNB Bank Group relative to
the bank's positions. Also, all interest rate movements within the same interval will be unfavourable for the banking group. The figures will

thus reflect maximum losses for the DNB Bank Group.

The calculations are based on the banking group's positions as at 31 December and market rates on the same date. The table does not include

administrative interest rate risk and interest rate risk tied to non-interest-earning assets.

DNB Bank Group

From From From
Up to 1 months 3 months 1 year Over
Amounts in NOK million 1 month  to 3 months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years Total
31 December 2017
NOK 392 117 350 175 194 94
usD 51 47 52 23 53 7
EUR 42 117 48 7 2 129
GBP 3 6 10 1 2 3
SEK 33 14 6 27 5 21
Other currencies 17 20 13 7 12 46
31 December 2016
NOK 494 152 227 765 653 227
usD 91 14 357 19 82 179
EUR 72 3 32 2 20 22
GBP 2 38 11 6 1 55
SEK 15 6 36 33 22 28
Other currencies 8 15 35 9 16 55

1) The figures do not include the operations in Baltics and Poland, and are for the rest identical for DNB Bank ASA.

48 | DNB BANK — ANNUAL REPORT 2017



Note 14 Currency positions

The table shows net currency positions as at 31 December, including financial derivatives as defined by Norges Bank. Net positions in individual
currencies may represent up to 15 per cent of eligible primary capital. Aggregate currency positions must be within 30 per cent of eligible
primary capital. Foreign exchange risk related to investments in subsidiaries is included in the currency position by the amount recorded in the
accounts.

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
Net currency positions Net currency positions
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
1071 1212 usD 1213 1068
(320) 140 EUR 140 (316)
7) 52 GBP 52 (16)
20 7 SEK 7 19
20 (13) DKK (13) 20
14 4 CHF 4 14
6 9 JPY 9 6
121 165 Other 165 122
914 1575 Total foreign currencies 1575 916
Note 15 Financial derivatives

General information on application of financial derivatives

Financial derivatives are contracts stipulating financial values in the form of interest rate terms, exchange rates and the value of equity
instruments for fixed periods of time. Corresponding contracts stipulating prices on commodities and indexes are also defined as financial
derivatives. Derivatives include swaps, forward contracts and options as well as combinations thereof, including forward rate agreements
(FRAS), financial futures and agreements on the transfer of securities. Financial derivatives in the DNB Bank Group are traded to manage
liquidity and market risk arising from the banking group's ordinary operations. In addition, the banking group employs financial derivatives
in its own account trading.

"Over the counter" (OTC) derivatives are contracts entered into outside an exchange. The contracts are tailor-made according to investor
requirements with respect to the underlying object, quantity, price, expiration terms and maturity. The advantage of OTC derivatives is that
customers are not limited to standardised contracts and can buy the precise position they wish. The disadvantage compared with the
standardised market is that it can be difficult to find other contracting parties and to sell the contracts in the secondary market.

The following derivatives are employed for both trading and hedging purposes in the DNB Bank Group:

. Forward contracts: a contract to buy or sell interest rate terms, amounts in foreign currencies, shares or commodities on a specified future
date at a fixed price. Forward contracts are tailor-made contracts traded between counterparties in the OTC market.

. FRAs: agreements that fix the interest rate for a future period for an agreed amount. When the contract matures, only the difference
between the agreed interest rate and the actual market interest rate is exchanged.

. Interest rate futures: standardised contracts where the counterparties agree to exchange specific interest rate instruments at a fixed price
on a specified date. The contracts are traded on an exchange. The value of interest rate futures follows the price trend on underlying
interest rate instruments.

= Swaps: transactions where two parties exchange cash flows on a fixed amount over an agreed period. The majority of swaps are tailor-
made and traded outside exchanges. The most important types of swaps traded by DNB are:
- interest rate swaps in which fixed interest rates are exchanged for floating rates or floating rates are exchanged for fixed rates
- cross-currency interest rate swaps in which parties exchange both currency and interest payments
- equity swaps in which interest rate returns are exchanged for equity returns

. Options: agreements giving the buyer the right, but not the obligation, to either buy (call option) or sell (put option) a specific quantity of a
financial instrument or commodity at a predetermined and fixed price. The buyer pays a premium to the seller for this right. Options are
traded both as OTCs (tailor-made) and as standardised contracts.
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Note 15 Financial derivatives (continued)

The tables show nominal values on financial derivatives according to type of derivative as well as positive and negative market values. Positive
market values are entered as assets in the balance sheet, whereas negative market values are entered as liabilities. See note 1 Accounting
principles for a more detailed description of measurement of financial derivatives.

DNB Bank ASA

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total Positive Negative Total Positive Negative
nominal market market nominal market market
Amounts in NOK million values value value values value value
Interest rate contracts
FRA-contracts 1009 324 219 263 868 943 415 363
Swaps 3215991 68 653 64 064 3110072 85 127 78 776
OTC options 49133 597 591 46 508 757 725
Other OTC contracts
Total interest rate contracts 4274 448 69 469 64 918 4025 522 86 299 79 864
Foreign exchange contracts
Forward contracts 24 027 6 736 5614 79 463 2689 1125
Swaps 1258 893 29 322 66 873 1699 372 41 217 60 058
OTC options 25 929 1454 1158 32 597 533 330
Total foreign exchange contracts 1308 849 37512 73 645 1811431 44 439 61513
Equity-related contracts
Forward contracts 4928 2068 1291 2 057 2 156 1528
OTC options 1321 164 22 2104 163 2
Total OTC derivatives 6 249 2232 1313 4161 2319 1530
Futures 523 0 732 0
Options 3423 126 91 4573 106 77
Total exchange-traded contracts 3946 126 91 5 305 106 77
Total equity-related contracts 10 195 2 359 1405 9 466 2425 1607
Commodity-related contracts
Swaps and options 33235 2669 2334 30 682 3542 2738
Total commodity related contracts 33235 2 669 2334 30 682 3542 2738
Collateral pledged/received
Total collateral pledged/received 34944 37 232 33612 36 072
Total financial derivatives 5626 727 146 953 179 534 5877 101 170 317 181 794
Of which: Applied for hedge accounting 133 849 8 606 1210 151 044 10 795 1189
- Interest rate swaps 8 056 738 10 033 541
- Cross-currency interest rate swaps 551 471 762 648
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Note 15

Financial derivatives (continued)

31 December 2017

DNB Bank Group
31 December 2016

Total Positive Negative Total Positive Negative
nominal market market nominal market market
Amounts in NOK million values value value values value value
Interest rate contracts
FRA-contracts 1009 324 219 263 868 943 415 363
Swaps 2830178 66 054 9011 2777 620 83 109 39 906
OTC options 49133 597 591 45 882 757 725
Other OTC contracts 57 8 8
Total interest rate contracts 3888 693 66 879 9873 3 692 446 84 280 40 994
Foreign exchange contracts
Forward contracts 27 695 6 798 5630 80 958 2717 1126
Swaps 889 154 17 775 54 584 1349 007 30891 48 470
OTC options 25 929 1454 1158 32 597 533 330
Total foreign exchange contracts 942 778 26 027 61 373 1462 562 34141 49 926
Equity-related contracts
Forward contracts 4928 2068 1291 2 057 2 156 1528
OTC options 1336 344 22 2104 163 2
Total OTC derivatives 6 264 2412 1314 4161 2319 1530
Futures 523 0 732 0
Options 3423 126 91 4573 106 77
Total exchange-traded contracts 3946 126 91 5 305 106 77
Total equity-related contracts 10 210 2538 1405 9 466 2425 1607
Commodity-related contracts
Swaps and options 33235 2669 2334 30473 3541 2707
Total commodity related contracts 33235 2 669 2334 30473 3541 2707
Collateral pledged/received
Total collateral pledged/received 34 537 37 035 33570 35 756
Total financial derivatives 4874916 132 649 112 020 5194 946 157 957 130 990
Of which: Applied for hedge accounting 466 911 26 331 3265 453 134 33038 2195
- Interest rate swaps 25781 2794 32275 1546
- Cross-currency interest rate swaps 551 471 762 648

Use of financial derivatives

Markets acts as market maker and is obliged to furnish both offer and bid prices for specified option, forward or futures series with a maximum
differential between the offer and bid price, together with a minimum volume. Market makers always trade for their own account. The purpose of
own account trading, in addition to being a market maker, is position taking, which means intentional risk-taking within the foreign exchange,
interest rate and equity markets to achieve profits arising from favourable price, exchange rate and index fluctuations. Arbitrage, that is profit
taking from fluctuations in prices, exchange rates and indices for the same product in various markets, is also part of own-account trading.

Customer trading entails structuring and marketing financial derivatives for customers, enabling them to transfer, modify, take or reduce

prevailing or expected risk. The majority of derivative transactions relate to customer trading.

The DNB Bank Group uses interest rate and currency swaps to convert foreign currency borrowings into the desired currency. As a typical
example, the bank raises a loan in euro, which is swapped to US dollars through a basis swap. In this case, the bank will pay a US dollar
interest rate based on a swap curve and receive a euro interest rate reduced or increased by a margin. These derivatives are carried at
fair value. There may be significant variations in the value of the basis swaps from day to day, due to changes in basis swap spreads. This
unhedged risk causes unrealised gains and losses. For the year 2017, there was a NOK 672 million decrease in value (negative effect on
profits), compared with a NOK 542 million decrease in value in 2016.

Risk related to financial derivatives

Derivatives are traded in portfolios which also include balance sheet products. The market risk on derivatives is handled, monitored and
controlled as an integral part of the market risk of these portfolios. See notes 4 Risk management and 12 Market risk. Derivatives are traded
with many different counterparties and most of these are also engaged in other types of business with DNB. The credit risk arising in connection
with derivatives trading is included in the total credit risk of the DNB Bank Group. Netting agreements or bilateral agreements on collateral are
entered into with a number of counterparties, thus reducing credit risk. The authorities' capital adequacy requirements take into account such
agreements, resulting in a reduction of capital adequacy requirements. See note 5 Credit risk for a description of counter-party risk.
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Note 16 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the DNB Bank Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations. Overall liquidity management in the banking
group implies that DNB Bank ASA is responsible for funding domestic and international group entities. Liquidity risk is managed and measured
by means of various measurement techniques.

The Board of Directors has approved internal limits which restrict the short-term maturity of liabilities within different time frames. The various
maturities are subject to stress testing based on a bank-specific crisis, a systemic crisis and a combination thereof, and a contingency plan has
been established to handle market events. In addition, limits have been set for structural liquidity risk, which implies that lending to customers
should largely be financed through customer deposits, subordinated capital and long-term funding. Ordinary senior bond debt and covered
bonds are the major sources of long-term funding. The banking group’s ratio of deposits to net loans was 64.0 per cent at end-December 2017,
up from 63.4 per cent a year earlier. The ratio of deposits to net loans in DNB Bank ASA was 130.9 per cent at end-December 2017.

The short-term funding markets were generally sound throughout the year. New regulatory reforms for US money market funds were introduced,
and the short-term funding market normalised during 2017 compared with 2016. Due to an increase in short-term interest rates, prices rose
somewhat during the year, which resulted in slightly higher short-term funding costs for banks. As the markets stabilised, investors regarded an
increasing number of banks as attractive. DNB had ample access to short-term funding throughout 2017.

The markets for long-term funding proved to be better than many assumed at the start of 2017. The first quarter of the year showed the highest
level of activity in the market, as most issuers wanted to enter the market before the political elections in Europe. However, the long-term
funding market generally functioned well throughout 2017. The market for covered bonds was still dominated by the European Central Bank’s,
ECB, asset purchase programme. In November, the ECB announced a gradual reduction in its asset purchases, which was well received in the
market, as many had feared a more aggressive de-escalation plan beforehand. Total issue volumes of covered and senior bonds were some-
what lower in 2017 than in 2016. In particular the latter have largely been replaced by so-called non-preferred senior bonds in order to adapt to
the coming MREL regulations (minimum requirement of own funds and eligible liabilities). There was a considerably higher level of activity in the
market for subordinated loans than in 2016, partly due to regulatory requirements and partly due to favourable prices for the issuers. DNB had
good access to long-term funding in 2017, and funding costs on covered bonds and ordinary senior debt were further reduced during the year.

The short-term liquidity requirement, Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), remained stable at above 100 per cent throughout the year. At end-
December, the total LCR was 117 per cent, with an LCR of 191 per cent for EUR, 137 per cent for USD and 93 per cent for NOK.

The average remaining term to maturity for the portfolio of senior bond debt and covered bonds was 4.0 years at end-December 2017, up from
3.9 a year earlier. The DNB Group aims to maintain a sound and stable maturity structure for funding over the next five years.
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Note 16

Residual maturity as at 31 December 2017 2

Liquidity risk (continued)

DNB Bank ASA

From From From
Up to 1 month 3 months 1 year Over No fixed

Amounts in NOK million 1 month  to 3 months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years maturity Total
Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks 151 145 151 145
Due from credit institutions 239 408 82 409 36 706 216 254 6163 580 941
Loans to customers 200 050 65 949 44 986 207 952 214 685 (2 096) 731525
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 62 294 7 268 17 288 153 903 21077 261 831
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 54 9 559 9613
Shareholdings 130 459 130 459
Other assets 2042 11 2053
Total 652 897 157 669 98 980 578 174 251 485 128 362 1867 566
Liabilities
Due to credit institutions 178 782 59 026 68 326 26 668 332 803
Deposits from customers 956 493 956 493
Debt securities issued 79948 49 699 50 040 133 902 7083 320 671
Other liabilities etc. 458 3836 177 4471
Subordinated loan capital 29 456 29 456
Total 1215681 112 561 118 543 160 570 36 539 1643 894
Financial derivatives
Financial derivatives, gross settlement

Incoming cash flows 682 189 398 787 240 397 574 143 324 822 2220338

Outgoing cash flows 680 003 399 407 244 379 596 830 334 168 2254 787
Financial derivatives, net settlement 277 1023 (866) 3497 (107) 3824
Total financial derivatives 2 463 403 (4 848) (19 190) (9 453) (30 625)
Residual maturity as at 31 December 2016 ¥ DNB Bank ASA

From From From
Up to 1 month 3 months 1 year Over No fixed

Amounts in NOK million 1 month  to 3 months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years maturity Total
Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks 207 923 11 207 934
Due from credit institutions 203 711 79 263 18 369 240 115 7567 549 024
Loans to customers 159 952 81835 61872 199 950 189 983 (2 787) 690 805
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 4242 10 100 36 264 152 121 21 035 223762
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 928 11 831 12 760
Shareholdings 124 406 124 406
Other assets 3217 3217
Total 575 828 174 416 116 515 593113 230 416 121 619 1811908
Liabilities
Due to credit institutions 223275 49 225 41 800 24 402 2 338 705
Deposits from customers 920 557 920 557
Debt securities issued 61 024 63 692 64 251 121 902 18 499 329 368
Other liabilities etc. 1574 3602 264 5440
Subordinated loan capital 10 898 17 467 738 29 102
Total 1206 430 127 417 106 315 163 771 19 239 1623172
Financial derivatives
Financial derivatives, gross settlement

Incoming cash flows 477 590 228 576 289 363 574 751 342 803 1913083

Outgoing cash flows 473 816 230 783 285 192 586 500 356 709 1933001
Financial derivatives, net settlement 187 1474 (911) 4190 805 5745
Total financial derivatives 3961 (733) 3260 (7 559) (13 101) (14 173)

1) Nominal future interest payments in excess of accrued interest are not included on the balance sheet date.

Credit lines, commitments and documentary credit

DNB Bank ASA

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Unutilised credit lines etc. under 1 year 317 499 323 827
Unutilised credit lines etc. over 1 year 98 075 97 495
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Note 16 Liquidity risk (continued)

Residual maturity as at 31 December 2017 2

DNB Bank Group

From From From
Up to 1 month 3 months 1 year Over No fixed

Amounts in NOK million 1 month  to 3 months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years maturity Total
Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks 151 593 151 593
Due from credit institutions 99 095 75078 38 440 17 556 7671 237 839
Loans to customers 269 464 75703 56 070 274 360 859 859 (3157) 1532298
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 64 131 7 268 18 996 157 433 21077 268 905
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 54 9 559 9613
Shareholdings 18 479 18 479
Other assets 2042 11 2053
Total 584 282 160 091 113 506 449 414 898 166 15 322 2220781
Liabilities
Due to credit institutions 76 437 63 038 68 308 14 699 222 482
Deposits from customers 980 342 980 342
Debt securities issued 98 491 71585 77 254 419 121 95 779 762 230
Other liabilities etc. 458 4136 195 4789
Subordinated loan capital 29 456 29 456
Total 1155 729 138 759 145 757 433 820 125 235 1999 299
Financial derivatives
Financial derivatives, gross settlement

Incoming cash flows 663 489 376 719 216 187 383071 213 472 1852938

Outgoing cash flows 661 310 378 009 221220 393 222 213788 1867 549
Financial derivatives, net settlement 818 2103 3205 19 652 9787 35 565
Total financial derivatives 2997 813 (1.828) 9501 9471 20 954
Residual maturity as at 31 December 2016 ¥ DNB Bank Group

From From From
Up to 1 month 3 months 1 year Over No fixed

Amounts in NOK million 1 month  to 3 months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years maturity Total
Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks 208 252 11 208 263
Due from credit institutions 120 011 42 484 5270 7116 174 881
Loans to customers 180 074 92 243 79533 321 266 824 516 (4 481) 1493 151
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 5225 9087 32070 151 198 20 676 218 257
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 928 11 831 12 760
Shareholdings 9770 9770
Other assets 3217 3217
Total 513 563 147 031 116 884 480 508 857 024 5289 2120 300
Liabilities
Due to credit institutions 137 015 23535 22 922 28125 211597
Deposits from customers 945 587 945 587
Debt securities issued 73913 61 765 104 186 401 819 99 232 740 915
Other liabilities etc. 1574 3890 275 5739
Subordinated loan capital 10 898 17 467 738 29 102
Total 1158 089 100 088 127 383 447 410 99 969 1932 940
Financial derivatives
Financial derivatives, gross settlement

Incoming cash flows 458 963 224 167 247 951 388 303 231798 1551182

Outgoing cash flows 456 644 226 589 248 396 404 368 238 077 1574 076
Financial derivatives, net settlement 1074 2357 3434 20 229 9 296 36 390
Total financial derivatives 3393 (65) 2989 4164 3017 13 496

1) Nominal future interest payments in excess of accrued interest are not included.

Credit lines, commitments and documentary credit

DNB Bank Group

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Unutilised credit lines etc. under 1 year 388 560 390 001
Unutilised credit lines etc. over 1 year 208 950 216 295
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Note 17 Net interest income

DNB Bank ASA

2017 2016
Recorded Recorded Recorded Recorded
at fair ~ at amortised at fair  at amortised
Amounts in NOK million value cost ¥ Total value cost Total
Interest on amounts due from credit institutions 3363 1948 5311 2074 1804 3879
Interest on loans to customers 816 22 909 23724 730 22 657 23387
Interest on impaired loans and guarantees 5 839 844 10 612 622
Interest on commercial paper and bonds at fair value 4123 4123 4457 4457
Interest on commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 157 157 173 173
Front-end fees etc. 1 281 282 1 258 260
Other interest income (1 945) 4628 2 683 (2 331) 4715 2385
Total interest income 6 363 30 763 37 126 4942 30 221 35163
Interest on amounts due to credit institutions (2 829) (273) (3102) (1 958) (180) (2 138)
Interest on deposits from customers (799) (6 388) (7 187) (567) (5 805) (6 373)
Interest on debt securities issued (2 247) (1 546) (3792) (1822) (1 860) (3 683)
Interest on subordinated loan capital (75) (374) (449) (35) (493) (529)
Guarantee fund levy (548) (548) (638) (638)
Other interest expenses * 2845 (476) 2369 2385 (581) 1804
Total interest expenses (3105) (9 604) (12 709) (1997) (9 558) (11 555)
Net interest income 3258 21158 24 416 2944 20 663 23 608

DNB Bank Group

2017 2016
Recorded Recorded Recorded Recorded
atfair  at amortised atfair  at amortised
Amounts in NOK million value cost ¥ Total value cost ¥ Total
Interest on amounts due from credit institutions 2287 426 2712 1105 234 1339
Interest on loans to customers 2164 42 861 45 025 2 556 42 179 44 735
Interest on impaired loans and guarantees 4 1169 1172 1 909 911
Interest on commercial paper and bonds at fair value 3999 3999 4 405 4 405
Interest on commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 157 157 173 173
Front-end fees etc. 2 298 300 5 289 294
Other interest income (1939) 2973 1033 (2 .327) 3356 1029
Total interest income 6516 47 883 54 399 5746 47 141 52 887
Interest on amounts due to credit institutions (2 212) (254) (2 465) (1542) (163) (1 705)
Interest on deposits from customers (799) (6772) (7571) (567) (6 135) (6 703)
Interest on debt securities issued (3 758) (7 381) (11 139) (3502) (8 883) (12 385)
Interest on subordinated loan capital (75) (377) (452) (35) (496) (532)
Guarantee fund levy (637) (637) (768) (768)
Other interest expenses * 3873 (94) 3779 3893 (171) 3722
Total interest expenses (2 970) (15 515) (18 485) (1 753) (16 616) (18 369)
Net interest income 3546 32 368 35914 3992 30 525 34 517

1) Includes hedged items.
2) Other interest expenses include interest rate adjustments resulting from interest rate swaps. Derivatives are recorded at fair value.
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Note 18 Interest rates on selected balance sheet items
DNB Bank ASA
Average interest rate Average volume
in per cent ? in NOK million
2017 2016 2017 2016
Assets
Due from credit institutions 0.60 0.42 885 039 926 269
Loans to customers 3.44 3.48 713 568 690 265
Commercial paper and bonds 1.92 2.04 215 068 217 986
Liabilities
Due to credit institutions 0.80 0.54 386 765 392 710
Deposits from customers 0.71 0.64 1007 971 995 959
Debt securities issued 1.15 0.96 330519 383 150

Average interest rate

DNB Bank Group
Average volume

in per cent ¥ in NOK million
2017 2016 2017 2016
Assets
Due from credit institutions 0.51 0.23 531989 579 604
Loans to customers 3.04 3.01 1519 425 1514 319
Commercial paper and bonds 1.90 2.04 210 336 216 417
Liabilities
Due to credit institutions 0.88 0.60 280012 284 899
Deposits from customers 0.73 0.64 1033519 1044 615
Debt securities issued 1.45 1.48 770 705 834 669

1) Average interest rate in per cent is calculated as total interest in NOK for the specific products in relation to the appurtenant average capital.

Note 19 Net commission and fee income
DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
3451 3728 Money transfers 3960 3731
342 376 Asset management services 421 406
319 357 Custodial services 378 344
573 689 Securities broking 789 616
575 612 Corporate finance 820 767
23 19 Interbank fees 19 23
494 438 Credit broking 453 491
372 396 Sales of insurance products 416 397
Real estate broking 1150 1121
589 727 Other commissions and fees 822 732
6739 7 340 Total commission and fee income 9228 8628
(1 754) (2 079) Money transfers (2 109) (1 795)
(15) (12) Asset management services (12) (15)
(170) (180) Custodial services (183) 172)
(173) (148) Securities broking (150) (176)
(73) (135) Corporate finance (135) (73)
(57) (49) Interbank fees (49) (57)
87) (71) Credit broking (13) (26)
(114) (116) Sale of insurance products (116) (114)
(481) (506) Other commissions and fees (577) (567)
(2 924) (3 296) Total commission and fee expenses (3 344) (2 994)
3815 4044 Net commission and fee income 5884 5634
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Note 20 Net gains on financial instruments at fair value
DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
8231 5322 Foreign exchange and financial derivatives 3266 7897
(1112) (283) Commercial paper and bonds (294) (1 185)
440 89 Shareholdings 92 440
52 77) Other financial assets (40) 55
47 235 Financial liabilities 182 71
7658 5 286 Net gains on financial instruments, trading 3206 7278
74 26 Loans at fair value 152 (465)
(568) (368) Commercial paper and bonds (349) (629)
761 32) Shareholdings 26 (79)
36 150 Financial liabilities 93 52
302 (224) Net gains on financial instruments, designated as at fair value (78) (1121)
(2 788) (3 475) Financial derivatives, hedging (9 750) (4 245)
0 0 Financial assets, hedged items 1) 1)
2985 3398 Financial liabilities, hedged items 10 149 3867
196 (77) Net gains on hedged items V? 397 (380)
554 884 Financial guarantees 909 595
124 74 Dividends 78 133
8834 5942 Net gains on financial instruments at fair value 4513 6 506

1) With respect to hedged liabilities, the hedged risk is recorded at fair value, while the rest of the instrument is recorded at amortised cost. Derivatives used for
hedging are recorded at fair value. Changes in fair value arising from hedged risk are presented under Financial derivatives, hedging. Net gains on hedged
financial liabilities include amortization of fair values on discontinued hedging relationships.

2) The DNB Group uses hedge accounting for long-term borrowings in foreign currency in DNB Boligkreditt and DNB Bank ASA. Loans are hedged 1:1 through
external contracts where there is a correlation between currencies, interest rate flows and the hedging instrument. At the time the loans are raised, Markets
considers whether to enter into a hedging transaction for the relevant loan based on the Group's foreign currency positions and the underlying interest rate
exposure for the loan.

Note 21

Salaries and other personnel expenses

DNB Bank ASA

DNB Bank Group

2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
(6 138) (6 289) Salaries (7772) (7 622)
(968) (1 219) Employer's national insurance contributions (1 428) (1 190)
(872) (1 205) Pension expenses (1 310) (968)
(656) (315) Restructuring expenses (335) (693)
(614) (612) Other personnel expenses (715) (733)
(9 248) (9 639) Total salaries and other personnel expenses (11 561) (11 206)
(5 206) (5 250) *)  Of which: Ordinary salaries (6 196) (6 197)
(785) (761) Performance-based pay (1 295) (1 275)
DNB Bank ASA Number of employees/full-time positions DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 2017 Y 2016 "
7618 7 449 Number of employees as at 31 December 8951 10 801
998 996 - of which number of employees abroad 1396 3205
7301 7171 Number of employees calculated on a full-time basis as at 31 December 8544 10 366
980 979 - of which number of employees calculated on a full-time basis abroad 1376 3166
7674 7 499 Average number of employees 10 279 10 793
7 356 7198 Average number of employees calculated on a full-time basis 9848 10 372

1) 1796 employees in the Baltics who were included in the figures at year-end 2016 were transferred to Luminor during the fourth quarter of 2017.
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Note 22 Other expenses
DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
(1 474) (1921) Fees V (2011) (1575)
(1 886) (1 969) IT expenses (2 119) (2 087)
(179) (158) Postage and telecommunications (193) (222)
(25) 27) Office supplies (60) (74)
(567) (564) Marketing and public relations (798) (804)
173) (212) Travel expenses (272) (225)
(198) (204) Reimbursement to Norway Post for transactions executed (204) (198)
(49) (52) Training expenses (63) (61)
(1112) (2 097) Operating expenses on properties and premises 2 (1 261) (1 285)
(63) (61) Operating expenses on machinery, vehicles and office equipment (81) (92)
(391) (638) Other operating expenses (837) (585)
(6 118) (6 904) Total other expenses (7 899) (7 207)

1) Systems development fees totalled NOK 1 390 million for DNB Bank ASA and NOK 1 388 million for the DNB Bank Group in 2017, compared with NOK 1 038
million and NOK 1 037 million, respectively, in 2016.
2) Costs relating to leased premises were NOK 945 million and NOK 1 012 million respectively for DNB Bank ASA and the DNB Bank Group in 2017, compared
with NOK 953 million and NOK 1 020 million in 2016.

Note 23 Depreciation and impairment of fixed and intangible assets
DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
(1 447) (1 429) Depreciation of machinery, vehicles and office equipment (1 458) (1 477)
(335) (338) Other depreciation of tangible and intangible assets (417) (470)
(11) Impairment of capitalised systems development (42) (11)
(542) Impairment losses for goodwill (545) (5)
(258) (8) Other impairment of fixed and intangible assets (8) (140)
(2 050) (2 318) Total depreciation and impairment of fixed and intangible assets (2 469) (2 103)

1) Impairment losses for goodwill of NOK 502 million relating to Cresco were recorded in 2017.

See note 37 Intangible assets and note 38 Fixed assets.
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Note 24 Pensions

Description of the pension schemes

The DNB Group has a defined-contribution pension scheme for all employees in Norway, with the exception of around 330 employees from the
former Postbanken who are covered by a closed group pension plan in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund.

The contribution rates are:

. Salary representing 0-7.1 times the National Insurance basic amount, G: 7 per cent

. Salary representing 7.1-12 times G: 15 per cent

= The Group has no defined-contribution pension scheme for salaries exceeding 12G (apart from the closed scheme)

The employees who were enrolled in the former defined-benefit occupational pension schemes (terminated between 2015 and 2017) are also
covered by a compensation scheme that is structured as a supplementary, contribution-based direct pension scheme.

Based on the terms and conditions approved at the time of conversion, the savings plan in the compensation scheme aims to give the individual
employee a total pension capital when reaching the age of 67 corresponding to what he or she would have received if the defined-benefit
pension scheme had been retained. Both the pension entitlements and the return on the pension funds are funded through operations.

The DNB Group has a disability pension scheme for all employees in Norway. The disability pension represents:

. 3 per cent of pensionable income up to 12G

. 25 per cent of G, maximum 6 per cent of pensionable income, up to 12G

= 66 per cent of pensionable income in the interval between 6G and 12G

The Norwegian companies in the Group are part of the contractual pension (CPA) scheme for the private sector. In addition, the Group has an
agreement on contractual pensions according to public sector rules for employees who are members of the Public Service Pension Fund.

The private CPA scheme will be funded by an annual premium representing a percentage of salaries between 1 and 7.1G.
Employer's contributions are included in pension expenses and commitments.

Subsidiaries and branches outside Norway have separate schemes for their employees, mainly in the form of defined-contribution schemes.
Pension expenses for employees outside Norway represented NOK 170 million.
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Note 24 Pensions (continued)

Economic assumptions applied in calculating pension expenses and commitments are in accordance with the guidance from the Norwegian

Accounting Standards Board per 31 December 2017.

Pension expenses

DNB Bank ASA

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Net present value of pension entitlements (452) (419)
Interest expenses on pension commitments (116) (139)
Calculated return on pension funds 84 89
Curtailment (46) 216
Administrative expenses 1) 1)
Total defined benefit pension schemes (531) (252)
Contractual pensions, new scheme (88) (84)
Risk coverage premium (42) (42)
Defined contribution pension schemes (544) (495)
Net pension expenses (1 205) (872)

Pension expenses

DNB Bank Group

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Net present value of pension entitlements (483) (432)
Interest expenses on pension commitments (118) (141)
Calculated return on pension funds 84 89
Curtailment (41) 220
Administrative expenses 1) 1)
Total defined benefit pension schemes (559) (265)
Contractual pensions, new scheme (97) (98)
Risk coverage premium (46) (45)
Defined contribution pension schemes (609) (560)
Net pension expenses (1 310) (968)

DNB Bank ASA Pension commitments DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
4991 5038 Opening balance 5119 5074

419 452 Accumulated pension entitlements 483 432
139 116 Interest expenses 118 141
209 111 Actuarial losses/(gains), net 112 216
22 Changes in the pension schemes 22 0)
(329) 46 Curtailment 48 (344)
(236) (273) Pension payments 277) (242)
(155) 13 Exchange rate differences 18 (157)
5038 5526 Closing balance 5642 5119
Pension funds
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
2798 2584 Opening balance 2603 2826
89 84 Expected return 84 89
4) 4 Actuarial gains/(losses), net (5) (15)
(113) Curtailments 7 (124)
(62) (36) Excess pension funds that cannot be carried forward (36) (62)
96 79 Premium paid 80 110
(114) (131) Pension payments (132) (115)
1) 1) Administrative expenses 1) 1)
(106) 46 Exchange rate differences 47 (105)
2584 2620 Closing balance 2 647 2603
2454 2906 Net defined benefit obligation 2995 2516
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Note 24 Pensions (continued)

Sensitivity analyses for pension calculations
The following estimates are based on facts and conditions prevailing on 31 December 2017, assuming that all other parameters are constant.

Actual results may deviate significantly from these estimates.

DNB Bank Group

Annual rise
in salaries/ Annual rise
Discount rate basic amount in pensions Life expectancy
Change in percentage points +1% -1% +1% -1% +1% 0% reg. +1 year -1 year
Percentage change in pensions
Pension commitments 8-16 15-17 33-34 26-27 10-11 5-8 2 2
Net pension expenses for the period 10-20 22-23 34-35 26-27 10-11 -8 2 2
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Note 25 Taxes

DNB Bank ASA Tax expense on pre-tax operating profit DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

(695) (9 603) Current taxes (5 850) (8 406)

(4 528) 6535 Changes in deferred taxes 947 4442

(5 223) (3 068) Tax expense (4 903) (3 964)

Reconciliation of tax expense against nominal tax rate
Amounts in NOK million

20012 21978 Pre-tax operating profit 24718 21874

(5 003) (5 275) Estimated tax expense at nominal tax rate 24 per cent (25 per cent in 2016) (5932) (5 469)
(121) Tax effect of financial tax in Norway (142)

Tax effect of different tax rates in other countries (165) 10

357 749 Tax effect of debt interest distribution with international branches 749 357

(1 023) 1450 Tax effect of tax-exempt income from shareholdings * 604 509

451 160 Tax effect of other tax-exempt income and non-deductible expenses 172 352

Tax effect of tax losses carried forward not recognised in the balance sheet ? (23) 123

) Tax effect of changed tax rate for deferred taxes recognised in the balance sheet (94) 18

(5) (24) Excess tax provision previous year (72) 136

(5 223) (3 .068) Tax expense (4 903) (3 964)

26% 14% Effective tax rate 20% 18%

Income tax on other comprehensive income
Amounts in NOK million

48 4) Pensions 9) 52
Hedges of net investments 171 (1 449)
48 (4) Total income tax on other comprehensive income 162 (1.397)

1) In Norway, a company’s income from share investments is normally exempt from tax. As a rule, this applies to investments in companies domiciled in the
EU/EEA. The tax exemption applies to both dividends and gains/ (losses) upon realisation. However, 3 per cent of dividends from tax-exempt investments
is included in taxable income.

2) Deferred taxes for tax-deductible differences (mainly losses carried forward) in subsidiaries are not recognised in the balance sheet unless the Group can prove
that these tax positions will be utilised in the future.

Tax effect of different tax rates in other countries
The Group has operations in a number of countries whose tax rates are different from that in Norway (24 per cent).

Tax effect of debt interest distribution with international branches
According to Norwegian tax legislation, external interest expenses shall be distributed proportionally among operations in Norway and
international branches based on the respective units’ total assets. This could result in additions or deductions from income in Norway.

Expectations regarding the effective tax rate

The nominal tax rate in Norway was 24 per cent in 2017. Business operations outside Norway are subject to local tax rates in their country of
operation, and nominal tax rates range from 12 to 45 per cent. The effective taxation of operations outside Norway depends on both local tax
rules and on whether it is possible to avoid double taxation. Tax-exempt income from share investments contributes to a lower expected tax rate
than 24 per cent. In some periods, tax losses carried forward that are not recognised in the balance sheet have caused variations in the
effective tax rate. In periods when such assets have not been recognised, the effective tax rate has been higher than the long-term expectation,
whereas it has been lower in periods when tax losses not recognised as assets have been utilised.
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Note 25 Taxes (continued)

DNB Bank ASA Deferred tax assets/(deferred taxes) DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

The year's changes in deferred tax assets/(deferred taxes)

6 308 1826 Deferred tax assets/(deferred taxes) as at 1 January (990) (5323)
(4 528) 6535 Changes recorded against profits 947 4442
a7 4) Changes recorded against comprehensive income 9) 52
1) (16) Currency translation differences on deferred taxes (38) (28)
Transferred to assets held for sale (133)
1826 8341 Deferred tax assets/(deferred taxes) as at 31 December (90) (990)
Deferred tax assets and deferred taxes in the balance sheet DNB Bank ASA
relates to the following temporary differences Deferred tax assets Deferred taxes
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2017 2016
Fixed assets and intangible assets (662) (814) 72 54
Commercial paper and bonds (1781) (2 964) 2
Debt securities issued 1404 1988
Financial derivatives 8278 3030
Net pension liabilities 750 663
Net other tax-deductable temporary differences (148) (245) 2
Tax losses and tax credits carried forward 574 224
Total deferred tax assets 8415 1882 74 56
Deferred tax assets and deferred taxes in the balance sheet DNB Bank Group
relates to the following temporary differences Deferred tax assets Deferred taxes
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2017 2016
Fixed assets and intangible assets 5 ) 722 853
Commercial paper and bonds 1821 2964
Debt securities issued (5 099) (6 937)
Financial derivatives 4) (39) 4 400 5804
Net pension liabilities 54 94 (717) (585)
Net other tax-deductable temporary differences 261 857 187 419
Tax losses and tax credits carried forward 441 482 (467) (136)
Total deferred tax assets 757 1392 847 2382

1) A significant share of the financial instruments are carried at fair value in the accounts, while for tax purposes, the same instruments are recorded on an accrual
basis in accordance with the realisation principle. This gives rise to large differences between profits stated in the accounts and profits computed for tax
purposes for the individual accounting years, especially in years with significant fluctuations in interest rate levels and exchange rates. These differences are
offset in the longer term.

2) Due to large exchange rate fluctuations in 2017 and 2016, there were significant changes in unrealised gains and losses on financial instruments used in
managing the banking group’s currency and interest rate risk. Financial instruments are recorded in accordance with the realisation principle, while the current
rate method is used for receivables and liabilities in foreign currency. These differences are expected to be reversed within a short period of time.

Overview over tax assets from tax losses and tax credits carried forward DNB Bank ASA
31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Total tax Of which Total tax Of which as
Amounts in NOK million losses carried as basis Recognised losses carried basis for Recognised
Tax losses carried forward forward for tax assets tax asset forward assets tax asset
Singapore 660 660 113 517 517 88
Total of tax losses and tax assets 660 660 113 517 517 88
Tax credits carried forward 461 136
Total of deferred tax assets from tax losses and tax credits carried forward 574 224

1) All tax credits carried forward relates to tax payers in Norway
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Note 25 Taxes (continued)

Overview over deferred tax assets from tax losses

and tax credits carried forward

31 December 2017

DNB Bank Group

31 December 2016

Total tax Of which Total tax Of which as

Amounts in NOK million losses carried as basis Recognised losses carried basis for Recognised
Tax losses carried forward forward for tax assets tax asset forward assets tax asset
Norway 20 20 5

Singapore 660 660 113 517 517 88
Denmark 2 005 1491 329 2311 1577 394
Total of tax losses and tax assets 2 685 2171 447 2828 2094 482
Tax credits carried forward 461 136
Total of deferred tax assets from tax losses and tax credits carried forward 908 618

1) All tax credits carried forward relates to tax payers in Norway

Recognition of deferred tax

Deferred tax assets are capitalised to the extent it is probable that the DNB Bank Group will have taxable income against which temporary
differences can be utilised. Net deferred taxes on temporary differences within the same tax group are assessed and entered net in the

accounts.
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Note 26 Classification of financial instruments
As at 31 December 2017 DNB Bank ASA
Financial Financial
Financial instruments at fair derivatives instruments Financial
value through profit and loss designated carried at instruments
Designated as as hedging amortised held to
Amounts in NOK million Trading at fair value instruments cost ¥ maturity Total
Cash and deposits with central banks 143 463 3251 4434 151 147
Due from credit institutions 348 588 4 863 227 522 580 973
Loans to customers 55 839 12 322 662 622 730 782
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 169 639 92 355 261 994
Shareholdings 5508 802 6 310
Financial derivatives 138 346 8 606 146 953
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 9613 9613
Investments in associated companies 9 007 9 007
Investments in subsidiaries 115 142 115 142
Other assets 22 092 22 092
Total financial assets 861 384 113 592 8 606 1040 819 9613 2 034 015
Due to credit institutions 285 817 4 657 42 324 332798
Deposits from customers 41 692 14 090 900 744 956 525
Financial derivatives 178 324 1210 179 534
Debt securities issued 158 693 9751 157 727 326 171
Other liabilities 6214 44 889 51 103
Subordinated loan capital 2873 26 666 29 538
Total financial liabilities ? 670 739 31371 1210 1172 349 1875 669
1) Includes hedged liabilities.
2) Contractual obligations of financial liabilities designated as at fair value totalled NOK 30 933 million.
As at 31 December 2016 DNB Bank ASA
Financial Financial
Financial instruments at fair derivatives instruments Financial
value through profit and loss designated carried at instruments
Designated as as hedging amortised held to

Amounts in NOK million Trading at fair value instruments cost ! maturity Total
Cash and deposits with central banks 187 462 15 824 4648 207 934
Due from credit institutions 340 736 4907 203 450 549 093
Loans to customers 42 974 16 052 631 034 690 060
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 150 169 73191 223 360
Shareholdings 4297 881 5178
Financial derivatives 159 522 10 795 170 317
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 12 760 12 760
Investments in associated companies 995 995
Investments in subsidiaries 118 233 118 233
Other assets 13 462 13 462
Total financial assets 885 161 110 855 10 795 971 822 12 760 1991 392
Due to credit institutions 299 432 1196 38 104 338 731
Deposits from customers 43 210 11 599 865 855 920 664
Financial derivatives 180 605 1189 181 794
Debt securities issued 153 485 12 925 170 531 336 941
Other liabilities 516 23377 23893
Subordinated loan capital 1254 28 093 29 347
Total financial liabilities ? 677 247 26 975 1189 1125960 1831371

1) Includes hedged liabilities.

2) Contractual obligations of financial liabilities designated as at fair value totalled NOK 26 362 million.
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Note 26 Classification of financial instruments (continued)

As at 31 December 2017

DNB Bank Group

Financial Financial
Financial instruments at fair derivatives instruments Financial
value through profit and loss designated carried at instruments
Designated as as hedging amortised held to
Amounts in NOK million Trading at fair value instruments cost ¥ maturity Total
Cash and deposits with central banks 143 463 3251 4881 151 595
Due from credit institutions 199 288 38 561 237 849
Loans to customers 55 839 55373 1420133 1531 345
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 169 059 87 970 257 029
Shareholdings 6 304 999 7 303
Financial derivatives 106 318 26 331 132 649
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 9613 9613
Other assets 7 888 7 888
Total financial assets 680 271 147 593 26 331 1471 463 9613 2335271
Due to credit institutions 182 335 4 657 35 508 222 501
Deposits from customers 41 692 14 090 924 593 980 374
Financial derivatives 108 755 3265 112 020
Debt securities issued 158 693 83 703 539 731 782 127
Other liabilities 6214 13 091 19 304
Subordinated loan capital 2873 26 666 29 538
Total financial liabilities ? 497 688 105 323 3265 1539 588 2 145 864
1) Includes hedged liabilities.
2) Contractual obligations of financial liabilities designated as at fair value totalled NOK 103 319 million.
As at 31 December 2016 DNB Bank Group
Financial Financial
Financial instruments at fair derivatives instruments Financial
value through profit and loss designated carried at instruments
Designated as as hedging amortised held to

Amounts in NOK million Trading at fair value instruments cost ¥ maturity Total
Cash and deposits with central banks 187 462 15824 4977 208 263
Due from credit institutions 160 828 45 14 035 174 908
Loans to customers 42 974 69 442 1379 852 1492 268
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 148 026 69 862 217 887
Shareholdings 5158 1042 6 200
Financial derivatives 124 919 33038 157 957
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 12 760 12 760
Other assets 8 255 8 255
Total financial assets 669 366 156 215 33038 1407 119 12 760 2278 497
Due to credit institutions 178 047 1196 32363 211 606
Deposits from customers 43 210 11 599 890 885 945 694
Financial derivatives 128 796 2195 130 990
Debt securities issued 153 485 87 402 526 863 767 750
Other liabilities 516 15 265 15781
Subordinated loan capital 1254 28 093 29 347
Total financial liabilities ? 504 053 101 451 2195 1493470 2101 169

1) Includes hedged liabilities.

2) Contractual obligations of financial liabilities designated as at fair value totalled NOK 99 238 million.
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Note 27

Fair value of financial instruments at amortised cost

31 December 2017

DNB Bank ASA

31 December 2016

Carrying Carrying
Amounts in NOK million amount Fair value amount Fair value
Cash and deposits with central banks 4434 4434 4 648 4648
Due from credit institutions 227 522 227 522 203 450 203 450
Loans to customers 662 622 663 545 631 034 634 571
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 9613 9581 12 760 12 406
Total financial assets 904 190 905 082 851 891 855 075
Due to credit institutions 42 324 42 324 38 104 38104
Deposits from customers 900 744 900 744 865 855 865 855
Securities issued 157 727 160 827 170531 173 788
Subordinated loan capital 26 666 26 378 28 093 28 065
Total financial liabilities 1127 460 1130273 1102 583 1105812

31 December 2017

DNB Bank Group

31 December 2016

Carrying Carrying
Amounts in NOK million amount Fair value amount Fair value
Cash and deposits with central banks 4881 4881 4977 4977
Due from credit institutions 38561 38561 14 035 14 035
Loans to customers 1420133 1421 464 1379 852 1383679
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 9613 9581 12 760 12 406
Total financial assets 1473188 1474 487 1411 623 1415 097
Due to credit institutions 35508 35508 32 363 32363
Deposits from customers 924 593 924 593 890 885 890 885
Securities issued 539 731 548 082 526 863 533874
Subordinated loan capital 26 666 26 378 28 093 28 065
Total financial liabilities 1526 497 1534 561 1478 205 1485 187

Valuation based
on quoted prices

Valuation based

Valuation based
on inputs other

DNB Bank ASA

in an active on observable  than observable
market market data market data

Amounts in NOK million Level 1V Level 2V Level 3V Total
Assets as at 31 December 2017
Cash and deposits with central banks 4434 4434
Due from credit institutions 227522 227522
Loans to customers 663 545 663 545
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 9581 9581
Liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Due to credit institutions 42 324 42 324
Deposits from customers 900 744 900 744
Securities issued 160 139 688 160 827
Subordinated loan capital 15943 10 435 26 378

Valuation based
on quoted prices

Valuation based

Valuation based
on inputs other

DNB Bank Group

in an active on observable  than observable
market market data market data

Amounts in NOK million Level 1Y Level 2" Level 3" Total
Assets as at 31 December 2017
Cash and deposits with central banks 4881 4881
Due from credit institutions 38561 38561
Loans to customers 1421 464 1421 464
Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 9581 9581
Liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Due to credit institutions 35508 35508
Deposits from customers 924 593 924 593
Securities issued 519 955 28 127 548 082
Subordinated loan capital 11 081 15 297 26 378

1) See note 28 Financial instruments at fair value for a definition of the levels.
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Note 27 Fair value of financial instruments at amortised cost (continued)

Financial instruments at amortised cost

Most assets and liabilities in the DNB Bank Group's balance sheet are carried at amortised cost. This primarily applies to loans, deposits and
borrowings in the banking group's balance sheet, but also investments in bonds held to maturity. Long-term borrowings in Norwegian kroner are
carried at fair value, while long-term borrowings in other currencies are carried at amortised cost. Hedge accounting may be applied.

Recording balance sheet items at amortised cost implies that the originally agreed cash flows are used, possibly adjusted for impairment. Such
valuations will not always give values which are consistent with market assessments of the same instruments. Discrepancies may be due to
diverging views on macro-economic prospects, market conditions, risk aspects and return requirements, as well as varying access to accurate
information. The above table shows estimated fair values of items carried at amortised cost.

Valuations are based on the individual instruments' characteristics and values on the balance sheet date. However, these values do not include
the total value of customer relationships, market access, brands, organisational aspects, employees and structural capital. Consequently, such
intangible assets are generally not recorded in the accounts. In addition, most transactions with customers are assessed and priced collectively
for several products, and products recorded in the balance sheet are considered along with other products and services used by the customer.
Individual assets and liabilities recorded in the balance sheet thus give no adequate reflection of the total value of the Bank Group's operations.

Due from credit institutions and loans to customers

When valuing loans, the loan portfolio has been divided into the following categories: personal customers, small and medium-sized enterprises,
Nordic corporates, international corporates, shipping, offshore and logistics and energy. In addition, separate calculations have been made for
DNB Finans and Poland.

The valuations are based on average margins in December, considered relative to the business units' best estimate of the potential margin
requirement at year-end 2016 if the loans had been extended at that time. Differentiated margin requirements have been calculated for each
category, as specified above, based on estimated costs related to lending. The margin requirement includes costs covering normalised losses,
which, as opposed to impairment recorded in the annual accounts, represent a long-term assessment of loss levels.

Retail loans carried at amortised cost are mainly loans with floating interest rate. The fair value of the retail loans has been set at amortised
cost.

With respect to impaired loans, an assessment has been made of potential cash flows for the loans discounted by the effective rate of interest
adjusted for changes in market conditions for corresponding non-impaired loans. Loan rates prior to provisions being made reflect the increased
credit risk of the commitment. Given the general uncertainty in fair value measurements, it is evaluated that the impaired value gives a good
reflection of the fair value of these loans.

Customers will often use loan products which are carried partly at amortised cost and partly at fair value. The profitability of a customer
relationship is considered on an aggregate basis, and prices are set based on an overall evaluation. Correspondingly, a possible reduction in
the customer relationship value is based on an overall assessment of all products. Any decline in value apart from price changes on specific
products is included in the overall assessment of credits in the relevant customer relationship. Any reduction in the total customer relationship
value is measured on the basis of amortised cost and reported under impairment on loans.

Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity

The valuation in level 2 is primarily based on observable market data in the form of interest rate curves, exchange rates and credit margins
related to the individual credit and the characteristics of the bond or commercial paper. For papers classified as level 3, the valuation is based
on models. See note 33 Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity for more information.

Due to credit institutions and deposits from customers
The estimated fair value equals the balance sheet value for credit institutions. With respect to deposits from customers, fair value is assessed to
equal amortised cost.

Securities issued and subordinated loan capital
The valuation in level 2 is based on observable market data in the form of interest rate curves and credit margins when available. Securities and
subordinated loan capital in level 3 are valued based on models. The items consist mainly of funding in foreign currency.
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Note 28 Financial instruments at fair value
DNB Bank ASA
Valuation
Valuation based on
based on Valuation inputs other
quoted based on than
prices in an observable observable
active market market data market data
Amounts in NOK million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets as at 31 December 2017
Deposits with central banks 146 714 146 714
Due from credit institutions 353451 353451
Loans to customers 55 839 12 322 68 161
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 46 440 215 226 328 261 994
Shareholdings 5530 254 527 6 310
Financial derivatives 131 144 753 2069 146 953
Liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Due to credit institutions 290 474 290 474
Deposits from customers 55 782 55 782
Debt securities issued 168 444 168 444
Subordinated loan capital 2873 2873
Financial derivatives 150 177 635 1749 179 534
Other financial liabilities * 6153 61 6214
Assets as at 31 December 2016
Deposits with central banks 203 286 203 286
Due from credit institutions 345 643 345 643
Loans to customers 42 974 16 052 59 026
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 50 893 172 092 375 223 360
Shareholdings 4140 239 799 5178
Financial derivatives 0 168 998 1319 170 317
Liabilities as at 31 December 2016
Due to credit institutions 300 628 300 628
Deposits from customers 54 809 54 809
Debt securities issued 166 410 166 410
Subordinated loan capital 1254 1254
Financial derivatives 0 180 732 1062 181 794
Other financial liabilities * 516 0 516

1) Short positions, trading activities.
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Note 28 Financial instruments at fair value (continued)

DNB Bank Group

Valuation
Valuation based on
based on Valuation inputs other
quoted based on than
prices in an observable observable
active market market data market data
Amounts in NOK million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets as at 31 December 2017
Deposits with central banks 146 714 146 714
Due from credit institutions 199 288 199 288
Loans to customers 55 839 55 373 111212
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 53 391 203 311 328 257 029
Shareholdings 6421 260 621 7 303
Financial derivatives 131 130 450 2069 132 649
Liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Due to credit institutions 186 993 186 993
Deposits from customers 55 782 55 782
Debt securities issued 242 396 242 396
Subordinated loan capital 2873 2873
Financial derivatives 150 110121 1749 112 020
Other financial liabilities 6153 61 6214
Assets as at 31 December 2016
Deposits with central banks 203 286 203 286
Due from credit institutions 160 873 160 873
Loans to customers 42 974 69 442 112 416
Commercial paper and bonds at fair value 54 988 162 524 375 217 887
Shareholdings 5009 245 946 6 200
Financial derivatives 0 156 637 1319 157 957
Liabilities as at 31 December 2016
Due to credit institutions 179 243 179 243
Deposits from customers 54 809 54 809
Debt securities issued 240 887 240 887
Subordinated loan capital 1254 1254
Financial derivatives 0 129 928 1062 130 990
Other financial liabilities 516 0 516

1) Short positions, trading activities.

The levels

Financial instruments are categorised within different levels based on the quality of the market data for the individual instruments. With respect
to financial instruments categorised as level 2, the quality of market data may vary depending on whether the relevant instrument has been
traded. Thus, it will be natural that some instruments are moved between level 2 and level 3. This applies primarily to commercial paper and
bonds.

Level 1: Valuation based on quoted prices in an active market
Classified as level 1 are financial instruments valued by using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Instruments in this category include listed shares and mutual funds, Treasury bills and commercial paper traded in active markets.

Level 2: Valuation based on observable market data
Classified as level 2 are financial instruments which are valued by using inputs other than quoted prices, but where prices are directly or
indirectly observable for the assets or liabilities, including quoted prices in non-active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Included in this category are, among others, interbank derivatives such as interest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward contracts with prices
quoted on Reuters or Bloomberg, basis swaps between the currencies NOK, EUR, USD and GBP and cross-currency interest rate derivatives
with customers with insignificant credit margins. Exchange-traded options are classified as level 2 if it is possible to scan or interpolate/
extrapolate implicit volatility based on observable prices.
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Note 28 Financial instruments at fair value (continued)

Level 3: Valuation based on other than observable market data

Classified as level 3 are financial instruments which cannot be valued based on directly observable prices. For these instruments other valuation
techniques are used, such as valuation of assets and liabilities in companies, estimated cash flows and other models where key parameters are
not based on observable market data.

Included in this category are loans to customers and instruments where credit margins constitute a major part of adjustments to market value.

Gains or losses, that occur when the estimated fair value is different from the transaction price (day-one gain/loss) has not had significant
impact to the financial statement neither for 2017 or 2016.

The instruments in the different levels

Due from credit institutions (level 2)
The item is primarily relevant for Markets. The valuation of loans to and deposits with credit institutions is mainly based on agreed interest rate
terms measured against a swap curve. The fixed-rate period is relatively short.

Loans to customers (level 3)

Loans consist primarily of fixed-rate loans in Norwegian kroner and parts of the portfolio of margin loans in Norwegian kroner. The value of
fixed-rate loans is determined by discounting agreed cash flows over the term of the loan, using a discount factor adjusted for margin
requirements. A margin requirement is calculated for margin loans, and the difference between the margin requirement and the agreed margin
is discounted over the average expected time to the repricing of the loan.

Commercial paper and bonds (levels 2 and 3)

The valuation in level 2 is primarily based on observable market data in the form of interest rate curves, exchange rates and credit margins
related to the individual credit and the characteristics of the bond or commercial paper. For paper classified as level 3, the valuation is based
on indicative prices from third parties or comparable paper.

Equities including mutual fund holdings (levels 2 and 3)

Equities in level 2 comprise mutual fund holdings where the underlying investments are quoted equities, as well as a small volume of other
mutual funds. Instruments which are classified as level 3 essentially comprise property funds, limited partnership units, private equity invest-
ments and investments in unquoted equities.

Financial derivatives (levels 2 and 3)

Financial derivatives classified as level 2 are primarily currency forward contracts and interest rate and currency swaps. The valuation is based
on swap curves, and credit margins constitute a minor part of the value. In addition, the item comprises derivatives related to commodities and
forward rate agreements. These are valued based on observable market prices. Derivatives classified as level 2 also comprise equity
derivatives used in Markets' market-making activities. Most of these derivatives are related to the most traded equities on Oslo Bgrs, and the
valuation is based on the price development of the relevant/underlying equity and observable or estimated volatility. Financial derivatives
classified as level 3 are primarily connected to currency options, interest rate options in Norwegian kroner, as well as index derivatives. The
valuation is based on indicative prices from third parties.

Due to credit institutions (level 2)
See "Due from credit institutions" above.

Deposits from customers (level 2)
Deposits carried at fair value include special-term deposits. The valuation is primarily based on measurement in relation to a swap curve, and
changes in credit margins have an insignificant effect.

Debt securities issued (level 2)

The valuation is primarily based on observable market data in the form of interest rate curves and credit margins. The item consists mainly of
funding in Norwegian kroner. For foreign currency funding, hedge accounting is used where hedges are entered into. In all other respects, debt
securities issued are carried at amortised cost.

Subordinated loan capital (level 2)
Subordinated loans carried at fair value consist of one loan in Norwegian kroner, and the valuation is based on observable interest rate curves
and credit margins.
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Note 28 Financial instruments at fair value (continued)

Financial instruments at fair value, level 3

DNB Bank ASA

Financial
Financial assets liabilities
Commercial
Loans to paper and Share- Financial Financial
Amounts in NOK million customers bonds holdings derivatives derivatives
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 24 855 566 828 1504 1144
Net gains recognised in the income statement 42 12) (119) (201) (122)
Additions/purchases 4914 308 135 802 797
Sales (2 696) (597) (45)
Settled (11 063) (772) (751)
Transferred from level 1 or level 2 698
Transferred to level 1 or level 2 (576)
Other (13) (14) (6)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 16 052 375 799 1319 1062
Net gains recognised in the income statement 13 (63) 22 (75) (99)
Additions/purchases 2039 331 55 1422 1349
Sales (951) (291) (350)
Settled (4 831) (592) (578)
Transferred from level 1 or level 2 100
Transferred to level 1 or level 2 (132)
Other 8 (5) 15
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 12 322 328 527 2 069 1749
Financial instruments at fair value, level 3 DNB Bank Group
Financial
Financial assets liabilities
Commercial
Loans to paper and Share- Financial Financial
Amounts in NOK million customers bonds holdings derivatives derivatives
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 85777 734 1229 1504 1144
Net gains recognised in the income statement (519) 97) (120) (201) (122)
Additions/purchases 13 818 308 156 802 797
Sales (5 146) (657) (283)
Settled (24 489) 0 (772) (751)
Transferred from level 1 or level 2 698
Transferred to level 1 or level 2 (576)
Other (35) (36) (14) (6)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 69 442 375 946 1319 1062
Net gains recognised in the income statement 119 (63) 73 (75) (99)
Additions/purchases 5041 331 61 1422 1349
Sales (291) (459)
Settled (19 228) (592) (578)
Transferred from level 1 or level 2 100
Transferred to level 1 or level 2 (132)
Other 8 (5) 15
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 55 373 328 621 2 069 1749

Loans to customers

The portfolio of loans carried at fair value consists primarily of fixed-rate loans in Norwegian kroner and a share of margin loans in Norwegian

kroner.

Fixed-rate loans

The value of fixed-rate loans is determined by discounting agreed interest flows over the term of the loan, using a discount factor adjusted for
margin requirements. The discount factor used has as a starting point a swap rate based on a duration equal to the average remaining lock-in
period for the relevant fixed-rate loans. The assumptions underlying the calculation of the margin requirement are based on a review of the
market conditions on the balance sheet date and on an assessment of the deliberations made by external investors when investing in a
corresponding portfolio. Fixed-rate loans carried at fair value totalled NOK 46 604 million at year-end 2017.
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Note 28

Margin loans carried at fair value

Financial instruments at fair value (continued)

A margin loan has an agreed interest rate consisting of a reference interest rate and a margin add-on. Reference rates will normally be set for a
period of three months, but the margin can be determined for considerably longer periods. In times of significant interest rate fluctuations and
reduced liquidity in the market, as has been the case during the financial turmoil, long-term funding costs increased. This is of significance for
the margin requirements used by the bank in its calculations. The margin requirements are measured against agreed margins, and discre-
pancies are discounted over the average period up until the expected margin adjustment. This period is based on assessments from the
banking group's business areas, but will require significant judgment based on past experience. The period up until the actual adjustment of the
margin represents the largest element of uncertainty in these calculations. Margin loans carried at fair value totalled NOK 8 769 million at year-

end 2017.

Commercial paper and bonds

Investments classified as level 3 primarily consist of corporate high-yield bonds with limited liquidity.

Equities including mutual fund holdings

Investments classified as level 3 consist of private equity funds, limited partnerships and unquoted equities. A common denominator for these
investments is that there is a lag in the access to information from the units. In times of financial market turmoil, there may be considerable
uncertainty related to the valuation of these investments.

Financial derivatives, assets and liabilities

Items classified as level 3 are primarily currency options, interest rate options in Norwegian kroner and derivatives related to developments in

the consumer price index.

DNB Bank ASA
31 December 2017

Breakdown of fair value, level 3

DNB Bank Group

31 December 2017

Commercial Commercial
Share- paper and Loans to Loans to paper and Share-
holdings bonds  customers Amounts in NOK million customers bonds holdings
392 355 12 241 Principal amount/purchase price 54 602 355 415
135 (27) 50 Fair value adjustment 674 (27) 206
31 Accrued interest 97
527 328 12 322 Carrying amount 55 373 328 621

1) Changes in the fair value of customer loans mainly result from changes in swap rates. A corresponding negative adjustment is made in the fair value of financial

instruments used for economic hedging.

DNB Bank ASA

Breakdown of shareholdings, level 3

DNB Bank Group

Private Private

Equity (PE) Unquoted Unquoted  Equity (PE)
Total Other funds equities Amounts in NOK million equities funds Other Total
527 12 212 303 Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 397 212 12 621
DNB Bank ASA Sensitivity analysis, level 3 DNB Bank Group
Effect of reasonably Carrying Carrying Effect of reasonably
possible alternative amount amount possible alternative
assumptions 31 Dec. 2017 Amounts in NOK million 31 Dec. 2017 assumptions
(24) 12 322 Loans to customers 55 373 (122)
1) 328 Commercial paper and bonds 328 1)

527 Shareholdings 621

320 Financial derivatives, net 320

In order to show the sensitivity of the loan portfolio, the discount rate on fixed-rate loans and the margin requirement on margin-based loans

have been increased by 10 basis points.

Level 3 bonds mainly represent investments in Norwegian industries, offshore and power companies. A 10 basis point increase in the discount

rate has had insignificant effects.
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Note 29 Offsetting

The table below presents the potential effects of the banking group’s netting arrangements on financial assets and financial liabilities. See

note 1 Accounting principles for more information.

DNB Bank ASA

Amounts
offset in the Amounts
statement after
Gross of financial Carrying Netting Other possible
Amounts in NOK million amount position amount  agreements collateral netting
Assets as at 31 December 2017
Due from credit institutions ? 192 707 192 707 192 707
Loans to customers ? 56 430 56 430 56 430
Financial derivatives * 146 953 146 953 23797 73 930 49 226
Liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Due to credit institutions * 57 299 57 299 57 299
Deposits from customers ? 1552 1552 1552
Financial derivatives * 179 534 179 534 23797 91 201 64 536
DNB Bank ASA
Amounts
offset in the Amounts
statement after
Gross of financial Carrying Netting Other possible
Amounts in NOK million amount position amount  agreements collateral ” netting
Assets as at 31 December 2016
Due from credit institutions 153 938 153 938 153 938
Loans to customers 43 496 43 496 43 496
Financial derivatives * 170 317 170 317 54 580 70 330 45 407
Liabilities as at 31 December 2016
Due to credit institutions 2 50 018 50 018 50 018
Deposits from customers 1185 1185 1185
Financial derivatives ¥ 181 794 181 794 54 580 58 566 68 648
DNB Bank Group
Amounts
offset in the Amounts
statement after
Gross of financial Carrying Netting Other possible
Amounts in NOK million amount position amount  agreements collateral netting
Assets as at 31 December 2017
Due from credit institutions ? 192 707 192 707 192 707
Loans to customers ? 56 430 56 430 56 430
Financial derivatives * 132 649 132 649 23797 73325 35527
Liabilities as at 31 December 2017
Due to credit institutions * 30922 30922 30922
Deposits from customers ? 1552 1552 1552
Financial derivatives * 112 020 112 020 23797 72 527 15 696
DNB Bank Group
Amounts
offset in the Amounts
statement after
Gross of financial Carrying Netting Other possible
Amounts in NOK million amount position amount  agreements collateral ” netting
Assets as at 31 December 2016
Due from credit institutions 153 938 153 938 153 938
Loans to customers 43 496 43 496 43 496
Financial derivatives * 157 957 157 957 54 603 70 288 33 066
Liabilities as at 31 December 2016
Due to credit institutions 2 20 375 20 375 20 375
Deposits from customers 1185 1185 1185
Financial derivatives ¥ 130 990 130 990 54 603 58 250 18 137

1) Includes cash collateral and securities received/transferred from/to counterparties and securities received/placed as collateral in depositories in Clearstream or

Euroclear.

2) Includes repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements, securities borrowing and lending transactions.
3) Gross amounts represent the market value of the derivatives subject to master netting agreements or collateralized by cash or securities under Credit Support

Annex.
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Note 30

Shareholdings

Investments in shares, mutual funds and equity certificates n
DNB Bank ASA

DNB Bank Group

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
5178 6 310 Total investments in shares, mutual funds and equity certificates 7 303 6 200
1) Equity certificates represent investments in savings banks.
Note 31 Transferred assets or assets with other restrictions
DNB Bank ASA Transferred assets still recognised in the balance sheet DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Repurchase agreements
11 079 9776 Commercial paper and bonds 2688 11 079
Derivatives
3648 4 596 Commercial paper and bonds 2698 3648
Securities lending
215 178 Shares 178 215
14 941 14 550 Total repurchase agreements and securities lending 5564 14 941
DNB Bank ASA Liabilities associated with the assets DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Repurchase agreements
10 446 8 889 Due to credit institutions 1808 10 446
1185 877 Deposits from customers 877 1185
3648 4596 Derivatives 2698 3648
225 187 Securities lending 187 225
15 505 14 549 Total liabilities 5570 15 505

Restricted assets
Local statutory capital requirements might restrict the ability of the banking group to access or transfer assets freely to or from other entities
within the banking group and to settle liabilities within the banking group.

Restrictions affecting the DNB Bank Group’s ability to use assets:

The DNB Bank Group has pledged assets to collateralise its obligations (pledged securities) and issued covered bonds (cover pool), see
note 48 Off-balance sheet transactions and contingencies for further information.

The DNB Bank Group has pledged collateral in connection with derivative instruments, see note 15 Financial derivatives for further

information.
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Note 32 Securities received which can be sold or repledged

DNB Bank ASA Securities received DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

Reverse repurchase agreements
190 083 243 010 Commercial paper and bonds 243 010 190 083

Securities borrowing
31121 45 801 Shares 45 801 31121

221 204 288 811 Total securities received 288 811 221 204

Of which securities received and subsequently sold or repledged:

4203 41 208 Commercial paper and bonds 11 616 4203

10 084 9021 Shares 9199 10 084
Note 33 Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

12 760 9613 International bond portfolio 9613 12 760

12 760 9613 Commercial paper and bonds, held to maturity 9613 12 760

As part of ongoing liquidity management, DNB Bank has invested in a portfolio of securities. The portfolio can be used to regulate the liquidity
requirement and as a basis for furnishing collateral for operations in various countries. Among other things, the securities serve as collateral for
short and long-term borrowing in a number of central banks and as a basis for liquidity buffers to meet regulatory requirements. With effect from
1 July 2008, the international bond portfolio was reclassified from the category "fair value through profit or loss" to "held-to-maturity
investments". In the period following the reclassification some additional investments were classified as held-to-maturity. Portfolios in this
category are recorded at amortised cost and written down if there is objective evidence of a decrease in value.

Effects of the reclassifications of the international bond portfolio

By measuring the portfolio at amortised cost, the value of the portfolio as at 31 December 2017 was NOK 36 million higher than if the previous
valuation principle had been retained. On the reclassification date, the carrying amount of the portfolio was NOK 88.0 billion, compared with
NOK 8.7 billion at end-December 2017. The average term to maturity of the portfolio was 4.9 years, and the change in value resulting from a
credit spread adjustment of one basis point was NOK 4.1 million at end-December 2017.

Effects on profits of the reclassification DNB Bank Group
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Recorded amortisation effect 98 84
Net gain, if valued at fair value 409 448
Effects of reclassification on profits (311) (364)
Effects on the balanse sheet of the reclassification DNB Bank Group

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Recorded unrealised losses 220 318
Unrealised losses, if valued at fair value 256 665
Effects of reclassification on the balance sheet 36 347
Development in the portfolio after the reclassification DNB Bank Group

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Reclassified portfolio, carrying amount 8 668 10 414
Reclassified portfolio, if valued at fair value 8 631 10 067
Effects of reclassification on the balance sheet 36 347
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Note 34 Investment properties

Amounts included in the income statement

DNB Bank Group

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Rental income from investment properties 125 131
Direct expenses (including repairs and maintenance) related to investment properties generating rental income (55) (64)
Direct expenses (including repairs and maintenance) related to investment properties not generating rental income (12) (20)
Total 58 47

Investment properties are mainly related to acquired companies and are classified at level 3 in the valuation hierarchy.

Changes in the value of investment properties

Amounts in NOK million

DNB Bank Group
Investment properties

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 2333
Additions, purchases of new properties 84
Additions, capitalised investments 5
Additions, acquired companies 163
Net gains (35)
Disposals (1311)
Exchange rate movements (65)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 1175
Additions, purchases of new properties 0
Additions, capitalised investments 0
Additions, acquired companies

Net gains 171
Disposals (382)
Exchange rate movements 25
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 990
Contractual commitments related to the acquisition or construction of investment properties, not capitalised as at 31 December 2017 0
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Note 35

Investments accounted for by the equity method

Amounts in NOK million

DNB Bank Group

Carrying amount as at 1 January

Share of profits after tax

Impairment of the ownership interest in Eksportfinans AS
Share of other comprehensive income .

Additions/disposals

Carrying amount as at 31 December ?

2017 2016
3570 4001
(587) 771
144

175 (880)
8019 (557)
11176 3570

DNB Bank Group

Ownership Carrying Carrying

Assets Liabilities share (%) amount amount

31 Dec. 31 Dec. Income Profit 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

Amounts in NOK million 20172 2017 % 2017 % 2017 % 2017 2017 2016
Luminor Group AB 4 148 505 131 586 848 27 44 7 387

Eksportfinans AS 22398 15 595 (224) (261) 40 2721 3219
Vipps AS 380 135 (15) (131) 52 525

Visa Norge ¥ 443 283

Other associated companies 100 68

Total 11176 3570

DNB Bank ASA

Ownership Carrying Carrying

share (%) amount amount

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2017 2016
Luminor Group AB ¥ a4 7374

Eksportfinans AS 40 919 919
Vipps AS * 52 629

Other associated companies 85 76

Total 9 007 995

1) DNB has indirect ownership interests in Visa Europe through its membership in Visa Norway. In connection with the valuation of the holdings in Visa Europe
as at 31 March 2016 an accumulated gain of NOK 855 million was recognized in other comprehensive income. Upon the completion of the acquisition of Visa
Europe by Visa Inc in the second quarter of 2016, this amount was reclassified to profit and a total gain of NOK 1 128 million was recognized as “Profit from
investments accounted for by the equity method” in the income statement.

2) Include deferred tax positions and value adjustments not reflected in the company's balance sheet.
3) Values in the accounts of associated companies. Preliminary and unaudited accounts have been used.

4) DNB and Nordea combined their operations in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania into the new company Luminor Group AB in the fourth quarter of 2017. DNB’s
ownership interest in Luminor Group AB is approximately 44 per cent. Luminor Group AB is consolidated in DNB according to the equity method.

5) Inthe third quarter of 2017, Vipps AS was established as a separate company and DNB entered into an agreement with 105 other Norwegian banks. DNB will
have an ownership interest in the new legal entity (Vipps AS) of close to 52 per cent. However, due to the terms and conditions in the shareholder agreement, it
has been decided to define Vipps AS as an associated company. DNB can only vote for 49.9 per cent at the General Meeting, and has only three of seven

board members. Vipps AS is consolidated in DNB according to the equity method.
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Note 36 Investments in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017

DNB Bank ASA

Ownership

Amounts in 1 000 Share Number Nominal share in Carrying
Values in NOK unless otherwise indicated capital of shares value per cent amount
Foreign subsidiaries

DNB Invest Denmark DKK 877 579 877 578 841 DKK 877 579 100 10 772 220
DNB Bank Polska PLN 1257200 1257200000 PLN 1257 200 100 1773562
DNB Asia ” usb 1 500 000 150 000 000 UsD 1500 000 100 12 297 600
DNB Asia ¥ SGD 20 000 20 000 000 SGD 20 000 100 100 769
DNB Brasil BRL 600 599 999 BRL 600 100 2542
DNB Capital 2 100 19 676 160
DNB Luxembourg EUR 70 000 70 000 EUR 70 000 100 688 293
DNB Markets Inc. usb 1 1000 UsD 1 100 3004
DNB Sweden SEK 100 000 100 000 000 SEK 100 000 100 14 486 571
DNB (UK) Limited GBP 1154200 1154200000 GBP 1154 200 100 12 791 535
Domestic subsidiaries

Aksje- og Eiendomsinvest 100 100 000 100 100 38721
Bryggetorget Holding 3250 2 500 3250 100 63 230
DNB Boligkreditt 4157 000 41 570 000 4157 000 100 36 384 000
DNB Eiendom 10 003 100 033 10 003 100 168 241
DNB Eiendomsutvikling 91 000 91 000 000 91 000 100 253931
DNB Gjenstandsadministrasjon 3000 30 3000 100 3000
DNB ID Solutions 300 3000 300 100 15033
DNB Invest Holding 100 000 200 000 100 000 100 172 000
DNB Neeringskreditt 550 000 550 000 550 000 100 5240 942
DNB Neeringsmegling 1000 10 000 1000 100 24 000
DNB Polish Properties 1200 1200 1200 100 35113
Godfjellet 8030 8030 8030 100 27 600
Godfjorden 1000 10 000 1000 100 72 000
I0S Tubular Management 900 750 900 100 42 200
Kongsberg Industrieiendom 100 1000 100 100 10 000
Total investments in subsidiaries 115 142 267

1) DNB Asia Ltd has part of its share capital denominated in SGD (due to local requirements) and a part of its share capital denominated in USD.
2) DNB Capital LLC, a limited liability company, has paid-in capital of USD 2.4 billion.

Hedging of investments in subsidiaries

In DNB Bank ASA, currency risk associated with foreign currency investments in subsidiaries is subject to fair value hedging. The hedging
instruments used are mainly debt securities issued. Changes in the value of the investments and hedging instruments resulting from exchange
rate movements are recorded in the income statement. At group level, net investments in subsidiaries are hedged through cash flow hedges for
an amount corresponding to DNB Bank's investments. Changes in the value of investments and hedging instruments are recorded in the
comprehensive income statement. Ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship is recognised in the income statement. The weakening of the
Norwegian krone through 2017 increased the value of investments in subsidiaries by NOK 687 million, which was offset by a corresponding
reduction in the value of hedging contracts, adjusted for tax effects. In 2016, there was a decrease in the value of investments in subsidiaries by
NOK 5 795 million.
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Note 37 Intangible assets

DNB Bank ASA

DNB Bank Group

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
2921 2404 Goodwill 2584 3057
571 1040 Capitalised systems development 1056 824
106 71 Other intangible assets 116 100
3598 3515 Total intangible assets 3756 3981

DNB Bank ASA

Capitalised Other
systems intangible

Amounts in NOK million Goodwill development assets Total
Cost as at 1 January 2016 3678 1486 825 5988
Additions 266 323 589
Additions from the acquisition/establishment of other companies (39) (39)
Increase/reduction in cost price (41) (41)
Disposals 0) 106 (452) (346)
Exchange rate movements (55) 2) (14) (71)
Cost as at 31 December 2016 3543 1857 681 6 080
Total depreciation and impairment as at 1 January 2016 (665) (975) (672) (2 313)
Depreciation (139) (49) (188)
Impairment ®3) 3)
Disposals 41 (169) 136 7
Exchange rate movements 3 2 11 15
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2016 (622) (1 286) (575) (2 482)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 2921 571 106 3598
Cost as at 1 January 2017 3543 1857 681 6 081
Additions 633 16 649
Additions from the acquisition/establishment of other companies
Increase/reduction in cost price
Disposals ” (697) (43) (0) (740)
Exchange rate movements 25 1 12 38
Cost as at 31 December 2017 2871 2448 709 6 028
Total cepreciation and impairment as at 1 January 2017 (622) (1 286) (575) (2 482)
Depreciation (165) (52) (216)
Impairment
Disposals ” 155 43 0 198
Exchange rate movements (0) 1) (11) (12)
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2017 (467) (1 408) (638) (2 513)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 2 404 1040 71 3515

1) Impairment losses for goodwill in 2017 of NOK 502 million was related to Cresco.
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Note 37 Intangible assets (continued)

DNB Bank Group

Capitalised Other
systems intangible
Amounts in NOK million Goodwill development assets Total
Cost as at 1 January 2016 4 665 3395 978 9039
Additions 19 266 346 632
Additions from the acquisition/establishment of other companies 0) 0)
Increase/reduction in cost price (41) 0) (41)
Disposals 3) (367) (444) (813)
Exchange rate movements (56) (55) (40) (150)
Cost as at 31 December 2016 4 585 3241 841 8 666
Total depreciation and impairment as at 1 January 2016 (1 566) (2 519) (778) (4 863)
Depreciation (241) (43) (284)
Impairment (5) ?3) 9)
Disposals 20 286 52 358
Exchange rate movements 23 60 29 112
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2016 (1528) (2417) (741) (4 685)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 3057 824 100 3981
Cost as at 1 January 2017 4 585 3241 841 8 666
Additions 45 455 28 528
Additions from the acquisition/establishment of other companies 2 2
Increase/reduction in cost price 0) 0)
Disposals (703) (43) 0) (745)
Exchange rate movements 22 147 95 263
Cost as at 31 December 2017 3949 3801 964 8714
Total depreciation and impairment as at 1 January 2017 (1 528) (2 417) (741) (4 685)
Depreciation (199) (69) (268)
Impairment (5) (42) (46)
Disposals V 160 43 0 203
Exchange rate movements 7 (130) (39) (161)
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2017 (1 365) (2 745) (848) (4 958)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 2584 1056 116 3756

1) Impairment losses for goodwill in 2017 of NOK 502 million was related to Cresco.

Goodwill

The risk-free interest rate is set at 3 per cent, the market risk premium is set at 5 per cent, and the long-term growth factor is set at 2.5 per cent
for all cash-generating units. Beta values are estimated separately for each cash-generating unit. Required rate of return is before tax. For a
detailed description of methods and assumptions used in the calculation of the recoverable amount for goodwill, see note 1 Accounting
principles.
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Note 37 Intangible assets (continued)

DNB Bank ASA Goodwill per unit as at 31 December 2017 DNB Bank Group
Required Required

Recorded rate of return Growth factor Growth factor rate of return Recorded

(NOK million) (per cent) (per cent) (per cent) (per cent) (NOK million)

982 11.9 25 Personal customers 25 11.9 982

483 11.9 25 Small and medium sized enterprises 25 11.9 483

791 11.9 25 DNB Finans - car financing 25 11.9 791

148 11.9 25 Other 25 11.9 328

2404 Total goodwill 2584

DNB Bank ASA Goodwill per unit as at 31 December 2016 DNB Bank Group
Required Required

Recorded rate of return Growth factor Growth factor rate of return Recorded

(NOK million) (per cent) (per cent) (per cent) (per cent) (NOK million)

982 12.4 25 Personal customers 25 12.4 982

483 12.4 25 Small and medium sized enterprises 25 12.4 483

791 12.4 25 DNB Finans - car financing 25 12.4 791

665 12.4 2.5 Other 2.5 12.4 801

2920 Total goodwill 3057

Personal customers — parent bank

This unit encompasses banking operations (loans and deposits) for personal customers in the regional network in Norway, and recorded good-
will mainly stems from the merger between DnB and Gjensidige NOR and the acquisition of Nordlandsbanken. In addition, some goodwill
remains from previously acquired offices in Gjensidige NOR. Key assumptions for cash flows during the plan period are developments in
margins, volumes and impairment of loans.

Small and medium sized enterprises — parent bank

This unit encompasses banking operations (loans and deposits) for corporate customers in the regional network in Norway, and recorded
goodwill mainly stems from the merger between DnB and Gjensidige NOR. Key assumptions for cash flows during the plan period are develop-
ments in margins, volumes and impairment of loans.

DNB Finans — car financing

The unit encompasses DNB'’s car financing operations in Norway and Sweden, and goodwill stems from DNB’s acquisition of Skandiabanken’s
car financing operations with effect from 2008. Critical assumptions for cash flows during the plan period are car sales figures and DNB Finans'
ability to retain customer relations with important car dealers, along with long-term margin developments and the level of impairment of loans.
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Note 38 Fixed assets

DNB Bank ASA

Bank
buildings Machinery, Fixed assets
and other equipment operating Other fixed

Amounts in NOK million properties and vehicles leases assets Total
Accumulated cost as at 31 December 2015 200 3101 8648 15 11 965
Reclassified fixed assets 7 @)

Additions 9 165 2333 1 2508
Disposals (31) (242) (2 667) (5) (2 945)
Exchange rate movements (13) (10) (296) (0) (319)
Cost as at 31 December 2016 172 3007 8018 11 11 209
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2015 (33) (1523) (2927) 2) (4 485)
Disposals 0 188 1583 0 1772
Depreciation ¥ 9) (308) (1252) 1) (1570)
Exchange rate movements 3 3 103 0 180
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2016 (39) (1 640) (2 493) ) (4 175)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 133 1367 5525 9 7034
Accumulated cost as at 31 December 2016 172 3007 8018 11 11 209
Additions 3 362 2883 2 3250
Disposals (11) (53) (2272) 3 (2 339)
Exchange rate movements 2 2 228 0 232
Cost as at 31 December 2017 167 3318 8857 10 12 352
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2016 (39) (1 640) (2 493) ) (4 175)
Disposals 6 900 905
Depreciation ¥ ©) (297) (853) %) (1161)
Exchange rate movements (1) 2 (81) (0) (80)
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2017 (49) (1928) (2 528) (4) (4 510)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 118 1390 6 329 6 7 842
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Note 38 Fixed assets (continued)

DNB Bank Group

Bank
buildings Machinery, Fixed assets
and other equipment operating Other fixed

Amounts in NOK million properties  and vehicles leases assets Total
Accumulated cost as at 31 December 2015 798 3501 8648 174 13122
Reclassified fixed assets 7 @)
Additions 19 233 2333 27 2613
Fixed assets, reclassified as held for sale (419) (280) (100) (799)
Disposals (198) (286) (2 667) 27) (3179)
Exchange rate movements (35) (24) (296) @ (363)
Cost as at 31 December 2016 173 3136 8018 67 11394
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2015 (210) (1821) (2 928) (104) (5 063)
Fixed assets, reclassified as held for sale 113 209 62 384
Disposals 78 230 1584 20 1912
Depreciation ¥ (20) (346) (1252) (13) (1631)
Impairment (13) (23)
Exchange rate movements 12 14 103 5 133
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2016 (39) (1 715) (2 493) (31) (4 278)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 133 1421 5525 36 7117
Accumulated cost as at 31 December 2016 173 3136 8018 67 11 394
Reclassified fixed assets (22) (22)
Additions 3 388 2883 3 3276
Disposals (11) (61) (2272) 4) (2 348)
Exchange rate movements 2 8 228 5 244
Cost as at 31 December 2017 168 3471 8 857 50 12 545
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2016 (39) (1 715) (2 493) (31) (4 278)
Disposals 10 900 1) 909
Depreciation ¥ 9) (310) (853) 4) 1177)
Reversal of previous impairment losses 0 2 2
Exchange rate movements (1) (5) (81) (4) (90)
Total depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 2017 (49) (2 019) (2 528) (37) (4 634)
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 118 1451 6 329 12 7911
1) Based on cost less any residual value, other assets are subject to straight-line depreciation over their expected useful life within the following limits:

Technical installations 10 years

Machinery 3-10 years

Fixtures and fittings 5-10 years

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Means of transport 5-7 years

The DNB Bank ASA has not placed any collateral for loans/funding of fixed assets, including property.
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Note 39 Leasing
DNB Bank ASA Financial leases (as lessor) DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Gross investment in the lease
12 165 12 439 Due within 1 year 12 500 13472
31348 31827 Due in 1-5 years 32515 35624
3275 3850 Due in more than 5 years 3850 3335
46 788 48 116 Total gross investment in the lease 48 865 52 431
Present value of minimum lease payments
11788 12 053 Due within 1 year 12 113 12 930
25235 25620 Due in 1-5 years 25726 28 883
2171 2 553 Due in more than 5 years 2 553 2226
39 195 40 226 Total present value of lease payments 40 392 44 039
7594 7 889 Unearned financial income 8473 8393
65 72 Unguaranteed residual values accruing to the lessor 72 65
1894 2100 Accumulated loan-loss provisions 2100 1918
51 56 Variable lease payments recognised as income during the period 56 117
DNB Bank ASA Operational leases (as lessor) DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases
342 267 Due within 1 year 267 342
1708 2102 Due in 1-5 years 2123 1723
33 15 Due in more than 5 years 15 33
2083 2384 Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases 2 405 2098
DNB Bank ASA Operational leases (as lessee) DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Minimum future lease payments under non-cancellable leases
81 40 Due within 1 year 52 93
372 408 Due in 1-5 years 469 449
5837 5830 Due in more than 5 years 5830 5837
6290 6 277 Total minimum future lease payments under non-cancellable leases 6 352 6 379
Total minimum future sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable
478 542 subleases 365 287
DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Leases recognised as an expense during the period
857 827 Minimum lease payments 852 822
13 Variable lease payments 13
857 840 Total leases recognised as an expense during the period 865 822

©)

©)

Impairment of leases

© ©)
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Note 40 Other assets

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

736 462 Accrued expenses and prepaid revenues 527 841

1801 1734 Amounts outstanding on documentary credits and other payment services 1743 1809

1060 2677 Unsettled contract notes 2677 1197

9 865 17 218 Other amounts outstanding 2940 4408

13 462 22 092 Total other assets ? 7888 8 255

1) DNB Bank ASA had outstanding group contributions totaling NOK 15 160 million as at 31 December 2017.
2) Other assets are generally of a short-term nature.

Note 41 Deposits from customers for principal customer groups
DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
344 437 354 216 Private individuals 361 969 348 263
51 347 46 559 Transportation by sea and pipelines and vessel construction 46 559 51 347
47 711 52 889 Real estate 48 056 43 307
67 394 57 280 Manufacturing 59 951 68 738
128 298 141 457 Services 142 878 129 567
27 672 32302 Trade 33808 28 408
27 266 34110 Oil and gas 34110 27 267
50 265 48 249 Transportation and communication 50 750 52 650
26 074 22149 Building and construction 22 815 26 435
19 023 15738 Power and water supply 16 527 19 469
7 582 8 445 Seafood 8 445 7 582
3071 3078 Hotels and restaurants 3078 3071
2444 2339 Agriculture and forestry 2362 2 465
57 106 54 662 Central and local government 55114 57 715
60 742 82 876 Finance 93 671 79 061
920 434 956 350 Total deposits from customers, nominal amount 980 095 945 344
230 175 Adjustments 279 349
920 664 956 525 Deposits from customers 980 374 945 694

The breakdown into principal customer groups corresponds to the EU's standard industrial classification, NACE Rev.2.
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Note 42 Debt securities issued

Changes in debt securities issued DNB Bank ASA
Balance Exchange

sheet Matured/ rate Other
31 Dec. Issued redeemed movements  adjustments 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016
Commercial paper issued, nominal amount 158 675 1771171 (1767 362) 1451 153 415
Bond debt, nominal amount 159 536 17 206 (37 206) 6168 173 368
Adjustments 7961 (2197) 10 158
Total debt securities issued 326 171 1788 376 (1 804 568) 7619 (2197) 336 941
Maturity of debt securities issued recorded at amortised cost as at 31 December 2017 V2 DNB Bank ASA

Foreign
Amounts in NOK million NOK currency Total
2018 16 140 16 140
2019 13731 13731
2020 49 762 49 762
2021 34 437 34 437
2022 19 840 19 840
2023 9426 9426
2024 and later 6944 6944
Total bond debt, recorded at amortised cost, nominal amount 150 280 150 280
Maturity of debt securities issued recorded at fair value as at 31 December 2017 ¥ DNB Bank ASA

Foreign
Amounts in NOK million NOK currency Total
2018 17 158 658 158 675
Total commercial paper issued, nominal amount 17 158 658 158 675
2018 2410 2410
2019 1722 1722
2020 1531 1531
2021 3453 3453

2022
2023

2024 and later 139 139
Total bond debt, nominal amount 9 255 9 255
Total debt securities issued recorded at fair value, nominal amount 9273 158 658 167 930
Adjustments 485 7475 7961
Debt securities issued 9 758 316 413 326 171

1) Minus own bonds.
2) Includes hedged items.
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Note 42 Debt securities issued (continued)

Changes in debt securities issued DNB Bank Group

Balance Exchange

sheet Matured/ rate Other

31 Dec. Issued redeemed movements  adjustments 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016
Commercial paper issued, nominal amount 158 675 1771171 (1767 362) 1451 153 415
Bond debt, nominal amount 598 202 77 859 (89 010) 27 906 581 447
Adjustments 25 250 (7 638) 32888
Total debt securities issued 782 127 1849030 (1856 373) 29 357 (7 638) 767 750

1)2)

Maturity of debt securities issued recorded at amortised cost as at 31 December 2017 DNB Bank Group

Foreign
Amounts in NOK million NOK currency Total
2018 74913 74913
2019 56 174 56 174
2020 85 082 85 082
2021 85 067 85 067
2022 87 648 87 648
2023 34 873 34 873
2024 and later 93 019 93 019
Total bond debt, recorded at amortised cost, nominal amount 516 777 516 777
Maturity of debt securities issued recorded at fair value as at 31 December 2017 DNB Bank Group
Foreign
Amounts in NOK million NOK currency Total
2018 17 158 658 158 675
Total commercial paper issued, nominal amount 17 158 658 158 675
2018 8 669 8 669
2019 18 085 18 085
2020 20 400 20 400
2021 19 557 19 557
2022 12 197 12 197
2023 257 257
2024 and later 2 259 2 259
Total bond debt, nominal amount 81 425 81 425
Total debt securities issued recorded at fair value, nominal amount 81 443 158 658 240 100
Adjustments 2 267 22 983 25 250
Debt securities issued 83710 698 417 782 127

1) Minus own bonds. Nominal amount of outstanding covered bonds in DNB Boligkreditt totalled NOK 450.4 billion as at 31 December 2017. The cover pool
market value represented NOK 617.8 billion.
2) Includes hedged items.
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Note 43 Subordinated loan capital and perpetual subordinated loan capital securities

Changes in subordinated loan capital and perpetual subordinated loan capital securities DNB Bank Group

Balance Exchange Balance

sheet Matured/ rate Other sheet

31 Dec. Issued redeemed movements  adjustments 31 Dec.

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016

Term subordinated loan capital, nominal amount 23897 10 106 (6 812) 1189 19 415

Perpetual subordinated loan capital, nominal amount 5361 (241) 5 602
Perpetual subordinated loan capital securities,

nominal amount (3732) 3732

Adjustments 280 (319) 599

Total subordinated loan capital and
perpetual subordinated loan capital securities 29 538 10 106 (10 544) 948 (319) 29 347

DNB Bank Group

Carrying
Carrying amount Call amount
Year raised in foreign currency Interest rate Maturity date in NOK
Term subordinated loan capital
2012 EUR 750 3.00% p.a. 2023 2018 7375
2013 NOK 1250 3-month NIBOR + 1.70% 2023 2018 1250
2015 SEK 1000 1.97% p.a. 2025 2020 999
2015 SEK 3000 3-month STIBOR + 1.40% 2025 2020 2997
2016 JPY 10 000 1.00% p.a. 2026 2021 729
2017 JPY 11 500 1.04% p.a. 2027 2022 838
2017 NOK 1400 3-month NIBOR + 1.75% 2027 2022 1400
2017 NOK 170 3.08% p.a. 2027 2022 170
2017 SEK 750 3-month STIBOR + 1.70% 2027 2022 749
2017 SEK 1000 1.98% p.a. 2027 2022 999
2017 EUR 650 1.25% p.a. 2027 2022 6 391
Total, nominal amount 23 897
Perpetual subordinated loan capital
1985 usb 215 3-month LIBOR + 0.25% 1763
1986 usb 150 6-month LIBOR + 0.15% 1230
1986 usD 200 6-month LIBOR + 0.13% 1640
1999 JPY 10 000 4.51% p.a. 2029 729
Total, nominal amount 5361

The subordinated loan capital and perpetual subordinated loan capital securities are issued by DNB Bank ASA.
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Note 44 Other liabilities

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
1574 458 Short-term funding 458 1574
516 6214 Short positions trading 6214 516
3602 3836 Accrued expenses and prepaid revenues 4136 3890
2810 2032 Documentary credits, cheques and other payment services 2053 2831
2906 2828 Unsettled contract notes 2828 2943

9 858 32894 Group contribution/dividends
632 1202 Accounts payable 1384 1015
246 219 General employee bonus 219 246
1749 1420 Other liabilities 2013 2765
23893 51103 Total other liabilities 19 304 15 781

1) Other liabilities are generally of a short-term nature.

Note 45

Equity

Share capital

DNB Bank ASA is wholly owned subsidiary of DNB ASA, which is a Norwegian public limited company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange (Oslo
Bars). The share capital of DNB Bank ASA at 31 December 2017 was NOK 18 255 648 000 divided into 182 556 480 shares, each with a
nominal value of NOK 100. At 31 December 2016 the share capital was 18 314 311 000 divided into 183 143 110 shares, each with a nhominal
value of NOK 100. The share capital was reduced with NOK 58 663 000 divided into 586 630 shares following the demerger of Vipps in third

quarter of 2017.

Fund for unrealised gains

The restricted share of retained earnings (fund for unrealised gains) in DNB Bank ASA totalled NOK 2 177 million at 31 December 2017 and
NOK 1 588 million at 31 December 2016.

Additional Tier 1 capital

The additional Tier 1 capital is issued by DNB Bank ASA.

Changes in additional Tier 1 capital

DNB Bank Group

Balance Exchange Balance

sheet Interest Interest rate sheet

31 Dec. Issued paid accrued  movements 31 Dec.

Amounts in NOK million 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016
Additional Tier 1 capital, nominal amount 15 574 15574
Adjustments 585 (724) 938 7 379
Additional Tier 1 capital 16 159 (724) 938 (7) 15 952
DNB Bank Group

Carrying

Carrying amount amount

Year raised in foreign currency Interest rate in NOK
2015 NOK 2 150 3-month NIBOR + 3.25% 2 150
2015 usD 750 5.75% p.a. 5903
2016 NOK 1400 3-month NIBOR + 5.25% 1400
2016 uUsD 750 6.50% p.a. 6120
Total, nominal amount 15574
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Note 46 Remunerations etc.

Pursuant to Section 6-16a of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, the Board of Directors will
present the following statement on remunerations to the Annual General Meeting for voting:

"Information about DNB’s remuneration scheme

Pursuant to the Financial Institutions Regulations adopted by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance on 9 December 2016, companies are required
to publish information about the main principles for determining remunerations, criteria for the stipulation of any variable remunerations and
guantitative information on remuneration to senior executives. The information in this note, including the Board of Directors' statement on the
stipulation of salaries and other remunerations to senior executives below, represents such information, as stipulated in the Financial Institutions
Reguations.

The standard for remuneration in the DNB Group applies to the total remuneration to all permanent employees in the DNB Group and has been
approved by the Board of Directors. The standard comprises total remuneration (fixed salary, short and long-term incentives) and employee
benefits (pensions, employer's liability insurance and other employee benefits). According to the standard, total remuneration is to be based on
a total evaluation of the performance of the Group, as well as the unit's and each individual's contributions to value creation. Total remuneration
should be structured to ensure that it does not expose the Group to unwanted risk. The remuneration should be competitive, but also cost-
effective for the Group.

Furthermore, the total remuneration shall consist of fixed salary, any supplementary pay related to the relevant position and a variable part
where this is appropriate. Fixed salary should be a compensation for the responsibilities and requirements assigned to each position, as well as
its complexity, while variable remuneration should encourage strong performance and desired conduct.

Variable remuneration

The group standards shall ensure that variable remuneration is granted in accordance with the provisions in the Financial Institutions
Regulations and the circular from Finanstilsynet on remuneration schemes in financial institutions, investment firms and management
companies for mutual funds, DNB has had separate group standards for variable remuneration since 2011, including special rules for variable
remuneration to senior executives, employees with responsibilities which are of great importance to the company's risk exposure ("risk takers”)
and employees who are responsible for independent control functions.

The purpose of variable remuneration is to reward conduct and develop a corporate culture which ensures long-term value generation.

Variable remuneration is based on an overall assessment of the results achieved within defined target areas for the Group, the unit and the
individual, as well as compliance with the Group's purpose, values, Code of Conduct and leadership principles. The variable remuneration
should be performance-based without exposing the Group to unwanted risk. Furthermore, it should counteract excessive risk taking and
promote sound and effective risk management in DNB. Variable remuneration (bonus) cannot exceed 50 per cent of fixed salary for senior
executives and 100 per cent for other risk takers.

DNB'’s variable remuneration scheme applies globally, though non-Norwegian branches and subsidiaries will also be required to comply with
local legislation, regulations and guidelines. There may be challenges of a legal nature in cases where the Norwegian regulations do not corre-
spond to local legislation and local rules concerning remunerations in financial institutions. In such cases, the Group will seek advice from the
relevant authorities and international experts to ensure that the Group's practices are in compliance with both Norwegian and local regulations.

The Board of Directors' statement on the stipulation of salaries and other remunerations to senior executives

DNB's standard for determining remunerations to the group chief executive and other members of the group management team should, at all
times, support prevailing strategy and values, while contributing to the attainment of the Group’s targets. The remuneration should inspire con-
duct to build the desired corporate culture with respect to performance and profit orientation. No changes have been made in the principles for
the stipulation of variable remunerations compared with the statement for the previous year.

Decision-making process

The Board of Directors in DNB ASA has established a compensation committee consisting of four members: the chairman of the Board, the
vice-chairman, one board member and one board member elected by the employees.

The Compensation Committee prepares matters for the Board of Directors and has the following main responsibilities:

=  Annually evaluate and present its recommendations regarding the total remuneration awarded to the group chief executive

= Annually prepare recommended targets for the group chief executive

] Based on suggestions from the group chief executive, decide the remuneration and other key benefits awarded to the group executive vice
president, Group Audit and the group executive vice president, Group Risk Management

= Actin an advisory capacity to the group chief executive regarding remunerations and other key benefits for members of the group
management team and, when applicable, for others who report to the group chief executive

= Consider other matters as decided by the Board of Directors and/or the Compensation Committee
. Evaluate other personnel-related issues which can be assumed to entail great risk to the Group's reputation
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Note 46 Remunerations etc. (continued)

A. Standards for the coming accounting year

Remuneration to the group chief executive

The total remuneration to the group chief executive consists of fixed salary (main element), benefits in kind, variable remuneration, and pension
and insurance schemes. The total remuneration is determined based on a total evaluation, and the variable part of the remuneration is primarily
based on the Group’s financial targets. In addition to the financial targets, strategic targets have been established, whereby developments in the
Group’s competence, innovative power and corporate responsibility are assessed. In addition, the total evaluation will reflect compliance with
the Group's purpose, values, Code of Conduct and leadership principles.

The fixed salary is subject to an annual evaluation and is determined based on salary levels in the labour market in general and in the financial
industry in particular, and on remuneration levels for comparable positions.

Variable salary to the group chief executive is determined based on an overall assessment of the results achieved within defined target areas.
Variable salary cannot exceed 50 per cent of fixed salary. The group chief executive is not awarded performance-based payments other than
the stated variable remuneration.

In addition to variable remuneration, the group chief executive can be granted benefits in kind such as company car, newspapers/periodicals
and telephone/ other communication. Benefits in kind should be relevant to the group chief executive's function or in line with market practice,
and should not be significant relative to the group chief executive’s fixed salary.

The group chief executive is a member of the defined-contribution pension scheme pursuant to the Norwegian Defined-contribution Pension Act
in line with all other employees in Norway.

As of 1 January 2017, the group chief executive also has a defined-contribution direct pension agreement. In connection with the conversion
from a defined-benefit to a defined-contribution direct pension scheme, the group chief executive was ensured entitlements which, calculated
on the conversion date, were estimated to correspond to the technical insurance value of the former defined-benefit agreement. Based on the
calculation assumptions, this agreement will have the same value as the former defined-benefit agreement would have had at retirement age,
which is 60 years. After the age of 60, no further contributions will be earned under the direct pension agreement.

According to the agreement, the group chief executive is entitled to a termination payment for two years if employment is terminated prior to the
age of 60. If, during this period, the group chief executive receives income from other employment, the termination payment will be reduced by
an amount corresponding to the salary received from this employment. Benefits in kind will be maintained for a period of three months.

Remuneration to senior executives
The group chief executive determines the remunerations to senior executives in agreement with the chairman of the Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors will honour existing binding agreements.

The total remuneration to senior executives consists of fixed salary (main element), benefits in kind, variable salary, and pension and insurance
schemes. The total remuneration is determined based on the need to offer competitive terms in the various business areas. The remunerations
should promote the Group's competitiveness in the relevant labour market, as well as the Group's profitability, including the desired trend in
income and costs. The total remuneration should take DNB's reputation into consideration and ensure that DNB attracts and retains senior
executives with the desired skills and experience.

The fixed salary is subject to an annual evaluation and is determined based on salary levels in the labour market in general and in the financial
industry in particular.

The variable remuneration to senior executives is determined based on an overall assessment of the results achieved within defined target
areas. Variable salary cannot exceed 50 per cent of fixed salary.

Benefits in kind may be offered to senior executives to the extent the benefits have a relevant connection to the employee's function in the
Group or are in line with market practice. The benefits should not be significant relative to the employee's fixed salary.

Target structure 2018

The Compensation Committee approves principal criteria, principles and limits for variable remuneration. The Board of Directors has decided
that the Group’s return on equity, risk-adjusted return on equity and cost/income ratio will constitute the financial target figures for 2018. In
addition to the financial targets, strategic targets have been established, whereby developments in the Group’s competence, innovative power
and corporate responsibility are assessed. The Group’s financial target figures have been broken down into relevant targets for the various
business areas and staff and support units.

The above targets will be key elements when calculating and paying out the variable remuneration for 2018. All targets have been defined and
communicated to the relevant business areas and staff and support units as part of the work with and follow-up of the targets for 2018.
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Note 46 Remunerations etc. (continued)

Determination of variable remuneration for 2018
The variable remuneration for 2018 will be determined by means of an overall assessment of performance, based on a combination of quanti-
tative attainment of pre-set performance targets and qualitative assessments of how the targets were achieved.

The Board of Directors will determine a maximum limit for total bonuses for the Group, excluding DNB Markets, DNB Eiendom and investment
managers in DNB Asset Management, based on the attainment of group targets over the last two years, combined with a general assessment of
other important parameters and the Group’s financial capacity. The total limit will be allocated to the organisation based on the individual units’
target attainment and contributions to the Group’s performance. With respect to DNB Markets and investment managers in DNB Asset
Management, special limits will be determined for variable remuneration based on the profits achieved by the unit and an overall assessment,
which is in line with market practice for these types of operations. Correspondingly, the remuneration model in DNB Eiendom is consistent with
market practice, with a high share of variable remuneration based on individual performance.

Special rules for senior executives, identified risk takers and employees responsible for independent control functions

DNB has prepared and implemented special rules for identified risk takers, employees responsible for independent control functions and senior
executives, hereinafter called risk takers. The special rules supplement the general group standards for remuneration and have been formulated
in compliance with the Financial Institutions Regulations and the related circular from Finanstilsynet.

In accordance with prevailing requirements, DNB has surveyed the entire organisation to identify risk takers based on the criteria resulting from
the circular and the EU regulation.

For risk takers, the following main principles apply to variable remuneration:

. The remuneration is earned over a period of two years.

=  Variable remuneration cannot exceed the agreed fixed remuneration.

= Senior executives in independent control functions will receive no variable remuneration as from the 2018 income year.

There will be a deferred and conditional payment of minimum 50 per cent of the earned variable remuneration in the form of DNB shares. The
remuneration paid in the form of shares will be divided into three, subject to minimum holding periods (deferred and conditional), with one-third
each year over a period of three years. The deferred and conditional payments will be in compliance with the stipulations in the Financial
Institutions Regulations.

Pensions etc.

Pension schemes and any agreements on termination payments etc. should be considered relative to other remuneration and should ensure
competitive terms. The various components in pension schemes and severance pay, either alone or together, must not be such that they could
pose a threat to DNB’s reputation.

All employees in Norway are members of the defined-contribution pension scheme pursuant to the Norwegian Defined-contribution Pension Act.
Up to 31 December 2016, most senior executives in the Group had agreements entitling them to a defined-benefit pension at the age of 65,
subject to certain adaptations, which at all times have been in accordance with government guidelines for remunerations to senior executives.
Pension entitlements were not to exceed 70 per cent of fixed salary and should constitute maximum 12 times the National Insurance basic
amount. However, the DNB Group has honoured existing agreements. As of 1 January 2017, these agreements have been replaced by defined-
contribution direct pension agreements based on the same calculation assumptions and principles as those used in connection with the
conversion of the Group’s defined-benefit occupational pension scheme in 2016 pursuant to the Norwegian Occupational Pension Act.

The pension entitlements of the senior executives, calculated on the conversion date, are estimated to correspond to the technical value of the
former defined-benefit scheme. Future capital entittements now comprise annual contributions and the return on the entittements earned. The
annual contributions are calculated individually to ensure that, based on the calculation assumptions, the defined-contribution direct pension
scheme will have the same value as the former defined-benefit agreement would have had at the agreed retirement age.

As a main rule, no termination payment agreements will be signed. However, the Group will honour existing agreements.
When entering into new agreements, the group standards generally apply and comprise all senior executives.

See table of remunerations for senior executives below.

B. Binding standards for shares, subscription rights, options etc. for the coming accounting year

An amount corresponding to 50 per cent of the earned variable remuneration of the group chief executive, senior executives and other risk
takers is invested in shares in DNB ASA. The minimum holding periods are one year for one-third of the shares, two years for one-third of the
shares and three years for the final one-third of the shares.

No additional shares, subscription rights, options or other forms of remuneration only linked to shares or only to developments in the share
price of the company or other companies within the Group, will be awarded to the group chief executive or senior executives. The group chief
executive and senior executives are, however, given the opportunity to participate in a share subscription scheme on the same terms as other
employees in the DNB Group.

C. Statement on the senior executive salary policy in the previous account year
The group standards determined in 2011, including changes effective as from 2015, have been followed.

DNB BANK — ANNUAL REPORT 2017 / 93



Note 46 Remunerations etc. (continued)

D. Statement on the effects for the company and the shareholders of remuneration agreements awarding shares,
subscription rights, options etc.

An amount corresponding to 50 per cent of the gross variable remuneration earned by the group chief executive, senior executives and other

risk takers in 2017 is invested in shares in DNB ASA. The Board of Directors believes that the awarding of shares to senior-executives, in view

of the total number of shares in the company, will have no negative consequences for the company or the shareholders."

Terms for the chairman of the Board of Directors

Anne Carine Tanum received a remuneration of NOK 450 000 in 2017 as chairman of the Board of Directors of DNB Bank ASA, compared with
NOK 437 000 in 2016. In addition, she received NOK 559 000 as chairman of the Board of Directors of DNB ASA, compared with NOK 548 000
in 2016.

Terms for the group chief executive

Rune Bjerke received an ordinary salary of NOK 5 957 000 in 2017, compared with NOK 5 794 000 in 2016. The Board of Directors of DNB
ASA stipulated the group chief executive's variable remuneration for 2017 at NOK 2 272 000, compared with NOK 2 010 000 in 2016. The
variable remuneration for 2017 will be paid in 2018. There wil be a deferred and conditional payment of 50 per cent of the earned variable
remuneration in the form of DNB shares. The remuneration paid in the form of shares will be divided into three, subject to minimum holding
periods of up to three years. Benefits in kind were estimated at NOK 301 000, compared with NOK 322 000 in 2016.

Costs in connection with the group chief executive’s pension scheme of NOK 5 105 000 were recorded for the 2017 accounting year, compared
with NOK 3 871 000 in 2016. Costs are divided between DNB ASA and DNB Bank ASA. The costs recorded in the 2016 accounts consisted of
two elements: pension entitlements earned during the year (NOK 4 989 000) and a deduction for the effect of the conversion of the pension
scheme for salaries in excess of 12G (NOK 1 118 000).
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Note 46

Remunerations etc. (continued)

The table has been constructed to show rights earned during the period.

Remunerations etc. in 2017

DNB Bank Group

Benefits Specially
Fixed annual Variable in kind Total agreed  Accrued
salary Remunera- Paid remunera- andother remunera- Loans as retire-  pension
as at 31 Dec. tion earned salaries tion earned benefits tion earned at 31 Dec. ment expenses
Amounts in NOK 1 000 20177  in2017? in2017% in2017*  in2017 in 2017 2017° age” in2017°
Board of Directors of DNB Bank ASA
Anne Carine Tanum (chairman) 1009 1009
Gro Bakstad (vice-chairman, from 25.04.17) 225 225 3
Jarle Bergo (until 25.04.17) 253 1 254
Lillian Hattrem 631 327 638 22 36 1023 3185 74
Kim Wahl 327 327 46
Group management
Rune Bjerke, CEO 5695 5957 2272 301 8530 9620 60 5105
Bjorn Erik Naess, CFO (until 01.03.17) 2045 250 3308 5603 957 19
Kjerstin Braathen, CFO (from 01.03.17) 4 000 3881 1522 216 5618 12 65 707
Trond Bentestuen, group EVP 3560 3675 1362 263 5300 6 144 65 881
Ottar Ertzeid, group EVP 9020 9419 3822 238 13 479 21 62 781
Benedicte S. Fasmer, group EVP 2950 3179 1122 270 4571 6014 115
Rasmus Aage Figenschou,
group EVP (from 11.12.17) 2340 2130 647 163 2940 11 666 115
Liv Fiksdahl, group EVP (until 11.12.17) 3200 3347 1222 245 4814 1113 62 1235
Rune Garborg, group EVP (until 01.09.17) 2950 2179 950 214 3343 6401 175
Solveig Hellebust, group EVP 3200 2693 1022 234 3950 18 65 400
Ida Lerner, group EVP (from 11.12.17) ® 3992 2162 1477 2 376 6 015
Bengt Olav Lund, group EVP
(from 01.05.17 until 11.12.17) 2950 3232 1072 255 4 558 6 592 115
Thomas Midteide, group EVP 2500 2568 1022 251 3840 2186 65 269
Kari Olrud Moen, group EVP (until 11.12.17) 2880 3021 1000 234 4 255 21 62 1441
Alf Otterstad, group EVP (from 11.12.17) 1840 1664 622 150 2436 3124 115
Tom Rathke, group EVP (until 01.05.17) 3480 3795 872 245 4912 6078 62 2454
Hans Olav Rgnningen,
group EVP (from 11.12.17) 1650 1714 822 180 2716 4 880 206
Harald Serck-Hanssen, group EVP 4175 4 368 1422 258 6 048 5130 65 1217
Terje Turnes, group EVP (until 11.12.17) 4010 4143 582 242 4967 92 709
Loans to other employees 19 235 018

1) Fixed annual salary at year-end for employees who were members of the Board of Directors or the group management team during the year.
2) Includes remuneration received from all companies within the DNB Group for service on Boards of Directors and committees. For those who have received
remuneration for more than one position in 2017, the following amounts are related to their board positions in DNB Bank ASA:

Anne Carine Tanum: NOK 450 000

Jarle Bergo: NOK 108 000

Some persons are members of more than one body.
3) Includes salary payments for the entire year and holiday pay on bonuses. Some employees were members of the Board of Directors or the group management

team for only parts of the year.

4) Variable remuneration earned excluding holiday pay.
5) Loans to shareholder-elected representatives are extended on ordinary customer terms. Loans to DNB employees are extended on special terms, which are

close to ordinary customer terms.

6) Pension rights earned during the year (SCC). The calculation of pension entitlements is based on the same economic and actuarial assumptions as those used

in note 24 Pensions.

7) The agreed retirement age is specified when a special agreement has been entered into which includes related defined-contribution pension entitlements
deviating from stipulations in the company’s general standards.

8) Ida Lerner is on international assignment from Sweden to Norway. Prior to joining DNB’s management team on 11 December 2017, she was head of DNB
CEMEA in London, also on an international assignment contract. In accordance with DNB'’s international assignment policy, she has assignment-related
benefits in kind, such as accommodation and children’s school costs. Both her salary and benefits in kind are provided as net entittements. The amounts have
been grossed up with Norwegian taxes by an external service provider. As she is not a member of the Norwegian National Insurance Scheme, no social security
contributions have been included in the gross amounts. In her new role as head of an independent control function, Ida Lerner will receive no variable
remuneration as from the 2018 income year.
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Note 46 Remunerations etc. (continued)

The table has been constructed to show rights earned during the period.

Remunerations etc. in 2016

DNB Bank Group

Benefits
Fixed annual Variable in kind Total Accrued
salary Remunera- Paid remunera- and other  remunera- Loans as pension
as at 31 Dec. tion earned salaries tion earned benefits  tion earned at 31 Dec. expenses
Amounts in NOK 1 000 2016"Y  in2016”  in2016Y in2016* in 2016 in 2016 2016 in 2016 ©
Board of Directors of DNB Bank ASA
Anne Carine Tanum (chairman) 985 2 987
Jarle Bergo 710 6 717
Lillian Hattrem (from 1 January 2016) 594 321 597 20 39 977 3257 73
Kim Wahl 319 319 51
Group management
Rune Bjerke, CEO 5556 5794 2010 322 8126 8845 4989
Bjorn Erik Naess, CFO (until 01.03.17) 3880 4071 1520 234 5825 956 5224
Kjerstin Braathen, CFO (from 01.03.17) 3010 3150 1150 234 4534 40 619
Trond Bentestuen, group EVP 3560 3204 1290 268 4763 6 301 706
Ottar Ertzeid, group EVP 8 820 9 205 3800 235 13 240 23 623
Benedicte S. Fasmer, group EVP
(from 26.09.16) 2950 2383 870 205 3459 7476 113
Liv Fiksdahl, group EVP 3050 3196 1110 243 4549 1236 1014
Rune Garborg, group EVP (from 26.09.16) 2950 2423 1420 229 4072 6634 321
Solveig Hellebust, group EVP 2 450 2571 930 232 3733 3 379
Thomas Midteide, group EVP 2500 2098 930 259 3287 4 482 256
Kari Olrud Moen, group EVP 2810 2945 1020 232 4197 18 1320
Tom Rathke, group EVP 3400 3733 1020 276 5030 6221 2613
Bengt Olav Lund, EVP 2610 1982 1260 204 3445 7115 113
Harald Serck-Hanssen, group EVP 4090 4279 1400 252 5931 5372 1004
Terje Turnes, group EVP 3930 4119 580 235 4935 575
Loans to other employees 18 112 694

1) Fixed annual salary at year-end for employees who were members of the Board of Directors or the group management team during the year.
2) Includes remuneration received from all companies within the DNB Group for service on Boards of Directors and committees. For those who have received
remuneration for more than one position in 2016, the following amounts are related to their board positions in DNB Bank ASA:

Anne Carine Tanum: NOK 437 000

Jarle Bergo: NOK 319 000

Some persons are members of more than one body.
3) Includes salary payments for the entire year and holiday pay on bonuses. Some employees were members of the Board of Directors or the group management

team for only parts of the year.
4) Bonus earned excluding holiday pay.

5) Loans to shareholder-elected representatives are extended on ordinary customer terms. Loans to DNB employees are extended on special terms, which are

close to ordinary customer terms.

6) Pension rights earned during the year (SCC). The calculation of pension entitlements is based on the same economic and actuarial assumptions as those used

in note 24 Pensions. Pension rights earned during the year exclude the effect of the pension scheme conversion, see table in the 2016 annual report.

7) Acting head of Wealth Management since May 2016. Fixed salary includes acting pay.
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Note 46 Remunerations etc. (continued)

Changes in the group management team

Bjorn Erik Neess retired on 1 March 2017 and thus left the group management team. Tom Rathke left the group management team on 1 May
2017, but is still employed in DNB with other responsibilities. As of the same date, Bengt Olav Lund became a permanent member of the group
management team.

In connection with the establishment of Vipps as a separate limited company, Rune Garborg left the group management team as of
1 September 2017. His employment relationship in DNB was transferred to Vipps AS in connection with the demerger.

The new group structure effective on 11 December 2017 resulted in changes in the composition of the group management team. Ida Lerner

and Ingjerd Blekeli Spiten (as of 9 January 2018) became new permanent members. In addition, Rasmus Aage Figenschau and Alf Otterstad
became acting members of the group management team. Bengt Olav Lund, Liv Fiksdahl and Terje Turnes left the group management team, but
are still employed in DNB with other responsibilities. Kari Olrud Moen chose to terminate her employment in DNB parallel to leaving the group
management team and was granted a 12-month severance agreement. The other group executive vice presidents remained members of the
group management team, some of whom were given other responsibilities.

Other information on pension agreements
The pension schemes of all senior executives were changed as of 1 January 2017, as described in the annual report for 2016. Changes in the
pension agreements did not entail any changes in previously agreed age limits.

Bjorn Erik Neess’ pension agreement entitled him to a pension representing 70 per cent of pensionable income from the age of 62. When

he reached the agreed age, it was decided to extend his period of employment up until 1 March 2017. In the same way as for other senior
executives, his pension agreement was also converted with effect from 31 December 2016, with a capital value corresponding to the technical
insurance reserves on the original retirement date. No contributions were paid under the direct pension scheme in the period up to his final
retirement on 1 March 2017.

See the annual report for 2016 for a specification of the pension expenses recorded in the accounts in 2016.

Subscription rights programme for employees
There was no subscription rights programme for employees in the DNB Bank Group at year-end 2017.

DNB Bank ASA Remuneration to the statutory auditor DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK 1 000, excluding VAT 2017 2016

(10 465) (9871) Statutory audit ? (21 156) (23 628)

(1 016) (1 163) Other certification services (2 305) (1731)

(12 860) (6 731) Tax-related advice ? (11 456) (12 874)
(3476) (4 555) Other services (5 975) (3570)

(27 817) (22 320) Total remuneration to the statutory auditor (40 892) (41 803)

1) Includes fees for interim audit and auditing funds managed by DNB.
2) Mainly refers to tax-related advice to employees on international assignments.
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Note 47 Information on related parties

DNB Bank ASA is 100 per cent owned by DNB ASA. The largest owner of the DNB Group is the Norwegian government, represented by the
Ministry of Trade and Industry, which owns and controls 34 per cent of the shares in the parent company DNB ASA.

A large number of bank transactions are entered into with related parties as part of ordinary business transactions, comprising loans, deposits
and foreign exchange transactions. These transactions are based on market terms. The table below shows transactions with related parties,
including balance sheets at year-end and related expenses and income for the year. Related companies in the table are associated companies
plus DNB Savings Bank Foundation. See note 35 for a specification of associated companies. Loans to board members and their spouses/
partners and under-age children are extended on ordinary customer terms. Loans to group management, like loans to other group employees,
are extended on special terms, which are close to ordinary customer terms. Transactions with other DNB Bank Group companies are shown in
a separate table.

Transactions with related parties DNB Bank Group

Group management and Board of Directors Related companies
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016 2017 2016
Loans as at 1 January 60 44 1125 913
New loans/repayments during the year (6) 9) (48) 37)
Changes in related parties 2 24 21238 249
Loans as at 31 December 56 60 22 315 1125
Interest income 2 1 25 24
Deposits as at 1 January 253 235 781 702
Deposits/withdrawals during the year 47 14 319 78
Changes in related parties (55) 5 334 1
Deposits as at 31 December 245 253 1434 781
Interest expenses 1) 0) (@) 8)
Guarantees " - - 3543 5951

1) DNB Bank ASA has issued guarantees for other loans in Eksportfinans. The total guarantee commitment is included in the table above.

No impairments were made on loans to related parties in 2016 and 2017. Reference is made to note 46 for information on loans to group
management members and directors. Transactions with deputy members of the Board of Directors are not included in the table above. In
general, DNB employee loans should be paid by automatic debit in monthly instalments in arrear. Employee loans are within the term limits
applying to general customer relationships. Security is furnished for employee loans in accordance with legal requirements.

DNB Bank ASA Transactions with other DNB Group companies DNB Bank Group
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

393 832 126 157 Loans as at 31 December 25950 22 059

20 250 83 702 Other receiveables as at 31 December 2 394 726

143 450 126 077 Deposits as at 31 December 9237 10 796

62 288 102 327 Other liabilities as at 31 December ? 1759 919

5387 5506 Interest income 578 506

(2 897) (3 055) Interest expenses (48) (56)

6 508 6 990 Net other operating income ¥ 1995 1884

(132) (187) Operating expenses (166) (106)

1) For DNB Bank ASA, the table includes transactions with subsidiaries, sister companies and DNB ASA. For the banking group, the table includes transactions
with sister companies and DNB ASA. Investments in bonds issued by related parties are described below and are not included in the table.

2) Other receivables and other liabilities in DNB Bank ASA as at 31 December 2016 and 2017 were mainly financial derivative contracts with DNB Boligkreditt as
counterparty and group contributions.

3) DNB Bank ASA recorded NOK 2 884 million and NOK 1 591 million in group contributions from subsidiaries in 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Note 47 Information on related parties (continued)

Major transactions and agreements with related parties

DNB Boligkreditt AS

DNB Boligkreditt (Boligkreditt) is 100 per cent owned by DNB Bank ASA. As part of ordinary business transactions, a large number of banking
transactions are entered into between Boligkreditt and the bank, including loans, deposits and financial derivatives used in currency and interest
rate risk management. Transactions are carried out on market terms and are regulated in the "Agreement relating to transfer of loan portfolio
between DNB Bank ASA and DNB Boligkreditt AS” (the transfer agreement) and the "Contract between DNB Bank ASA and DNB Boligkreditt
AS concerning purchase of management services” (the maagement agreement).

The transfer agreement regulates the transfer of loan portfolios qualifying as collateral for the issue of covered bonds. During 2017, portfolios of
NOK 12.0 billion (NOK 19.8 billion in 2016) were transferred from the bank to Boligkreditt.

Pursuant to the management agreement, Boligkreditt purchases services from the bank, including administration, bank production, distribution,
customer contact, IT operations and financial and liquidity management. Boligkreditt pays an annual management fee for these services based
on the lending volume under management and the achieved lending spreads. The management fee paid in 2017 totalled NOK 1.2 billion (NOK
2.3 billion in 2016).

At end-December 2017 the bank had invested NOK 12.1 billion (NOK 9.0 billion in 2016) in covered bonds issued by Boligkreditt.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, Boligkreditt entered into a “Revolving Credit Facility Agreement (RCF)” with DNB Bank ASA. Subject to the terms
of this RCF, DNB Bank makes available to Boligkreditt a revolving credit facility at all times equal to Boligkreditt's payment obligations in NOK
for the next 12 months in respect of issued Covered Bonds and related derivative hedge agreements. Boligkreditt shall apply all amounts
borrowed by it under the RCF towards payments under Covered Bonds and related derivative contracts entered into for hedging purposes for
those Covered Bonds.

Boligkreditt may not make use of the RCF for the fulfillment of payment obligations related to the ordinary (re-)purchase of Covered Bonds (if
any), or to derivative agreements related to such Covered Bonds. The obligations of DNB Bank towards Boligkreditt under the RCF do not
constitute a guarantee in respect of amounts due and payable under the Covered Bonds. The agreement was cancelled on Boligkreditt's
initiative in the second quarter of 2016.

In 2016 Boligkreditt entered into reverse repurchasing agreements (reverse repos) with the bank as counterparty. The value of the repos
amounted to NOK 26.0 billion at end-December 2017 (NOK 26.2 billion in 2016).

Boligkreditt has a long-term overdraft facility in DNB Bank ASA with a limit of NOK 190 billion.

DNB Neeringskreditt AS
DNB Neeringskreditt (Neeringskreditt) is 100 per cent owned by DNB Bank ASA. The mortgage institution was established to issue covered
bonds secured by a cover pool comprising commercial property.

The transfer agreement regulates the transfer of loan portfolios qualifying as collateral for issue of covered bonds. During 2017, portfolios of
NOK 1.9 billion (NOK 7.2 billion in 2016) were transferred from the bank to Neeringskreditt. All transactions are carried out on market terms.

Like Boligkreditt, Neeringskreditt purchases management and administrative services from the bank. In addition, administrative services relating
to the company's operations are purchased from Boligkreditt. The fee paid to the bank and Boligkreditt for 2017 amounting to NOK 88.1 million
and NOK 3.5 million respectively.

At end-December 2017, the bank had invested NOK 0.9 billion (NOK 0.9 billion in 2016) in covered bonds issued by Neeringskreditt.

In 2017 Neeringskreditt entered into reverse repurchasing agreements (revers repos) with the bank as counterparty. The value of the repos
amounted to NOK 108.3 million and end-December 2017 (NOK 111.6 million in 2016). The company has a long-term overdraft facility in DNB
Bank ASA with a limit of NOK 30 billion.

DNB Livsforsikring AS
As part of the company's ordinary investment activity, DNB Livsforsikring has subscribed for covered bonds issued by DNB Boligkreditt.
At year-end 2017, DNB Livsforsikring’s holding of listed DNB Boligkreditt bonds was valued at NOK 1.9 billion (NOK 1.9 billion in 2016).

In November 2016, a portfolio of home mortgages amounting to approximately NOK 5 billion was sold from DNB Boligkreditt AS to
DNB Livsforsikring AS.

In the fourth quarter of 2016, portfolios of commercial mortgages amounting to NOK 2.6 billion and NOK 4.5 billion respectively, were sold from
DNB Neeringkreditt and DNB Bank to DNB Livsforsikring.

Luminor Group AB

DNB and Nordea combined their operations in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania into the new company Luminor Group AB in the fourth quarter of
2017. DNB'’s ownership interest in Luminor Group AB is approximately 44 per cent. At end-December 2017 DNB Bank ASA'’s funding of
Luminor Group AB totalled NOK 21.0 billion.

Vipps AS

In the third quarter of 2017, Vipps AS was established as a separate company and DNB entered into an agreement with 105 other Norwegian
banks. DNB has an ownership interest in the new legal entity (Vipps AS) of close to 52 per cent. However, due to the terms and conditions in
the shareholder agreement, it has been decided to define Vipps AS as an associated company, and the company is consolidated according to
the equity method. DNB can vote for 49.9 per cent at the General Meeting, and has three of seven board members.
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Note 48 Off-balance sheet transactions and contingencies

Off-balance sheet transactions and additional information

DNB Bank ASA DNB Bank Group
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2017 Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
29 930 27 798 Performance guarantees 28 558 30 900
32 547 29 874 Payment guarantees 31852 34 472
17 979 17 525 Loan guarantees 17 525 17 898
6 535 6 254 Guarantees for taxes etc. 6 254 6 557
2213 2348 Other guarantee commitments 3153 2714
89 205 83799 Total guarantee commitments 87 342 92 541
Support agreements 10 735 6106
89 205 83 799 Total guarantee commitments etc. ” 98 077 98 647
479 792 488 943 Unutilised credit lines and loan offers 589 623 606 122
3861 4103 Documentary credit commitments 4170 3948
Other commitments 37
483 653 493 046 Total commitments 593 793 610 107
572 858 576 845 Total guarantee and off-balance commitments 691 871 708 754
9322 12778 Pledged securities
*)  Of which counter-guaranteed by financial institutions 295 326

DNB Bank ASA is a member and shareholder of the settlement system Continuous Linked Settlement (CLS). As a shareholder, DNB Bank ASA
has an obligation to contribute to cover any deficit in CLS Bank's central settlement account for member banks, even if the default is caused by
another member bank. Initially, such deficit will be sought covered by other member banks based on transactions the respective banks have
had with the member bank which has caused the deficit in CLS Bank. Should there remain an uncovered deficit in CLS Bank, this will be
covered pro rata by the member banks in CLS, according to Article 9 "Loss Allocations" of CLS Bank's International Rules. According to the
agreements between CLS and the member banks, the pro rata payment obligations related to such coverage of any remaining deficit are limited
to USD 30 million per member bank. At the end of 2017, DNB had not recorded any obligations in relation to CLS.

DNB Boligkreditt AS (Boligkreditt)
At end-December 2017, Boligkreditt had issued covered bonds with a nominal value of NOK 450 billion. In the event of bankruptcy, the bond-
holders have preferential rights to the company's cover pool.

Covered bonds DNB Boligkreditt
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Total listed covered bonds 379 635 355 932
Total private placements under the bond programme 70812 59 859
Adjustment
Accrued interest 3033 3581
Unrealised gains/losses 14 757 19 701
Total debt securities issued 468 236 439 072
Cover pool DNB Boligkreditt
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016
Pool of eligible loans 617 756 599 579
Market value of derivatives 52 878 38 527
Supplementary assets
Total collateralised assets 670 634 638 106
Debt securities issued, carrying value 468 236 439 072
Less valutation changes attributable to changes in credit risk on debt carried at fair value (465) (192)
Debt securities issued, valued according to regulation 467 771 438 880
Over-collateralisation (per cent) 143.4 145.4

1) The debt securities issued are bonds with preferred rights in the appurtenant cover pool. The composition and calculation of values in the cover pool are
defined in Sections 11-8 and 11-11 of the Financial Institutions Act with appurtenant regulations.

Contingencies
Due to its extensive operations in Norway and abroad, the DNB banking group will regularly be party to a number of legal actions. None of the
current disputes are expected to have any material impact on the banking group's financial position.

The DNB banking group is subject to a number of complaints and disputes relating to structured products and other investment products.
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Note 49 Transition to IFRS 9

In July 2014, the IASB issued the new standard for financial instruments IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which replaces the current IAS 39. The
new standard introduces a business model oriented approach for classification of financial assets, an expected loss model for impairment and a
new general hedge accounting model. IASB is still working on a new requirement related to macro hedge accounting. This work has been
established as a separate project and is expected to be finalised at a later point in time.

IFRS 9 is effective from 1 January 2018. The standard was endorsed by the EU in November 2016.

Subsequently IFRS 9 transition disclosures will be presented in the following order: Accounting principles, Transition disclosures for
Classification and Measurement as well as Impairment, Methodology used for expected credit loss measurement and lastly the impact on
regulatory capital.

References to line items refer to the financial statements under IFRS 9.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES IFRS 9

Classification and presentation

Financial assets are classified in one of the following measurement categories:
= amortised cost

= fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

= fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

The classification of financial assets depends on two factors:
= the business model of the portfolio to which the financial asset belongs
. the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

When determining the business model, the banking group assesses at portfolio level how the business is managed, sales activities, risk
management and how information is provided to executive management. The business model assessment has been performed for each busi-
ness area. The portfolios belonging to the customer areas are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the assets and collect the
contractual cash flows, while there are several different business models for the portfolios belonging to the product area Markets. For instance,
the business model for the liquidity portfolio in Markets is to both hold the assets to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the assets.
However, the portfolio is designated at fair value through profit or loss in order to reduce an accounting mismatch.

A contractual cash flow characteristics test is performed on initial recognition of financial assets. Financial assets with cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest pass the test if the interest only compensates for the time value of money, credit risk, liquidity risk, servicing
and administrative costs and a profit margin.

Financial liabilities are classified at amortised cost, except for financial liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value through profit or
loss or designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets may irrevocably be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if the following criterion is met:

= the classification eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistency that otherwise would arise from measuring
financial assets or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial liabilities may also irrevocably be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if the criterion above is fulfilled or
one of the following:

= the financial instruments are part of a portfolio that is managed and evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management or investment strategy

= the host contract contains one or more embedded derivatives.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Investments in debt instruments, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

= the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the asset and collect the contractual cash flows

= the contractual cash flows represent solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent measurement follows the
effective interest method, less impairment. Impairment losses and reversals are measured based on a three-stage expected credit loss model.
This model is described under Expected credit loss measurement.

A change in value based on an expected credit loss allowance for debt instruments measured at amortised cost on the balance sheet date is
presented under “Impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.

Interest income on financial instruments classified in this category is presented under “Interest income, amortised cost” using the effective
interest method.
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Note 49 Transition to IFRS 9 (continued)
This category mainly comprises loans to customers, cash and deposits, receivables, reverse repurchase agreements and bond investments.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value minus any directly attributable transaction costs. Interest
expenses on such instruments are presented under “Interest expense, amortised cost” using the effective interest method.

This category includes deposits from customers and credit institutions, repurchase agreements, issued commercial paper and bonds,
subordinated loan capital and perpetual subordinated loan capital securities.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Investments in debt instruments, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are met:

=  the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to both hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the
asset

= the contractual cash flows represent solely payment of principal and interest.

At initial recognition, debt instruments are recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent measurement is
fair value through other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated within a
separate component of equity. Impairment losses or reversals, interest income and foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income, is recycled over profit or
loss and recognised in “Net gains on financial instruments at fair value”. Impairment losses and reversals are measured based on a three-stage
expected credit loss model, which is described under Expected credit loss measurement.

This category comprises mortgage loans with variable interest rates in DNB Bank ASA. Since these loans are regularly sold to DNB Boligkreditt
AS, the business model is hold to collect and sell.

Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss

The following instruments are recognised in this category:

= derivatives

= equity instruments

=  financial instruments held for trading

= financial assets managed at fair value

= financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition

= debt instruments with contractual cash flows that do not represent solely payment of principal and interest.

Instruments in this category are initially recognised at fair value, with transaction costs recognised in profit or loss as they occur. Subsequent
measurement is fair value with gains and losses recognised in the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of the financial instruments are presented under “Net gains on financial instruments at fair value” in the income
statement. Financial derivatives are presented as an asset if the fair value is positive and as a liability if the fair value is negative.

Interest income and interest expenses from interest-bearing financial instruments including financial derivatives are presented under “Net
interest income”, except for interest income and interest expenses from financial instruments belonging to the trading portfolio.

The trading portfolio consists of instruments, which are acquired primarily for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This
includes financial derivatives and bond portfolios. Interest income and interest expense from financial instruments belonging to the trading
portfolio is presented as “Net gains on financial instruments at fair value”.

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition, mainly consist of bonds and fixed-rate mortgage loans in
Norwegian kroner. Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition mainly consist of fixed-rate securities
issued in Norwegian kroner.

For financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, the change in fair value related to changes in DNB Bank’s credit risk is
calculated using relevant credit spread curves from Nordic Bond Pricing. The changes in credit spreads on fixed-rate securities issued in
Norwegian kroner do not create or enlarge an accounting mismatch and are therefore separated and recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Issued financial guarantees
Contracts resulting in the banking group having to reimburse the holder for a loss incurred because a specific debtor fails to make payments
when due, are classified as issued financial guarantees.

On initial recognition, issued financial guarantees are recognised at the consideration received for the guarantee. Issued financial guarantees
are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount of loss allowance and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of any
revenue recognised in the income statement.
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When issuing financial guarantees, the consideration for the guarantee is presented under the line item “Provisions” in the balance sheet.
Income from issued financial guarantees and expenses from bought financial guarantees, are amortised over the duration of the instruments
and presented as “Commission and fee income” or “Commission and fee expense”.

Change in expected credit loss is recognised under the line item “Impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.

Loan commitments

An expected credit loss is calculated for loan commitments and presented under the line item “Provisions” in the balance sheet. Any change in
the expected credit loss allowance is recognised under the line item “Impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.

For instruments containing both a drawn and an undrawn component, the expected credit loss will be split pro rata between the loss allowance
and provisions based on the relative parts of the exposure.

Financial instruments with the characteristics of equity

Issued additional Tier 1 capital instruments are instruments where DNB has a unilateral right not to repay interest or the principal to the
investors. As a consequence of these terms, the instruments do not meet the requirements for a liability and are therefore presented on the line
“Additional Tier 1 Capital” within the banking group’s equity. Transaction expenses and accrued interest are presented as a reduction in “Other
equity”, while the advantage of the tax deduction for the interest will give an increase in “Other equity”.

Equity in foreign currency shall be converted to Norwegian kroner based on the exchange rate on the transaction date and is not subject to
subsequent revaluation.

Reclassifications
Debt instruments are only reclassified when there is a significant change in the business model for those assets. Such changes are expected to
be very infrequent. Financial liabilities are not reclassified.

Initial recognition

Financial assets are recognised in the balance sheet either on the trade date or the settlement date. Trade date accounting is applied for
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, while settlement date accounting is applied for financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

Financial liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet on the date when the banking group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Derecognition

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive and retain cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred, and also if
modifications lead to derecogntion. The banking group enters into certain transactions where it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet,
but retains either all or parts of the risks and rewards of the transferred asset. If all or substantially all of the risks and rewards are retained, the
transferred financial asset is not de-recognised from the balance sheet, but reclassified to separate assets or liabilities reflecting the rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Such transactions could entail the transfer of a loan portfolio where the banking group retains the
risks and returns associated with the transferred portfolio by guaranteeing for all risks in the portfolio or entering into a total return swap.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the contractual obligations have been discharged, cancelled or have expired.

Modifications

An assessment of whether or not a modification of a financial asset at amortised cost leads to de-recognition and recognition of new asset is
based on the following considerations:

] Differentiation between changes in the cash flows or other terms within the original contract and modifications of the contract

= An assessment of whether or not a modification is substantial. A substantial modification is defined as a full credit process, a pricing
decision and the signing of a new contract

=  An assessment of whether the modification is caused by distress or made on commercial terms.

Expected credit loss measurement (ECL)
The IFRS 9 expected credit loss model replaces the incurred loss model from IAS 39. The ECL model estimates impairment on the following
instruments that are not measured at fair value through profit and loss:

. financial assets that are debt instruments
. lease receivables

= financial guarantee contracts issued

] loan commitments.

A simplified model will be used for measuring expected credit loss on trade receivables.
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The banking group measures ECL at each reporting date for these instruments, reflecting
. an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes
= the time value of money

=  reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The banking group measures a loss allowance at an amount reflecting lifetime ECL for all instruments that have been subject to a significant
increase in credit risk. Instruments for which there has been no significant change in risk, a 12-month expected credit loss is recognised.

Hedge accounting
The banking group has chosen to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 on adoption of IFRS 9.
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Note 49
IMPLEMENTATION IMPACT

Transition to IFRS 9 (continued)

The application of the accounting policies under IFRS 9 has resulted in the reclassifications set out in the tables below upon transition to the

new standard.

In the table below, the original measurement categories in accordance with IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for DNB

Bank’s financial assets are shown as at 1 January 2018.

Financial assets as at 1 January 2018

DNB Bank ASA

Original New

carrying carrying

Original measurement New measurement amount amount

Amounts in NOK million category under IAS 39 category under IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
Cash and deposits with central banks FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 143 463 143 461
FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 3251 3251

Amortised cost Amortised cost 4434 4434

Due from credit institutions FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 348 588 348 564
FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 4863 4 856

Amortised cost Amortised cost 227 522 227 517

Loans to customers FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 55 839 55 837
FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 12 322 6 050

FVTPL (designated) 6 259

Amortised cost FVOCI 662 622 97 531

Amortised cost 564 847

Commercial paper and bonds FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 169 639 167 414
FVTPL (designated) 2224

FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (designated) 92 355 92 355

Held-to-maturity FVTPL (held for trading) 9613 9581

Shareholdings FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (mandatory) 5508 5508
FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (mandatory) 802 802

Financial derivatives FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 138 346 138 346
FVTPL (hedging derivatives) FVTPL (mandatory) 8 606 8 606

Other assets Amortised cost Amortised cost 22 092 22 092
Total 1909 865 1909 536

Financial liabilities as at 1 january 2018

DNB Bank ASA

Original New

carrying carrying

Original measurement New measurement amount amount

Amounts in NOK million category under IAS 39 category under IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
Due to credit institutions FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 285 817 285 822
FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 4657 4657

Amortised cost Amortised cost 42 324 42 324

Deposits from customers FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 41 692 39 827
FVTPL (designated) 1895

FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 14 090 192

FVTPL (designated) 13 897

Amortised cost Amortised cost 900 744 900 744

Financial derivatives FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 178 324 178 324
FVTPL (hedging derivatives) FVTPL (mandatory) 1210 1210

Debt securities issued FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 158 693 (12)
Amortised cost 158 701

FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (designated) 9751 9751

Amortised cost Amortised cost 157 727 157 727

Other liabilities FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 6214 6214
Amortised cost Amortised cost 44 889 44 889

Subordinated loan capital FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (designated) 2873 2873
Amortised cost Amortised cost 26 666 26 666

Total 1875 669 1875700
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Financial assets as at 1 January 2018

Transition to IFRS 9 (continued)

DNB Bank Group

Original New

carrying carrying

Original measurement New measurement amount amount

Amounts in NOK million category under IAS 39 category under IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
Cash and deposits with central banks FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 143 463 143 461
FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 3251 3251

Amortised cost Amortised cost 4881 4881

Due from credit institutions FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 199 288 199 277
Amortised cost Amortised cost 38 561 38 555

Loans to customers FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 55 839 55 837
FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 55 373 8764

FVTPL (designated) 46 596

Amortised cost Amortised cost 1420133 1419 820

Commercial paper and bonds FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 169 059 166 835
FVTPL (designated) 2224

FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (designated) 87 970 80 805

Amortised cost 7 156

Held-to-maturity FVTPL (held for trading) 9613 9581

Shareholdings FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 6 304 5508
FVTPL (mandatory) 795

FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (mandatory) 999 999

Financial derivatives FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 106 318 106 318
FVTPL (hedging derivatives) FVTPL (mandatory) 26 331 26 331

Other assets Amortised cost Amortised cost 7888 7888
Total 2335271 2334 884

Financial liabilities as at 1 January 2018

DNB Bank Group

Original New

carrying carrying

Original measurement New measurement amount amount

Amounts in NOK million category under IAS 39 category under IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
Due to credit institutions FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 182 335 182 316
FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 4 657 4 657

Amortised cost Amortised cost 35 508 35 508

Deposits from customers FVTPL (held for trading) Amortised cost 41 692 39 827
FVTPL (designated) 1895

FVTPL (designated) Amortised cost 14 090 192

FVTPL (designated) 13897

Amortised cost Amortised cost 924 593 924 593

Financial derivatives FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 108 755 108 755
FVTPL (hedging derivatives) FVTPL (mandatory) 3265 3265

Debt securities issued FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 158 693 (12)
Amortised cost 158 701

FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (designated) 83 703 83 703

Amortised cost Amortised cost 539 731 539 731

Other liabilities FVTPL (held for trading) FVTPL (held for trading) 6214 6214
Amortised cost Amortised cost 13 091 13 091

Subordinated loan capital FVTPL (designated) FVTPL (designated) 2873 2873
Amortised cost Amortised cost 26 666 26 666

Total 2145 864 2145871

Based on the business model assessment, certain portfolios in Markets have been reclassified from fair value through profit and loss to
amortised cost. This includes portfolios presented as cash and deposits with central banks and reverse repurchase agreements presented as
due from credit institutions and loans to customers. The assessment of the business model under IFRS 9 has been made in connection with the
assessment of the new regulations following the Fundamental Review of the Trading Book (FRTB) introduced by the Basel Committee. Under
IAS 39, the instruments, which are of a very short-term nature, have been presented as held for trading and measured at fair value. Based on
the analysis made of the instruments in the banking book, the business model will be hold to collect going forward as the instruments typically
are held to collect cash flows at maturity and not managed on a fair value basis.
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Furthermore, as a result of the business model assessment of the bond portfolios in Markets some reclassifications have been made. Part of the
liquidity portfolio classified as held for trading under IAS 39 has been reclassified as designated at fair value through profit and loss, since fair
value measurement significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. The bond portfolio classified as held-to-maturity under IAS 39 has been
reclassified to fair value through profit or loss due to a held for trading business model.

A portfolio of margin loans that was designated at fair value using the fair value option under IAS 39, has been reclassified to amortised cost
under IFRS 9 since fair value measurement does not significantly reduce an accounting mismatch.

Shareholdings are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss under IFRS 9.

As a consequence of the reclassifications of financial assets, certain financial liabilities have also been reclassified in order to prevent
accounting inconsistencies. The reclassified financial liabilities include cash, deposits and repurchase agreements presented as due to credit
institutions and deposits from customers. Furthermore, a portfolio of commercial paper liabilities in Markets has been reclassified from fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to amortised cost based on an assessment of the sales activities in the portfolio.

In the table below, the measurement categories in accordance with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 for DNB Bank’s financial liabilities are shown as at
1 January 2018.

In the table below, reconciliation of carrying amounts under IAS 39 to carrying amounts under IFRS 9 upon transition is shown.

Financial assets DNB Bank ASA
IAS 39 carrying IFRS 9 carrying

amount amount

Amounts in NOK million 31 Dec. 2017  Reclassification Remeasurement 1 Jan. 2018

Amortised cost
Cash and deposits with central banks, opening balance 4434
From FVTPL 146 712

Closing balance 151 146

Due from credit institutions, opening balance 227 522 (5)
From FVTPL 353 419

Closing balance 580 936

Loans to customers, opening balance 662 622 (241)
To FVOCI (97 531)
From FVTPL 61 887 (2)

Closing balance 626 733

Commercial paper and bonds, held-to-maturity, opening balance 9613
To commercial paper and bonds, FVTPL (9 613)

Closing balance 0

Other assets 22 092 22 092

Total amortised cost 926 282 454 873 (248) 1380 907

Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
Cash and deposits with central banks, opening balance 146 714
To amortised cost (146 712) 2)

Closing balance 0

Due from credit institutions, opening balance 353 451
To amortised cost (353 419) (32)

Closing balance 0

Loans to customers, opening balance 68 161
To amortised cost (61 887) (15)

Closing balance 6 259

Commercial paper and bonds, opening balance 261 994
From Commercial paper and bonds, held-to-maturity 9613 (32)

Closing balance 271 575

Shareholdings 6 310 6 310
Financial derivatives 146 953 146 953

Total FVTPL 983 583 (552 405) (81) 431 097

FVOCI
Loans to customers, opening balance
From amortised cost 97 531

Closing balance 97 531

Total FVOCI 97 531 0 97 531
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Financial liabilities

IAS 39 carrying

DNB Bank ASA
IFRS 9 carrying

amount amount
Amounts in NOK million 31 Dec. 2017  Reclassification Remeasurement 1 Jan. 2018
Amortised cost
Due to credit institutions, opening balance 42 324
From FVTPL 290 480
Closing balance 332 803
Deposits from customers, opening balance 900 744
From FVTPL 40 019
Closing balance 940 763
Debt securities issued, opening balance 157 727
From FVTPL 158 701
Closing balance 316 428
Other liabilities 44 889 44 889
Subordinated loan capital 26 666 26 666
Total amortised cost 1172 349 489 200 1661 549
Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
Due to credit institutions, opening balance 290 474
To amortised cost (290 480) 5
Closing balance (0)
Deposits from customers, opening balance 55 782
To amortised cost (40 019) 30
Closing balance 15 792
Debt securities issued, opening balance 168 444
To amortised cost (158 701) (4)
Closing balance 9739
Other liabilities 6214 6214
Subordinated loan capital 2873 2873
Financial derivatives 179 534 179 534
Total FVTPL 703 320 (489 200) 31 214 151
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Financial assets DNB Bank Group
IAS 39 carrying IFRS 9 carrying

amount amount

Amounts in NOK million 31 Dec. 2017 Reclassification Remeasurement 1 Jan. 2018

Amortised cost
Cash and deposits with central banks, opening balance 4881
From FVTPL 146 712

Closing balance 151 593

Due from credit institutions, opening balance 38 561 (6)
From FVTPL 199 277

Closing balance 237 832

Loans to customers, opening balance 1420 133 (311)
From FVTPL 64 601 2

Closing balance 1484 421

Commercial paper and bonds, opening balance 0
From FVTPL 7156 (0)

Closing balance 7156

Commercial paper and bonds, held-to-maturity, opening balance 9613
To Commercial paper and bonds, FVTPL (9 613)

Closing balance 0

Other assets 7888 7888

Total amortised cost 1481076 408 134 (320) 1888 889

Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
Cash and deposits with central banks, opening balance 146 714
To amortised cost (146 712) 2)

Closing balance 0

Due from credit institutions, opening balance 199 288
To amortised cost (199 277) (10)

Closing balance 0

Loans to customers, opening balance 111 212
To amortised cost (64 601)

Closing balance 46 596

Commercial paper and bonds, opening balance 257 029
To amortised cost (7 156) 8)
From Commercial paper and bonds, held-to-maturity 9613 (32)

Closing balance 259 446

Shareholdings 7 303 7 303
Financial derivatives 132 649 132 649

Total FVTPL 854 195 (408 134) (67) 445 994
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Financial liabilities

IAS 39 carrying

DNB Bank Group
IFRS 9 carrying

amount amount
Amounts in NOK million 31 Dec. 2017  Reclassification Remeasurement 1 Jan. 2018
Amortised cost
Due to credit institutions, opening balance 35508
From FVTPL 186 974
Closing balance 222 482
Deposits from customers, opening balance 924 593
From FVTPL 40 019
Closing balance 964 612
Debt securities issued, opening balance 539 731
From FVTPL 158 701
Closing balance 698 432
Other liabilities 13 091 13 091
Subordinated loan capital 26 666 26 666
Total amortised cost 1539 588 385 694 1925 282
Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
Due to credit institutions, opening balance 186 993
To amortised cost (186 974) (19)
Closing balance (0)
Deposits from customers, opening balance 55 782
To amortised cost (40 019) 30
Closing balance 15 792
Debt securities issued, opening balance 242 396
To amortised cost (158 701) (4)
Closing balance 83 691
Other liabilities 6214 6214
Subordinated loan capital 2873 2873
Financial derivatives 112 020 112 020
Total FVTPL 606 276 (385 694) 7 220 589
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In the table below, the classification of financial instruments under IFRS 9 is shown.

As at 1 January 2018 Mandatorily at FVTPL DNB Bank ASA

Designated Carrying

as at Amortised amount

Amounts in NOK million Trading Other ¥ FVTPL ? FVOCI cost ¥ IFRS 9
Cash and deposits with central banks 151 146 151 146
Due from credit institutions 580 936 580 936
Loans to customers 6 259 97 531 626 733 730 524
Commercial paper and bonds 176 996 94 579 271 575
Shareholdings 5508 802 6 310
Financial derivatives 138 346 8 606 146 953
Other assets 22 092 22 092
Total financial assets 320851 9408 100 838 97 531 1380907 1909 536
Due to credit institutions 332803 332803
Deposits from customers 15 792 940 763 956 555
Financial derivatives 178 324 1210 179 534
Debt securities issued (12) 9751 316 428 326 167
Other liabilities 6214 44 889 51103
Subordinated loan capital 2873 26 666 29 538
Total financial liabilities 184 525 1210 28 416 1661 549 1875 700

As at 1 January 2018

Mandatorily at FVTPL

DNB Bank Group

Designated Carrying
As at 1 January 2018 as at Amortised amount
Amounts in NOK million Trading Other ¥ FVTPL ? cost ¥ IFRS 9
Cash and deposits with central banks 151 593 151 593
Due from credit institutions 237 832 237 832
Loans to customers 46 596 1484 421 1531017
Commercial paper and bonds 176 416 83 030 7 156 266 602
Shareholdings 5508 1794 7 303
Financial derivatives 106 318 26 331 132 649
Other assets 7 888 7 888
Total financial assets 288 243 28 125 129 626 1888 889 2334 884
Due to credit institutions 222 482 222 482
Deposits from customers 15792 964 612 980 404
Financial derivatives 108 755 3265 112 020
Debt securities issued (12) 83 703 698 432 782123
Other liabilities 6214 13 091 19 304
Subordinated loan capital 2873 26 666 29 538
Total financial liabilities 114 956 3265 102 368 1925 282 2145871

1) Including derivatives used as hedging instruments.

2) For liabilities designated as at FVTPL, changes in fair value due to credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3) Including hedged liabilities.

DNB Bank’s long-term borrowings in Norwegian kroner are designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option.

presentation of changes in credit risk in other comprehensive income neither creates nor enlarges an accounting mismatch.

The
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Transition to IFRS 9 (continued)

In the table below financial assets and financial liabilities that are no longer designated at fair value are shown.

DNB Bank ASA
IAS 39 carrying

Classification Classification Reason for amount
Amounts in NOK million under IAS 39 under IFRS 9 reclassification 31 Dec. 2017
Cash and deposits with central banks Fair value option Amortised cost Required by IFRS 9 3251
Due from credit institutions Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 4 863
Loans to customers Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 6 063
Shareholdings Fair value option FVTPL Required by IFRS 9 802
Total financial assets 14 979
Due to credit institutions Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 4657
Deposits from customers Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 192
Total financial liabilities 4850

DNB Bank Group
IAS 39 carrying

Classification Classification Reason for amount
Amounts in NOK million under IAS 39 under IFRS 9 reclassification 31 Dec. 2017
Cash and deposits with central banks Fair value option Amortised cost Required by IFRS 9 3251
Loans to customers Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 8777
Commercial paper and bonds Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 7 165
Shareholdings Fair value option FVTPL Required by IFRS 9 999
Total financial assets 20191
Due to credit institutions Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 4 657
Deposits from customers Fair value option Amortised cost Elected to reclassify 192
Total financial liabilities 4 850

Accumulated impairments

In the tables below, the effect of reclassification and remeasurment of accumulated impairment following the implementation of IFRS 9 is

presented.

Balance as at 31 December 2017

DNB Bank ASA

Balance as at 1 January 2018

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
IAS 39 and Reclassi- Remeasure- 12-month not credit credit
Amounts in NOK million IAS 37 fication ment IFRS 9 ECL impaired impaired
Accumulated impairment due from
credit institutions 5) (5)
Accumulated impairment loans to customers (8 653) ) (241) (8 896) (196) (2 138) (6 562)
Accumulated impairment loan commitments
and guarantees (911) (898) (1 .809) (137) (1 164) (508)
Total accumulated impairments (9 654) 2) (1144) (10 710) (338) (3302) (7 070)

Balance as at 31 December 2017

DNB Bank Group

Balance as at 1 January 2018

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

IAS 39 and Reclassi- Remeasure- 12-month not credit credit

Amounts in NOK million IAS 37 fication ment IFRS 9 ECL impaired impaired
Accumulated impairment due from

credit institutions (6) (6) (6)
Accumulated impairment loans to customers (11 870) 11 (312) (12 171) (381) (3 081) (8 709)
Accumulated impairment loan commitments

and guarantees (919) (1.891) (2 810) (171) (2 128) (511)
Total accumulated impairments (12 789) 11 (2 209) (14 987) (558) (5 209) (9 221)
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Note 49 Transition to IFRS 9 (continued)
Accumulated impairments customer segments
In the table below, the effect on each business segment of reclassification and remeasurment of the total accumulated impairment following the

implementation of IFRS 9 is presented.

DNB Bank Group

Balance as at 31 December 2017 Balance as at 1 January 2018
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
Reclassi- Remeasure- 12-month not credit credit
Amounts in NOK million IAS 39 fication ment IFRS 9 ECL impaired impaired
Personal customers (718) (227) (945) (115) (269) (561)
Small and medium-sized enterprises (2 602) 2 260 (2 344) (32) (115) (2197)
Large corporates and international customers (9 009) 13 (2 702) (11 698) (410) (4 826) (6 462)
Traditional pension products
Other operations/eliminations (460) 460
Total accumulated impairments,
customer segments (12 789) 11 (2 209) (14 987) (558) (5 209) (9 221)

1) Provisions on guarantees, which are not part of loans that are individually impaired, where not allocated to segments as at 31 December 2017 but have been
allocated as at 1 January 2018.

Expected credit loss (ECL)

DNB applies a three-stage approach when assessing ECL on loans to customers, loan commitments, financial guarantees and other financial
instruments subject to the IFRS 9 impairment rules:

=  Afinancial instrument that is not purchased or originated credit impaired is classified as stage 1 with 12-month ECL.

. If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified the financial instrument is moved to stage 2 with lifetime ECL
measurement.

=  Anincrease in credit risk reflects both customer-specific circumstances and developments in relevant macro risk drivers for the segment
where the customer belongs. The assessment of what is considered to be a significant increase in credit risk is based on a combination of
quantitative and qualitative indicators and backstops.

. If credit risk deteriorates further and the financial instrument is assessed to be credit impaired, the financial instrument is moved to stage 3
with lifetime ECL measurement. As opposed to stage 1 and 2, the effective interest rate is calculated on amortised cost instead of the
gross carrying amount.

The loan loss measurement is based on the following principles:

. 12-month ECL is measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from possible default events within the next 12
months.

. The loss provision for financial assets in stage 1 and stage 2 is calculated as the present value of exposure at default (EAD) multiplied by
the probability of default (PD) multiplied by loss given default (LGD). PD, LGD and EAD use the IRB framework as a starting point, but are
converted into being point in time and forward-looking as opposed to through the cycle and conservative.

. Past, present and forward-looking information is used to estimate ECL. For this purpose, DNB’s loan portfolio is split into 22 segments
based on geography and industry. All customers within a segment are exposed to the same risk drivers.

. For stage 3 individual assessments are performed for credit impaired financial instruments.

For stage 1 and 2, a model is used to calculate ECL. The model follows five steps: Segmentation, determination of macro scenarios,
determination of credit cycle index, calculation of ECL and staging.

In the following each step will be described in more detail.

Segmentation, macro scenarios and credit cycle index

The assessment of significant increase in credit risk and the calculation of ECL incorporate past, present and forward-looking information. In
order to reflect the effect of macro drivers in a reasonable and supportable manner DNB'’s portfolio has been divided into 22 segments with
shared credit risk characteristics. The segmentation is based on industry and geographical location, but about half of the industry segments are
exposed to global markets and will primarily be influenced by global risk drivers.

Based on a statistical regression analysis key risk drivers impacting PD, LGD and EAD are identified for the different segments. Relevant macro
drivers and their impact on ECL will vary by financial instrument. Forecasts of each of the relevant risk drivers (the base economic scenario) are
primarily provided by DNB Markets on a quarterly basis and provide the best estimate of developments in the risk drivers for the forecast period.
DNB Markets bases its forecast on a range of information sources, primarily external market information, but also internal sources. The forecast
period varies between three and four years.

DNB BANK — ANNUAL REPORT 2017 / 113



Note 49 Transition to IFRS 9 (continued)

The macro forecasts are incorporated in the credit cycle index (CCl). The CCI shows the relationship between the historically observed defaults
and relevant macro factors established from statistical regression analysis. The position on the index indicates whether the current state of the
economy for a given segment is better or worse than normal, and the forecasts are used to project the development of the index in the forecast
period. After the forecast period, the CCl is assumed to be mean reverting. This means that the credit cycle for each segment returns to the
long-term mean or a normal state.

The CCl is further used to generate a base line PD curve for each instrument that follows the development of the CCI. If the CCl moves towards
better times, the PD will everything else equal be reduced and vice versa.

Multiple scenarios

IFRS 9 requires the use of multiple scenarios in determining a significant increase in credit risk and measuring ECL in order to capture the non-
linear relationship between negative credit risk development and ECL. For DNB this has been solved using the base scenario for each risk
driver as a starting point and deriving CCl and PD curves as described above. Alternative scenarios are translated into alternative paths of a
probability fan around the baseline. This method means that each scenario represents one percentile on a probability fan with each percentile
representing a possible development in credit risk depending on the macroeconomic development.

The width of the fan is determined by the past volatility in the correlation between developments in the risk drivers and developments in credit
risk and ECL. This results in a correlation where the higher the volatility in a segment resulting form changes in the risk drivers, the larger the
gap between the baseline and the outer percentiles of the fan.

Calculation of expected credit loss

The determination of a significant increase in credit risk and the measurement of ECL is based on parameters already used in credit risk
management and for capital adequacy calculations: PD, LGD and EAD. The parameters have been adjusted in order to give an unbiased
estimate of ECL.

Probability of default (PD)

DNB applies a range of different models to determine a customer’s PD. The choice of model depends on whether it is a personal or corporate
customer and on which industry the customer operates in. PD models are a key component both in calculating the ECL and in assessing
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition. Therefore, there is a need to generate a PD which is forward-
looking and reflects all available relevant data. This is necessary in order to fulfil the IFRS 9 requirement to provide an unbiased probability-
weighted estimate of ECL. DNB has been granted permission to use internal ratings based approach, IRBA, models for determining PD in
capital adequacy calculations. These models are conservative and only reflect a limited degree of cyclicality. In order to apply these PDs for
IFRS 9, four modifications have been made:

= incorporation of macroeconomic scenarios
= conversion to an unbiased, forward-looking PD
. conversion of 12 month PD to lifetime PD

. removal of margin of conservatism in the PD estimate

These madifications imply that the PD used for IFRS 9 reflects management’s current view of expected cyclical changes and that all PD
estimates are unbiased.

Based on the converted PDs and reflecting the forward looking credit cycle index two types of PDs are generated and used in the ECL
calculation:

= A 12-month PD is the probability of default occurring within the next 12 months (or over the remaining life of the financial instrument if that
is less than 12 months). This is used to calculate the 12-month ECL.

= Alifetime PD is the annualised probability of a default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. This is used to evaluate
if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and to calculate lifetime ECL.

Please refer to note 5 Credit risk for a description of the DNB's risk classification.

Loss given default (LGD)
LGD represents the percentage of EAD which the Banking group expects to lose if the customer fails to meet his obligations, taking the
collateral provided by the customer, future cash flows and other relevant factors into consideration.

Similar to PDs, DNB uses IRBA LGDs for capital adequacy calculations. In order to convert the IRB LGDs to IFRS LGDs four modifications have
been made:
= incorporation of macroeconomic scenarios
. use of the effective interest rate to discount future estimated cash flows
. removal of the margin of conservatism to produce unbiased projections rather than downturn projections, and to exclude regulatory
floors
= removal of the estimated indirect costs of realising collateral.

These modifications imply that the LGDs used for IFRS 9 should reflect management’s current view of the cyclical changes and that all LGD
estimates are unbiased.
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Exposure at default (EAD)

EAD is the share of the approved credit that is expected to be drawn at the time of any future default. The EAD is adjusted to reflect contractual
payments of principal and interest and estimated early repayment. The proportion of undrawn commitments expected to have been drawn at the
time of default is reflected in the credit conversion factor.

Significant increase in credit risk
The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is based on a combination of quantitative and qualitative indicators and back stops. A
significant increase in credit risk has occurred when one or more of the criteria below are met.

Quantitative criteria

A significant increase in credit risk is determined by comparing the remaining lifetime PD for an instrument at the reporting date, as expected at
initial recognition, with the actual lifetime PD at the reporting date. If the actual lifetime PD is higher than what it was expected to be, an
assessment is made of whether the increase is significant.

An increase in lifetime PD with a factor of 2.5 or more from initial recognition is assessed to be a significant increase in credit risk. This threshold
is based on an assessment of the increase in credit risk that would lead to closer customer follow-up in order to ensure that proper credit risk
management and business decisions are made.

Further, the change in PD must be a minimum of 0.6 percentage points for the deterioration in credit risk to be considered to be significant. In
the high end of the risk scale a change of 7.5 percentage points or more is considered to be a significant deterioration in credit risk even if this is
less than a change of 2.5 times lifetime PD. These limits reflect the high sensitivity to change in the low end of the risk scale and the low
sensitivity to change in the high end of the scale.

DNB applies a risk scale where all customers and instruments are rated on a coherent scale meaning that a risk grade has the same
explanatory power independent of segment, geography and product. DNB therefore uses a common threshold for all financial instruments with
respect to what constitute a significant increase in credit risk. For more on DNBs risk scale and classification see note 5.

Qualitative criteria
Qualitative information is normally reflected in the respective PD models for each group of customers.

Back stop
Back stops are used and a significant increase in credit risk has occurred if:

= the customer’s contractual payments are 30 days past due

= the customer has been granted forbearance measures due to financial distress, though it not severe enough for the financial instrument to
be classified as credit impaired.

Definition of default and credit impaired in stage 3
The definition of credit impaired is fully aligned with the regulatory definition of default.

A commitment is defined to be in default if a claim is more than 90 days overdue, the overdue amount exceeds NOK 2 000 and the default is not
due to delays or accidental circumstances on the part of the debtor.

A commitment is also defined to be in default if the bank:
. significantly writes down the commitment as a result of a weakening of the debtor's creditworthiness

. agrees to changes in the terms and conditions because the debtor is having problems meeting payment obligations, and this is assumed to
significantly reduce the value of the cash flow

. sells the debt for an amount that is significantly lower than the nominal value as a result of an impairment of the debtor's creditworthiness

= has grounds for assuming that the debtor will be subject to debt settlement or bankruptcy/involuntary liquidation proceedings, or be placed
in receivership

= has other grounds for assuming that the payment obligation will not be met (anticipated default).

A commitment is defined to represent anticipated default if it is considered likely that the customer, based on its regular business activities, does
not have debt payment ability for its total obligations (unlikeliness to pay).

The principles and estimation techniques for credit impaired financial instruments are not affected by IFRS 9. Please refer to the description of
individual impairment in the accounting principles of financial instruments and important accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions for
more detail.
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Expert credit judgement

The new rules require, to a larger extent than before, that significant professional judgment is applied to many of the input parameters in the
ECL-measurement. The assessment of the macro prognoses and the impact to the forecasted credit cycle index is key judgments and DNB has
established an advisory forum for the Group’s Chief Financial Officer to address this. The forum’s purpose is to assess if the predicted Credit
Cycle Index for each segment reflect the management’s view on the expected future economic development.

IFRS 9 impact on regulatory capital

The implementation effect of IFRS 9 is NOK 2 billion after tax and is recognised as a reduction in “Other equity”. This includes the impact of
investments accounted for by the equity method. IFRS 9 will affect the capital adequacy ratios through a reduction in equity which to a large
extent will be neutralised by cancelling a deduction related to the level of impairment losses. Therefore, the CET1 capital is only marginally
changed. However, risk-weighted assets will increase due to the Norwegian Basel 1 floor, which is effective for the DNB Bank Group. The
deduction referred to above has reduced, and the cancellation will thus increase risk-weighted assets. The total effects of IFRS 9 reduce the
common equity Tier 1 capital ratio by 28 basis points.

For DNB Bank ASA, the implementation effect is NOK 1 billion after tax, which is recognised as a reduction in “Other equity”. The CET1 capital
is almost unchanged due to the cancellation of the deduction related to impairment losses. As DNB Bank ASA is not affected by the Basel 1

floor requirement, IFRS 9 has no impact on the common equity Tier 1 capital ratio.

DNB does not intend to use the transitional rules introduced by Finanstilsynet for capital adequacy purposes.
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Statement pursuant to Section 5-5 of the Securities Trading Act

We hereby confirm that the annual accounts for the banking group and the company for 2017 to the best of our knowledge have been prepared
in accordance with applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of

the banking group and the company taken as a whole.

The directors' report gives a true and fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the banking group and

the company, as well as a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the banking group.

rnee Glvon (o

Anne Carine Tanum

(chairman)

g

Lillian Hattrem

Rune Bjerke

(group chief executive)

Oslo, 7 March 2018
The Board of Directors of DNB Bank ASA

fy

(vice-chairman)

/%” e

Rt len

Kjerstin R. Braathen
(chief financial officer)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of DNB Bank ASA

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of DNB Bank ASA comprising the financial statements of the
parent company and the Group. The financial statements of the parent company comprise the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2017, the income statement, statements of comprehensive income, cash flows
and changes in equity for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies. The consolidated financial statements comprise the balance sheet as at
31 December 2017, the income statement, statements of comprehensive income, cash flows and
changes in equity for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion,

» the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations,

» the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the parent
company as at 31 December 2017, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway

» the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the EU.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Norway, and we have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities as required by law and regulations. We have also complied with our
other ethical obligations in accordance with these requirements, We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements for 2017. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements,
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Impairment of loans

Loans to customers represent NOK 1 531 345 million (65 % per cent) of total assets for the Group.
Corresponding figures for the parent company are NOK 730 782 million (36 % per cent) of total assets for
the parent company. Impairment of loans are calculated individually, for individually significant loans
where objective evidence of impairment is identified, or collectively for groups of loans which are not
assessed individually, and for which objective evidence of impairment is identified on a portfolio basis.
The identification and calculation of impairment are processes involving judgement about various
assumptions and factors including the financial condition of the counter party, expected future cash flows,
observable market prices and expected net selling prices. The use of different modelling techniques and
assumptions could produce significantly different estimates of impairment of loans. The oilfield services,
offshore and oil & gas sectors are still subject to uncertainty due to the effects of a reduced oil price and a
general downturn in related markets over the past years. Since the related impairments of loans are
material, and subject to estimation uncertainty, we have assessed impairment of loans as a key audit
matter.

We have assessed the design and tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls over individual
and collective impairments of loans. For individually significant loans our procedures included assessing
the identification of loss events and testing of assumptions used in the models, including the forecasted
future cash flows and the estimated value of underlying collaterals. We also tested the mathematical
accuracy of the models. For impairment of loans calculated on a collective basis, we evaluated the key
input variables and assumptions to the madels, and where relevant, compared data and assumptions to
external benchmarks. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the models.

Seenote 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 in the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Valuation of Financial Instruments

Unlisted or illiquid financial instruments measured at fair value are valued based on models that use
assumptions that are not observable in the market place. The valuation of these instruments therefore
have a higher risk of errors. Such instruments comprise assets of NOK 58 391 million and liabilities of
NOK 1 749 million measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet and classified as level 3
instruments within the fair value hierarchy. Corresponding figures for the parent company are assets of
NOK 15 246 million and liabilities of NOK 1 749 million. Due to the materiality of the unlisted or illiquid
instruments, and the increased risk of errors, we considered the valuation of these instruments a key
audit matter.

We assessed the design and tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls over the valuation
process including management's determination and approval of assumptions and methodologies used in
model-based calculations as well as management's review of valuations provided by internal experts. We
also assessed pricing model methodologies against industry practice and valuation guidelines. We
performed independent valuations for selected instruments and used external source data where
available. We compared results of our valuations to the Group's valuations.

Level 3 instruments which are presented at fair value on the balance sheet are disclosed in note 28 in the
consolidated financial statements.

Hedge accounting - Interest rate risk on long-term debt securities issued

Derivative instruments are used to manage exposure to interest rate risk related to long-term debt
securities issued in foreign currencies. Derivatives and borrowings designated at initial recognition as
hedging relationships, are accounted for as fair value hedges. The effectiveness of the hedging
relationships are assessed at the beginning and end of the relevant period. The application of hedge
accounting and ensuring hedge effectiveness can be judgmental and requires close monitoring from

Independent auditor's report - DNB Bank ASA
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management. Due to the materiality of the hedging relationships, we considered hedge accounting of
interest rate risk on long-term debt securities issued a key audit matter.

We assessed the design and tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls over the designation
and ongoing management of hedge accounting relationships, including testing of hedge effectiveness.
We examined hedge documentation to assess whether the documentation complied with the
requirements of the accounting standards. We tested reconciliations between underlying source systems
and documents used to manage and document hedging relationships, including testing the mathematical
accuracy and calculation of hedge effectiveness.

See note 20 in the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Other information

Other information consists of the information included in the Company's annual report other than the
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Board of Directors and Group Chief Executive
Officer (management) are responsible for the other information Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information,
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway for the financial statements of the parent company and International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU for the financial statements of the Group, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with law, regulations and generally accepted auditing principles in
Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Independent auditor's report - DNB Bank ASA
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» identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control,

» obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control

» evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

» conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report, However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

» evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation,

» obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report and on the statements on corporate
governance and corporate social responsibility

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information
presented in the Board of Directors' report and in the statements on corporate governance and corporate
social responsibility concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and proposal for
the allocation of the result is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and
regulations.

Independent auditor's report - DNB Bank ASA
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Opinion on registration and documentation

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information», itis
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to ensure that the Company's accounting information is
properly recorded and documented as required by law and bookkeeping standards and practices
accepted in Norway.

Oslo, 7 March 2018
ERNST & YOUNG AS

e

Anders Ggbel
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
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Governing bodies in DNB Bank ASA

As at 31 December 2017

Board of Directors

Group management

Group audit

Members

Anne Carine Tanum, Rgmskog (chairman)
Gro Bakstad, Oslo (vice-chairman)

Lillian Hattrem, Ski ¥

Kim Wahl, Beerum

Deputy for the employee
representatives
Tore Muller Andresen, Bergen

Observer
Eli Solhaug, Oslo ¥

Election Committee

Eldbjgrg Lewer, Kongsberg (chairman)
Camilla Grieg, Bergen

Karl Moursund, Oslo

Mette Wikborg, Oslo

1) Notindependent.

Group chief executive
Rune Bjerke

CFO
Kjerstin Braathen

Acting group executive vice president
Personal Banking

Hans Olav Rgnningen ?

Group executive vice president
Corporate Banking
Benedicte Schilbred Fasmer

Group executive vice president
Large Corporates and International

Harald Serck-Hanssen

Group executive vice president
Wealth Management & Insurance
Trond Bentestuen

Group executive vice president
Markets

Ottar Ertzeid

Acting group executive vice president
New Business

Rasmus Figenschou

Group executive vice president
People & Operations

Solveig Hellebust

Chief risk officer and

Acting group executive vice president
Compliance®

Ida Lerner

{\Tcting group executive vice president
Alf Otterstad

Group executive vice president

Media and Marketing
Thomas Midteide

Tor Steenfeldt-Foss

External auditor

Ernst & Young AS

2) Ingjerd Blekeli Spiten assumed the position as group executive vice president, Personal Banking on 9 January 2018.

3) Mirella Wassiluk will assume the position as group executive vice president, Compliance on 2 April 2018.

DNB BANK — ANNUAL REPORT 2017 / 123






Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements

This annual report contains statements regarding the future prospects, including estimates, strategies and objectives. The risks
and uncertainties inherent in all forward-looking statements can lead to actual developments and profits differing materially from

what has been expressed or implied.

The annual report 2017 has been produced by Group Financial Reporting in DNB.
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